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Company Profile
NCINE]

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries collectively the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757, Taiwan
stock code: 9157.TT) is a leading manufacturer of monocrystalline silicon
solar ingots and wafers in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
Its products are used for the manufacture of photovoltaic cells which are
important components of solar energy generation systems.

During the year, the Group was engaged in three main businesses:

(@ the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing services
for polysilicon and monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar
ingots/wafers;

(b)  the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar cells;
and

(c) the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules and
installation of photovoltaic systems.

Currently, our integrated business model includes monocrystalline silicon
solar ingot production with annual capacity of approximately 1.2GW,
monocrystalline silicon solar wafer production with annual capacity
of approximately 900MW, as well as photovoltaic cells and modules
productions with annual capacity of approximately 300MW and 150MW,
respectively. In addition, the Group operates polysilicon reclaiming and
upgrading facilities in Shanghai and Jinzhou.

In addition, the Group also extended its business gradually to downstream
system installation businesses and became a one-stop service supplier of
solar power projects, and to realise full vertical integration in photovoltaic
industry.
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Financial Highlights
B E

(For the year ended 31 December)

(BE+ZA=1+—HLFE)

Five-Year Financial Summary EEHEHEE

RMB’000 AR¥EF T
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—Z2TLFE ZZTNFE —ZTHhE —E-TF T —F
Turnover =E 20 1,015,538 1,492,935 658,720 1,854,769 2,779,223
Gross profit/(loss) ER,(£18) 323,126 225,510 (5,780) 413,243 253,848
Profit/(loss) from operations & FI5E,/ (F518) 344,673 120,660 (98,824) 300,897 106,137
Profit/(loss) attributable to R IR RIEG
equity shareholders AE,(E1E) 292,241 83,379 (98,098) 214,121 54,291
Basic earnings/(loss) BREARF,(EHE)
per share (RMB cents) (AR¥5D) 20.33 512 (5.75) 11.85 2.46
Non-current assets EREBEE 277,879 759,550 921,054 1,602,677 3,401,078
Current assets REBEE 673,996 1,015,860 1,126,895 1,540,546 1,647,607
Current liabilities REBEE 289,521 471,328 495,472 1,113,576 1,352,354
Non-current liabilities FREBER 29,637 40,568 145,197 283,932 1,423,435
Net assets EEFE 632,717 1,263,514 1,407,280 1,645,715 2,272,896
Turnover Profit/(Loss) Attributable Basic Earnings/(Loss)
—E to Equity Shareholders Per Share
W00 RERREERE (58)  SREXRN(5H)
7t RMB’000 RMB cents
ARBFT AREESD
292,241
3,000,000 2779223 300,000 30
2,500,000 250,000 25
214,121 20.33
2,000,000 1,854,769 200,000 20
1500000 49299 150,000 15
11.85
1,015,538
1,000,000 100,000 83,379 10
658,720
54,291 5.12
500,000 50,000 5
(98,098) (6.75) 2.46
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The Group endeavours to become the leading solar energy
industry group in the globe with the concerted efforts of all to
overcome current plight and its vertical integration strategy to
control production cost.

SEUEE -BICRBEDEFEERS  2RET—O0RRE
AITEREER  MORAEHRALNAGREEREE -

LI ) T




Dear honourable shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of Solargiga Energy Holdings
Limited (“Solargiga” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries
referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011.

In 2011, the gloom of European debt crisis hung over the world and the
global economy remained sluggish. In addition to the fact that various
governments continue to look up to the future development of the
photovoltaic industry and consider solar energy as the best alternative to
traditional energies. Therefore, an excessive production capacity in the
global solar energy market was resulted from significant expansions of
production capacity. Meanwhile, the European countries continued to cut
the subsidies for solar energy industry. The product price of solar energy
has been declining since the second half of the year, and the solar energy
industry is gradually stepping into a tough time. Despite the fact that the
decline in price enables solar energy products, in the mid-and long-run, to
swiftly meet the price level of the traditional energy, yet it inevitably poses
pressure on the profitability in the short-term. The industry prospect is now
full of challenges. Facing the consolidation period, Solargiga makes good
use of its competitive advantages to seize market opportunities and adjust
the future development strategies to cope with the adverse situation. The
Group endeavours to become the leading solar energy industry group in
the globe with the concerted efforts of all to overcome current plight and
its vertical integration strategy to control production cost.

During the year under review, the external total shipment volume of
various products of the Group reached 553.34MW, an increase of
61.6% compared with 2010. The Group also recorded a turnover of
RMB2,779.223 million, an increase of 49.8% compared with 2010. Due
to declining product price in the second half of the year and the effect
of one-off provision of inventories as at the end of the year, the gross
profit and the profit attributable to equity shareholders for the year were
approximately RMB253.848 million and RMB54.291 million respectively.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

As the industry has been under the “survival of the fittest” competition,
customers are demanding better and better quality of products and the
competition in the industry is stiff. Still, the operating environment of
buyer’s market is beneficial to the suppliers which produce prominent and
efficient photovoltaic products in the long-run. In a bid to further enhance
its market share in the industry, the Group orderly expands its production
capacity. Of which, the first phase of Qinghai plant of monocrystalline
silicon ingots production line with an annual production capacity of
200MW has been completed during the year. Furthermore, the Group
has also added the solar cells production capacity of approximately
300MW by successfully acquiring Sino Light Investment Limited at the
beginning of the year. This acquisition has induced a profound influence
to the Group’s production chain and enabled the Group to speed up
the vertical integration of upstream and downstream businesses in solar
energy industry, further enhancing the leading position of the Group in the
industry.

As the operations expand, the demand for capital accordingly increases.
As such, during the year under review, the Group signed a syndicated
loan of USD75 million with 11 banks and issued RMB denominated
bonds of RMB300 million, ensuring sufficient working capital for the
future. All of these signify the recognition of the Group’s prestigious
reputation, leading position in the industry, comprehensive industrial
layout and healthy financial position. Capitalised on its long-term and
strong potentials for development, Solargiga is ready to achieve a stable
growth for its operations.

Meanwhile, the Group has been receiving compliments from customers
of different countries for its superb products and services in the past
few years and has maintained good and long-term relationships with its
customers. This year, the Group has ventured and entered into a number
of long-term contracts with new overseas customers, ensuring the full
utilisation of the production capacity of the Group, which has in turn
provided the Group with stable income. At the same time, the Group
has obtained various large-scale projects and orders for downstream
businesses in the PRC, including the 20MW on-grid photovoltaic power
plant project in Golmud, Qinghai, the 13.5MW “Golden Sun Programme”
Project (£ ABs T#2) in Liaoning Province and the orders of photovoltaic
modules from sizeable customers such as 256MW sales order from China
Power Investment Corporation (FRE]E HiREKEE). These symbolised
that the Group’s vertical integration strategies are substantially achieved.
Upon achieving the leading position in the area of monocrystalline
silicon solar ingots and wafers production, the Group’s operations of
downstream modules and system power generation are also on the right
track.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited 5 8EIRIZ AR B BR A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Looking forward, the Group is optimistic towards the outlook of solar
energy industry after integration and expects it is going to replace
the traditional fossil fuel in the future. According to the “Report on the
Photovoltaic Market in the Asia Pacific Region 2011” ({2011 K&
KARTIZFREY) prepared by Solarbuzz, an internationally well-known
organisation for photovoltaic research and development, the Asia
Pacific region will become the most important solar energy market in the
world. Since the developed countries in Europe lower the subsidies for
the solar energy industry, it is believed that the development focus of
the future solar energy industry will gradually shift towards Asia Pacific
region. Focusing on the market demand, the Group will continue to
formulate development core, adjust the pace of advancement, as well
as continue to enhance the production capacity, technological standard
and operational efficiency. Moreover, the Group also aims to selectively
expand the production scale of downstream components according to
the market conditions, gradually shifting to a strategic business model
of “golden cup” vertical integration from an “inverted pyramid” model, to
consolidate its current leading position in the market and further sharpens
its corporate competitive edge.

[, on behalf of the Board, would like to express my gratitude to all staff
for their dedicated services and contributions throughout the year that
helped the Group grow steadily in the fierce competition, as well as to all
business partners for their continuous trust and support. Finally, | would
also like to thank our dear shareholders for continuous support and trust.
In the new year, may we aim to maintain our strong team spirit, utilise our
existing resources, increase the efficiency and enhance the profitability of
the Company for the sake of building a sturdy foundation of the Group’s
business development and rewarding to shareholders with steadily
growing performance.

TAN Wen Hua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2012
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During the year under review, the Group successfully built an
effective and unique “inverted triangle” vertical integrated supply
chain. It gradually completed the transformation from a solar
energy materials manufacturer to a one-stop service supplier of
solar power projects. And those individual products including
ingots, wafer, cells and modules within the supply chain can be
sold externally and a good operating result is achieved.
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Market Overview
The solar energy industry has confronted a turbulent time in 2011.

Continuing the rapid growth in 2010, the global solar energy industry
managed to achieve a satisfactory result to kick off the first half of 2011.
The Fukushima nuclear plant incident in Japan in early March of 2011
expedited various governments to develop and promote clean energy.
Subsequently, the German government decided to permanently shut
down eight obsolete nuclear reactors. It also promised to shut down
other nine nuclear reactors currently in operation by 2022, as well as
encouraging the development of renewable energy and increase the ratio
of electricity supply of environmentally-friendly energy. A bill for renewable
energy was later passed by the House of Councillors of Japan in August
2011, which formulated the subsidy mechanism of electricity price. In
addition, various governments have also put forward proposals to slow
down the development of nuclear power projects. The solar energy
industry so far still relies on the government subsidies and the proactive
policies from various countries indeed induce a motivation to the industry.
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Yet, with the proliferation of European debt crisis that has already
swept the globe for almost two years, the price of European sovereign
bonds has seriously plummeted that imposes a heavy financial burden
on European governments, as well as forces European countries to
implement large-scale financial budget austerity policies to tackle the
worsening financial position. Worse still, the U.S.’s debt crisis and the
downgrade of the U.S. sovereign rating by Standard & Poor’s have
brought the world economy to a scenario with uncertainty, hindering the
global economy recovery. Under such an uneasy economic environment,
the European regions tend to be conservative over the subsidy policies
for solar energy. As European countries are the major markets of solar
energy products, the downward adjustment in solar energy subsidy also
caused a continuous decline of the price of solar energy products since
the second half of 2011. This has posed a pressure on the profitability
prospect of solar energy industry.

On the other hand, the price adjustment indeed facilitated the rapid
growth for the end markets. Statistics show that the installed capacity
has exceeded 27GW throughout 2011, representing a growth of 40%.
This illustrates that the price adjustment of solar energy products allows
the industry to achieve the grid parity gradually, which stimulates the end
demand. As such, an enhancement of production technology leading
to lower cost will help the solar energy industry become more popular
and achieve industrial integration, marching towards for continuous
development.

During the year under review, the Group successfully built an effective
and unique “inverted triangle” vertical integrated supply chain. It gradually
completed the transformation from a solar energy materials manufacturer
to an one-stop service supplier of solar power projects. And those
individual products including ingots, wafer, cells and modules within
the supply chain can be sold externally and a good operating result is
achieved. As at 31 December 2011, the external shipment volumes
of various upstream and downstream products ranging from ingots to
modules have reached 553.34MW, accounting for an increase of 61.6%
compared with 342.50MW last year.
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Silicon Ingot Business

During the year under review, the Group proactively expanded the
production capacity of silicon ingots to further explore its technological
advantage. As at 31 December 2011, the Group was equipped with
493 monocrystalline ingot pullers and 4 multicrystalline casting furnaces,
of which 397 monocrystalline ingot pullers were located in Jinzhou
production base while the remaining 96 monocrystalline ingot pullers
were installed in the plant of Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) Company Limited
(“Qinghai Yangguang”), which is 51% owned by the Group, in Xining,
Qinghai Province, and the annual production capacity of silicon ingots
formally reached 1GW in December 2011.

During the year under review, by its “inverted pyramid” vertical integration
supply chain model, the Group was able to fully utilise its upstream
products for the production of its downstream products, and the
upstream products including ingots, wafers and cells are also for sales
externally. Of which, the external shipment volumes of self-manufactured
and processed silicon solar ingots of the Group were 85.86MW and
55.38MW respectively, representing a growth of 11.5% and 113.5%
compared with 76.99MW and 25.94MW last year. Solargiga has gained
a leading position in the monocrystalline silicon solar ingot manufacture
aspect in terms of technology, product quality and quantity. The products
of the Group are the only monocrystalline silicon solar ingot maker in
the PRC for which national products exemption from quality surveillance
inspection has been granted. Major products are silicon ingot of 5.5
inches to 8.7 inches on diameter. The photovoltaic conversion efficiency
of its monocrystalline silicon products is also higher than the industry
average. Apart from the traditional P-type products, the Group also
provides N-type high-efficiency products with a photovoltaic conversion
efficiency of 22-23%. During the year under review, the external shipment
volume of N-type silicon ingots was about 55.39MW, in which the
self-manufactured and processing volume of N-type products were
46.41MW and 8.98MW respectively, representing an aggregate amount
of approximately 39.2% of the external shipment volume of silicon ingots.
N-type products are mainly targeted at Japanese customers.
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Wafer Business

During the year under review, in order to cater for the expansion of
production capacity of upstream monocrystalline silicon ingots, the Group
correspondingly increased the wiresaw equipment. As at 31 December
2011, the Group possessed 121 wiresaws, two of which were newly
added diamond wiresaws. The annual production capacity of wafers has
already increased from 600MW in the beginning of 2011 to 900MW at the
end of 2011.

The external shipment volumes of self-manufactured and processed
silicon solar wafers of the Group were 173.46MW and 8.65MW
respectively during the year under review, representing a decrease of
21.4% in total compared with 225.27MW and 6.46MW last year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to more wafers have been internally
sold to downstream business after the completion of acquisition of solar
cells manufacturing business, and for external sales only after they are
manufactured into solar cells and modules.

Cell Business

During the year under review, the Group successfully acquired Sino Light
Investment Limited (“Sino Light”) on 26 January 2011. Sino Light and
its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the manufacture of solar cells,
with a current production capacity of 300MW. From the period between
26 January 2011, the acquisition date, and 31 December 2011, the
external shipment volume of solar cells of Sino Light was approximately
138.90MW. It contributed a segment turnover of approximately
RMB929.051 million, accounting for 33.4% of the Group’s turnover.
Through the acquisition of Sino Light, the Group was able to connect the
upstream and downstream businesses for a better synergy effect.

Module Business

The Group has expanded its solar downstream photovoltaic modules
business through holding 51% interest in Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic
Technology Company Limited (“Jinzhou Jinmao”). The modules
production base is currently located in Jinzhou with a production capacity
expanded to 150MW as at the end of the year from 50MW as at the
beginning of 2011.

During the year under review, apart from the required modules supplied by
Jinzhou Jinmao for the Group’s downstream system installation business,
the Group also secured the orders from sizeable customers such as
25MW sales order from China Power Investment Corporation (1 EIE 1%
EEE), by virtue of its prominent product quality and competitive product
price. As at 31 December 2011, the external shipment volume of solar
modules of Jinzhou Jinmao was approximately 91.09MW, accounting for
a significant increase of over 10 times compared with external shipment
volume of 7.84MW last year. The utilisation rate of production capacity
has increased during the year under review, while the module business is
gradually in shape.
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System Installation Business

The end market in the PRC is in the process of rapid growth stage.
Statistics reveal that the solar energy system installation capacity in the
PRC has exceeded 2GW in 2011. As such, the Group has proactively
developed terminal market business fully capitalising on its advantage of
vertical integration to pull the product demand from the bottom to the top.

During the year under review, the Group completed the 13.5MW “Golden
Sun Programme” Project (£ AR L#2) in Jinzhou, Liaoning Province.
Such programme comprised three projects, of which the largest one was
the TOMW solar power system located at the hill of Nanshan Tunnel (@
LLIEEZE), Jinzhou. After the grid connection, approximately 14 million KWh
of electricity can be provided annually for Jinzhou; the remaining two
projects were the SMW power plant project in the photovoltaic industrial
park of Jinzhou Economic & Technology Development Zone (§8 N4 75+
BB E AR EEEE) and the 500kW power generation rooftop project
in the small residential area of Jinzhou.

On the other hand, the Group also secured the 20MW large-scaled
photovoltaic power plant project in Golmud, Qinghai Province. The Group
has invested 49% interest of the project through Qinghai Yangguang and
its construction and trial-run was successfully completed at the end of
2011. It is expected that approximately 33 million kWh can be generated
per year. The project will enjoy the photovoltaic power generation feed-in
tariff policy of RMB1.15 per kWh as set out by the National Development
and Reform Commission. Moreover, apart from the successful experience
of the construction of power plant within the PRC, the Group has started
working on the development and construction of the overseas power
station markets. During the year, a small amount of 215 kW power plant
was successfully launched by grid integration in Germany solar energy
rooftop market. In the future, the Group will continue to develop the global
photovoltaic application market.
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Looking forward, the Group also aims to selectively expand

the production scale of downstream components according to
the market conditions, gradually shifting to a strategic business
model of “golden cup” vertical integration from an “inverted
pyramid” model, to consolidate its current leading position in the
market and further sharpens its corporate competitive edge.
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Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s turnover increased to
RMB2,779.223 million from RMB1,854.769 million for the corresponding
period in 2010, representing a year-on-year increase of 49.8%. During the
year under review, the Group has not only completed an upstream and
downstream vertical integration in the industry, but has also enhanced the
production scale, despite of the continuous decline in the price of solar
energy products.

Cost of Sales

For the year ended 31 December 2011, cost of sales increased by
75.2% to RMB2,525.375 million from RMB1,441.526 million for the
corresponding period of 2010. As a percentage of total turnover, cost
of sales increased from approximately 77.7% to 90.9%. As the price
of polysilicon, a major raw material, continued to decrease during the
second half of 2011, the Group was required to make an one-off write
down for the inventories of RMB161.701 million (2010: nil). Thus, the ratio
of the cost of sales increased during the period under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI DN

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded a gross
profit of RMB253.848 million and a gross profit margin of 9.1%. Excluding
the one-off write down for the inventories of RMB161.701 million, the
gross profit would have been RMB415.549 million and the gross profit
margin of 15.0% for 2011. The gross profit and the gross profit margin
was RMB413.243 million and 22.3%, respectively, for the corresponding
period in 2010. As the decrease was relatively larger for the selling prices
across each product segment in the photovoltaic market during the
second half of 2011, the gross profit margin decreased throughout 2011.

The other income mainly comprised government grants, the interest
income on bank deposits, income from sales of scrap materials and
rental income under operating leases.

Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised packaging expenses,
freight charges, insurance expenses and overseas selling expenses and
commission. Selling and distribution expenses increased by 232.7%, from
RMB9.669 million for the year ended 31 December 2010 to RMB32.169
million for the year ended 31 December 2011, accounting for 1.2% (2010:
0.5%) of the Group’s total turnover. The increase in expenses was due to
more expenses incurred from the development of domestic and overseas
markets. Apart from this, after the Group completed a vertical integration
of one-stop supply chain, more development expenses has been spent in
downstream product markets accordingly. Moreover, the growth in sales
volume has also resulted in the rise of packaging expenses and freight
charges accordingly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI DN

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, research and
development expenses and the amortisation of intangible assets. The
administrative expenses for 2011 amounted to RMB269.315 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 117.9% from RMB123.577
million for the corresponding period last year, or accounting for 9.7%
(2010: 6.7%) of the Group’s turnover. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly attributable to the significant increase of research
and development costs to RMB127.979 million in 2011 from RMB48.328
million in 2010, and the Group’s expansion in vertical and horizontal
production scale also resulted in an increase of administrative expenses.
Moreover, the amount of RMB26.785 million (2010: Nil) was amortised in
2011 in respect of the intangible assets arising from by the acquisition of
solar cells business in 2011.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs increased from RMB18.006 million for the
year ended 31 December 2010 to RMB71.949 million for the year ended
31 December 2011. Finance costs represented mainly interest on bank

loans, syndicated bank loan, Renminbi-denominated bonds and the
municipal government loan. The increase in finance costs was due to
increase of bank borrowings during the year to cope with the business
expansion and development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI DN

For the year ended 31 December 2011, a net tax credit of RMB10.021
million was recorded due to the tax concessions obtained during the
year, compared to the income tax expense of RMB71.444 million for the
corresponding period in 2010.

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB54.291 million was recorded during the year ended 31 December
2011, representing a decrease of 74.6% from RMB214.121 million in
2010. The decrease was mainly due to a decline in gross profit followed
by an one-off write down of inventories of RMB161.701 million.

The inventories of the Group comprised mainly raw materials namely
polysilicon, crucibles and other auxiliary raw materials and finished goods.
The inventory turnover days for 2011 were 57 days (2010: 104 days),
representing a decrease of 47 days compared to the corresponding
period last year.

In 2011, the trade receivable turnover days of the Group decreased to 23
days (2010: 33 days). Such turnover days continued to remain at a low
level. Owing to the relatively fluctuating market, the Group is now selling
more on cash on delivery to monitor the risks. A credit period of 30 to 90
days is generally granted only to its long-term customers.

The ratio of the Group’s purchasing raw materials from the suppliers
by prepayment increased from last year, and together with unfavorable
business environment of solar market, the purchase volume of raw
materials as at the end of the year decreased. Accordingly, the trade
payable turnover days further decreased to 20 days (2010: 32 days).

The Group’s principal sources of working capital during the year under
review were cash flows from operating activities and the proceeds from
bank and other borrowings. On 27 May 2011, Solargiga entered into
a syndicated loan with banks including Industrial Bank of Taiwan, BNP
Paribas and other lenders with a facility amount of US$75,000,000
(RMB470,927,000) for a term of three years. Subsequently, on 24 August
2011, Solargiga, with SinoPac Securities (Asia) Limited as its manager
successfully completed the issue of the bonds of RMB300,000,000 with
a term of three years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI DN

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 1.22 (31 December 2010: 1.38). The
Group had net borrowings of RMB1,115.634 million as at 31 December
2011 (31 December 2010: RMB202.259 million), which comprised
cash at bank and in hand of RMB583.743 million (31 December 2010:
RMB459.734 million), pledged bank deposits of RMB151.682 million
(31 December 2010: RMB74.113 million), bank and other loans due
within 1 year of RMB705.077 million (31 December 2010: RMB648.011
million), non-current bonds, bank and other loans of RMB1,143.035
million (31 December 2010: RMB85.000 million) and long-term municipal
government loan of RMB2.947 million (31 December 2010: RMB3.095
million). Net debt to equity ratio (net borrowing divided by total equity) was
49.1% (31 December 2010: 12.3%). Such ratios show that the Group’s
financial position remains healthy.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchases, bank loans and cash and bank deposits that are denominated
in foreign currencies, i.e. currencies other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily the United States Dollar, Euro and Hong
Kong Dollar. The Directors do not expect any significant impact from
movements in exchange rates since the Group uses foreign currencies
collected from customers to settle the amount due to suppliers. In
addition, the Directors ensure that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level by buying or selling the United States Dollar, Euro and
Hong Kong Dollar at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had 3,655 (2010: 2,081) employees.
The significant increase of employees was mainly due to the production
capacity expansion in Jinzhou, Liaoning and Xining, Qinghai.
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Overview

The Board strived to uphold good corporate governance and adopted
sound corporate governance practices. This report outlines the principles
and the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which have been adopted by the Group.

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Code to oversee the financial
reporting procedures and internal controls of the Group so as to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company has also established a
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) (collectively, the “Board
Committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board Committees have been posted on the websites of Stock
Exchange and the Company since March 2012.

The Group has implemented a compliance manual which covers areas
such as ongoing compliance obligations of the Company and the
Directors, business operations of the Group, financial management
systems, human resources management systems, internal control
systems, quality assurance and property management systems. All
the code provisions set out in the Code were met by the Company
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

Compliance with the Model Code for Directors’
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions entered
into by Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the
Directors and all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the financial year
ended 31 December 2011.
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The Board of Directors

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of overall business
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and monitoring
the performance of the senior management. The Directors have the
responsibility to act objectively in the interests of the Company.

Mr. Chong Kin Ngai (“Mr. Chong”), who used to be a non-executive
Director and member of the audit committee of the Company, resigned
on 1 December 2011 due to his other business commitments. Mr. Chong
confirmed that he did not have any disagreement with the Board, that
there was no other matter in relation to his resignation which needs to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company. Details of
Mr. Chong'’s resignation were set out in an announcement issued by the
Company dated 2 December 2011.

Mr. Tan Xin was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 28
December 2011. Details of Mr. Tan Xin’s appointment were set out in an
announcement issued by the Company dated 28 December 2011.

Currently, the Board comprises nine Directors, including four executive
Directors: Mr. TAN Wenhua, Mr. HSU You Yuan, Ms. ZHANG Liming and
Mr. Tan Xin, one non-executive Director: Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai and four
independent non-executive Directors: Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert,
Ms. FU Shuangye, Dr. LIN Wen and Mr. ZHANG Chun. The names and
biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 36 of
the annual report. The Board has a strong independent element in its
composition with over half of the board members being non-executive
Directors to ensure that all decisions of the Board are made in the best
interest of the Group’s long-term development.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
Committees. Further details of these committees are set out below on
pages 27 to 29.
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Board Meetings

The Company holds Board meetings regularly, at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also be convened
if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board meeting will be
sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular Board meeting.
Reasonable notices will be given to the Directors for ad-hoc Board
meetings. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic
means of communications. The Company will provide relevant materials
to all the Directors relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All
the Directors will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, 5 meetings were held by the
Board and the attendance of individual Directors at these meetings is set
out below:

Name of Directors Attendance

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (appointed as Chairman with 5/5
effect from 28 March 2011)

Ms. Zhang Liming 4/5

Mr. HSU You Yuan 5/5

Mr. Tan Xin (appointed with effect from 0/5
28 December 2011)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai (resigned as Chairman with 4/5
effect from 28 March 2011)

Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai (resigned with effect 5/5
from 1 December 2011)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 5/5

Ms. FU Shuangye 5/5

Dr. LIN Wen 5/5

Mr. Zhang Chun 5/5
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Independent non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors possess a wealth of professional
and industry expertise and management experience and have provided
their professional advices to the Board. They have played a significant role
in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. In particular, they bring impartial
views to the Board on issues of the Company’s strategy, performance
and control. The Board also considers that independent non-executive
Directors provide independent advice on the Company’s business
strategy, results and management so that all interests of shareholders
are taken into consideration, and the interests of the Company and
its shareholders are taken into account in all business decisions. The
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Mr. Hsu You Yuan has been appointed as an executive Director for a
specific term of three years commencing from 10 June 2010, and each
of Mr. TAN Wenhua and Ms. ZHANG Liming has been appointed as an
executive Director for a specific term of three years commencing from 30
June 2011. Mr. Tan Xin has been appointed as an executive director for a
initial term of three years with effect from 28 December 2011. Such terms
are subject to re-appointment by the Company at an annual general
meeting upon retirement.

All of the independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Directors were appointed for a term of three years from 30 June 2011,
and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Tax Xin, Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms. FU
Shuangye and Dr. LIN Wen will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for
re-election.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The role of the Chairman was
performed by Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai during the financial year and up to 28
March 2011, whereupon Mr. CHIAO resigned as Chairman due to his
other business commitments that require more of his dedication. Mr.
CHIAO had contributed valuable inputs to the Group’s business direction
with a wealth of industry expertise during his tenure as Chairman. Mr.
CHIAO remains as a non-executive Director of the Company after his
resignation as Chairman. Mr. TAN Wenhua was appointed as Chairman
with effect from 28 March 2011. Mr. TAN Wenhua is an executive Director
who is responsible for the management of the Board and he also involves
in the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.

The role of the CEO is performed by Mr. HSU You Yuan. The overall
management of the Company was performed by the CEO, executive
Directors and senior management of the Company. The executive
Directors (Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. TAN Wenhua, Ms. ZHANG Liming and
Mr. TAN Xin) who have extensive experience in the solar energy industry
and their respective areas of profession, spearhead the Group’s overall
development and business strategies.
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Board Committees

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 in compliance with Rules
3.21 to 3.23 and Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to oversee the financial reporting processes
and internal control procedures of the Group, to review the financial
information of the Group and to consider issues relating to the external
auditor. Currently, the Audit Committee consists of four independent non-
executive Directors.

In 2011, the Audit Committee met 2 times and the attendance of
individual Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) 2/2
Ms. FU Shuangye 2/2
Dr. LIN Wen 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Chun 2/2

Non-executive Director
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai (resigned with effect 2/2
from 1 December 2011)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim financial report
for the six months ended 30 June 2011 and annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and has also
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters with
the management.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 in compliance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee consists of five members; four of whom are independent non-
executive Directors and one is the Executive Director.

In 2011, the Remuneration Committee met once and the attendance of
individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. FU Shuangye (Chairman) 11
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 11
Dr. LIN Wen 11
Mr. Zhang Chun 1/1
Executive Director

Mr. TAN Wenhua 11

The Remuneration Committee has made recommendations to the Board
regarding the remuneration policy of the Company. In addition, it has
also reviewed and approved management’s remuneration proposal
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board,
and ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 in compliance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for recruiting Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of formal and transparent
procedures for nomination procedures and process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates
for directorship and senior management. The Nomination Committee
consists of five members; four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors and one is the executive Director.

In 2011, the Nomination Committee met once and the attendance of
individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. LIN Wen (Chairman) 11
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 1/1
Ms. FU Shuangye 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Chun 11

Executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 1/1

The Nomination Committee has discussed matters relating to the
appointment of senior management members during the year.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control

Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Finance
Department of the Company, is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and the Group. In the preparation
of financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies have been
consistently used and applied. The Board aims to present a clear and
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual and
interim reports to the shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and
announcements in a timely manner.

External Auditor

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the fees paid and payable to
the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit services amounted
to approximately RMB1,861,000 (2010: RMB1,684,000). In addition,
approximately RMB767,000 (2010: RMB199,000) was charged for other
non-statutory services which mainly consisted of service on accountant’s
report and interim reviews.

Internal control

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. The Company conducted regular review to
monitor the Company’s internal management and operation during the
year. Procedures have been designed to ensure maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, ensure compliance of applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

In order to fulfil their fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and diligence,
the Directors will constantly seek advice and assistance from the
Company’s internal legal team and if necessary, seek advice from external
legal advisors in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Company also adopted
internal control procedures relating to, among others, signing authority
and procedures since February 2007. The Company has an Audit and
Legal Department consisting 3 members with extensive experience in the
legal field. The main duties of the Audit and Legal department are:

° providing legal advice on major business decisions
° reviewing and drafting legal documents

o handling legal disputes

° advising on legal issues related to daily operations
° conducting internal training for compliance matters
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Directors’ responsibility on the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, which were prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 74 to 75.

Going concern

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (3 3 ), aged 56, Chairman of the Board. He was one
of the founders of the Jinzhou Plants. He was conferred various honours
including the Model for the Labour of the Building Materials Systems of the
Nation, the medal of “May 1st” Labour of Liaoning Province, the Builders
Merit award of Liaoning Province, the Outstanding Member of the China
Communist Party, the Outstanding Entrepreneur of the Building Materials
Industry of the Nation, the Venture Entrepreneur of the Liaoning Province and
First Prize Entrepreneur of Jinzhou. He is also a guest professor of Liaoning
University of Technology and Vice President of Bohai University. Prior to the
founding of Jinzhou Plants, he was the Chairman of $8 /#7234 IR (&
E)ARES{E2A T (Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.”) and the
President of $8 il — & F & (Jinzhou 155 Factory®), a state-owned factory
engaging in quartz crucibles manufacturing. He has been granted a special
subsidy by the State Council in 2004 for his contribution in engineering
technology. He was elected as a delegate of the 11th National People’s
Congress of the People’s Republic of China in 2008. He is the father of Mr.
Tan Xin, the Executive Director of the Company and General Manager of the
Jinzhou Plants. He is also the brother-in-law of Ms. Zhao Xiuzhen who is the
Director of Corporate Management of the Jinzhou Plants.

Mr. HSU You Yuan (zF#53f 5 4E), aged 57, the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. He joined the Group on 6 February 2007 and was appointed an
executive Director on the same date. He graduated with a master degree in
Business Administration from the Chinese Culture University in 1980. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. HSU was the President of Wafer Works Corp.
(“WWX”) from February 1998 to June 2003 and later became the Vice-
Chairman of the board of WWX in June 2003. WWX is a manufacturer of
silicon wafer for the semiconductor industry and is listed on the Gre Tai
Securities Market in Taiwan since May 2002. He was the managing director
of Silicon Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp. and was appointed the
Chief Executive Officer of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp.,
responsible for overseeing, amongst others, WWX’s investment in the solar
energy industry. In March 2006, he was appointed a director and he was
subsequently appointed as the Chairman of the board of Jinzhou Youhua in
September 2006. Mr. HSU'’s previous work credentials also include acting
as Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic Inc., a company listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange and as a member of the board of directors and Executive
Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of Mosel
Vitelic Inc. Mr. HSU had also made contributions to non-commercial
sectors in the past. He served as a researcher, a deputy director, and
the director of Business Department of the Executive Yuan Development
Fund of Taiwan (Note: Executive Yuan Development Fund is now known
as National Development Fund, Executive Yuan). He was also a lecturer
of Statistics and Managerial Mathematics for the Business Administration
department at the Chinese Culture University.

*

English translation of Chinese official name is for identification purpose only
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Directors (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. ZHANG Liming (3&E88H), aged 54, the Director of Administration (1T
BUAAEL) of the Jinzhou Plants. She joined the Original Group (i.e. the
Group prior to the acquisition of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman)
Corp. and its subsidiaries on 1 April 2003 responsible for overseeing,
amongst others, the administration of the Original Group. She is also the
chairman of the labour union of the Jinzhou Plants. She graduated from
the Faculty of Economic Management of the Party School of the CPC
Central Committee in 1996. Prior to joining the Group, she was appointed
as the head of the supply division of $8N A S I EE SRR (Jinzhou Quartz
Glass Instrument Factory®), the director of management of 8N 2B &
B R4IEAREELQT (Jinzhou Crystaline Material Co., Ltd.*) during
1993 to 1994 and the general manager of $2JNZEBRKGE TERER A T
(Jinzhou Huaming Crystal Art & Craft Co., Limited*) during 1994 to 2003.

Mr. TAN Xin (:E2%), aged 29, is the General Manager of the Jinzhou
Plants. He joined the Group in July 2005. He holds a bachelor’s degree
of Marketing from the Macau University of Science and Technology,
and a master’s degree of Business Administration from University of
East Anglia, U.K. Mr. Tan is also a Standing Committee member of the
Liaoning Province Youth Federation (REER S FHETEREETHE),
Vice President of the Liaoning Province Young Entrepreneurs Association
(BELSFELEIMERIEERE) and Member of the 12th Jonghou
Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference $#MHE+=BHHZES). Mr. Tan was awarded Year 2011
Meritorious Entrepreneur (2011 E B3 K) by Jinzhou Municipal
Government. Before taking the role of the General Manager of Jinzhou
Plants, Mr. Tan also worked in other subsidiaries within the Group and
accumulated plenty of experiences from his prior positions. He is the son
of Mr. Tan Wenhua who is an executive Director and the Chairman of the
Company.

Non-executive Director

Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai ((£¥3§), aged 61, a non-executive Director. He was
appointed a non-executive Director in July 2007. He graduated from the
Chung Yuen University with a bachelor degree in Chemical Engineering
and master degree in Chemistry from the University of California, San
Jose in 1973 and 1978, respectively. He is the Chairman and General
Manager of WWX and the President of Helitek Company Ltd., a subsidiary
of WWX.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ #E), aged 60, was appointed an
Independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Mr. Wong
is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Chartered Institute for Securities
and Investments, Chartered Management Institute, UK, Association of
International Accountants, Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong
Kong, The Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Ireland, UK, as well
as a member of Hong Kong Securities Institute, The Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators, Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants and
an associate member of The Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland,
UK. Mr. WONG had also been a director and Chief Executive Officer of
Minghua Group International Holdings Limited, a listed public company
in the United States, until 30th September 2004. According to the filings
made available to public through the EDGAR database in U.S., for the
quarterly period ended 30 September 2005, Minghua Group International
Holdings Limited was “a small business issuer” and “a development stage
company”. Mr. WONG has been the Managing Director of KND Corporate
Advisory Service Limited, a private professional consulting firm in Hong
Kong, an independent non-executive director of APAC Resources
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, since July 2004 and an independent non-executive director
of Rare Earths Global Limited, a company listed on the London Stock
Exchange — AIM Market, since March 2012.

Ms. FU Shuangye (fF58ZE), aged 44, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Ms. FU graduated from
Wuhan University with a bachelor degree in English Literature in 1990 and
obtained her further legal studies certificate in the Law School of China
Politics and Law University in 1997. She was qualified as a PRC lawyer in
1998. She was a partner of Zhong Lun W&D Law Firm in Beijing. Ms. FU
is now the Managing Partner of Zhong Hao Attorneys-at-Law. She is also
a member of the Foreign Direct Investment Expertise Committee of the
Beijing Judiciary Bureau.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Dr. LIN Wen (#£32), aged 72, an independent non-executive Director,
joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Dr. LIN received his Ph.D. degrees
in Materials Science & Engineering. He joined AT&T Bell Laboratories
(subsequently, Lucent Bell Labs/Agere) and engaged in the research and
development of silicon semiconductor materials in 1975. Dr. LIN is the
author of over 60 papers and book chapters published by internationally
recognised science magazines, including Czochralski process of silicon
crystals and the application and manufacturing of silicon crystals in
semiconductors. Czochralski process is the key process employed by the
Group in the manufacturing of monocrystalline silicon ingots. He owns
several patents. Dr. LIN was a recipient of the 1983 Bell Laboratories
Distinguished Technical Staff Award. Since 1999, Dr. LIN has been a
member of the Starting Materials Team of ITRS (International Technology
Roadmap of Semiconductor). Dr. LIN is a member of Phi Tau Phi Honor
Societies and was served as its Chairman. Dr. LIN is a life member of
the Chinese Institute of Engineers-USA, and he served as its president
in 1987 and National Council Chairman in 1995. In addition, Dr. LIN
also served as Chairman of METS (Modern Engineering and Technology
Seminars), as well as Vice-Chairman and Chairman of Sino-American
Technology and Engineering Conference.

Mr. ZHANG Chun (&%), aged 79, an independent non-executive
Director, joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Mr. ZHANG graduated
from Tianjin University in 1955 and conducted research on semi-
conductor silicon material in dt WE & & BT (Beijing Non-Ferrous
Metal Research Institution®) in the same year. During 1965 to 1979, he
was involved in the establishment of the semi-conductor materials factory
in Emei and the monocrystalline silicon factory in Luoyang and their
production and technological management. During 1979 to 1998, he was
the supervisor of a semi-conductor material research unit of Beijing Non-
Ferrous Metal Research Institution, the supervisor of the BIZR ¥ E & #F
B TR H A (State Semi-conductor Material Engineering Research
Centre*) and he also acted as the general manager of €& Bk
APR/A T (Jinxin Semi-conductor Material Company Limited*). The (a)
project on 3 to 4 inches monocrystalline silicon for the use in integrated
circuit and (b) the research project on the manufacture of 125mm
monocrystalline silicon wafer for the use in 2 to 3um integrated circuit
organised and led by Mr. ZHANG received RIZR 5 — L8 (the
Science and Technology Progress First Prize*) by the China National Non-
Ferrous Metals Industry Corp. Mr. ZHANG was granted a special subsidy
of government from the State Council since 1992, was awarded the title
of Supreme Model for the Labour of the Non-ferrous Metals Industry
of the Nation in 1993 and was awarded as a 2B % T{E& (National
Pioneer*) by the State Council in 1995.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

The Directors’ interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Interest and
Short Positions of the Directors and the Chief Executives of the Company
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations” in this annual report. Each Director has been
appointed for a term of three years. The Directors’ emoluments, the basis
of determining the same (including any bonus payments, whether fixed or
discretionary in nature, irrespective of whether the Director has or does
not have a service contract) and the Directors’ fees are set out in note 11
to the Financial Statements and the section headed and “Report of the
Directors — Emolument Policy” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
above, each Director confirmed that there are no other matters that need
to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company and
there is no other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Senior Management

Mr. CHOW Yiu Ming (&B#88), aged 39, is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Company. He holds a bachelor’s degree of
business administration from the University of Hong Kong and is also a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He joined the Company in September 2008 and has over 16 year of
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate
finance.

Ms. ZHAO Xiuzhen (#35¥), aged 57, the Director of Corporate
Management (=& 4 85) of the Jinzhou Plants. She joined the Group on
31 January 2005. She graduated from $§MEREZEHITHEE R (Jinzhou
Communist Party School in Administration and Management for Party
Affairs*). Prior to joining the Group, she was the deputy general manager
of Jinzhou Hualian Shopping Centre. She is the sister-in-law of Mr. Tan
Wenhua who is an executive director and the Chairman of the Company.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. WANG Chun Wei (£ &1&), aged 41, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Jinzhou and Shanghai Plants. He joined the Group on 1 January 2007.
He obtained a Master of Business Administration from the State University
of New Jersey (Rutgers). He is a certified public accountant in Maryland,
the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was a Special Assistant
to President & Deputy Spokesman of The Office of General Manager of
WWHX, the Spokesman and Chief Financial Officer of Panram International
Corp., a company listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan.

Mr. Joe CHOU (& X), aged 53, is the Director of Quality Assurance
Department of Jinzhou Plants. He joined the Group on 3 February
2009. He holds a bachelor’s degree of Chemical Engineering from the
Chung Yuen Christian University, Taiwan, a master’s degree of Business
Administration from City University of Seattle, and an Executive Master’s
of Business Administration degree from National Taiwan University. Prior
to joining the Group, he was appointed as Director of Quality Assurance
Department of WWX. He has over 24 year of experience in semiconductor
industry and has over 21 year of experience in quality assurance.

Mr. ZHANG Yuewen (3R§837), aged 47, the Director of Marketing (& $#
#EL of the Jinzhou Plants. He joined the Group on 16 May 2003. He
graduated from $#2MEBREBEEER AR (Jinzhou Communist Party School
in Economic and Management®). Prior to joining the Group, he worked in
the supply division of Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Limited as
a deputy division head and then the division head.

Mr. CHEN Limin (R 3 ), aged 43, the Technical Director of Jinzhou
Plants. He joined the Group on 30 December 2000. He graduated
from the Ore Mining Faculty of the 9 JI| 3 #f £ Bz (Sichuan College of
Construction Materials*). Prior to joining the Group, he worked for Fi#EH
RIFE (% E ) AR A 8 (Xinhua Shixi Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.*).
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Senior Management (continued)

Dr. CHEN Wei (BRE¥), aged 41, Special Assistant to the Chairman and
Overseas Sales Representative. She joined the Group in July 2006. She
obtained her Doctor of Philosophy in Management at Wuhan University
of Technology (H £ T KE) in 2005. Prior to joining the Group, she
was appointed Vice-President of Xi’an International Trade Promotion Co.
Ltd. (AR HIMEEEHRE A F) and the Vice-President of International
Transport Division of Shaanxi Machinery & Equipment Import & Export
Corp. (RAEBMKZHBED O QA REBEES A R).
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Report of the Directors
EEgHREE

The Directors present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company of the Group.
The principal activities of the Group are the trading of, manufacturing of
and provision of processing services for polysilicon and monocrystalline
and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, and the producing of
and trading of photovoltaic cells and modules as well as the installation
of photovoltaic systems. The analysis of the principal activities and
geographical locations of the operations of the subsidiaries during the
financial year are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s top five customers are mainly silicon solar wafer, cell or
modules manufacturers or traders. In aggregate, the largest and five
largest customers did not exceed 18% (2010: 23%) and 48% (2010:
58%) of the Group’s total sales in 2011 respectively. The Group currently
procures raw materials from about 51 suppliers (2010: 48). In aggregate,
purchases from its largest and five largest suppliers did not exceed 16%
(2010: 23%) and 42% (2010: 51%) of the Group’s total purchases in
2011 respectively. Save for WWX, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had any interest in these major suppliers and/or customers.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 76 to 172. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2011 (2010: RMB3.5
cents (HK4.1 cents) per share).

Transfer to Reserves

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011 was RMB54,291,000 (2010: RMB214,121,000) had
been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 81.

As at 31 December 2011, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB1,336,804,000 (2010:
RMB819,574,000).
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB683,000 (2010: RMB810,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2011 are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the annual report.

Directors
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua, Chairman
(appointed as Chairman on 28 March 2011)
Mr. HSU You Yuan, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. ZHANG Liming
Mr. TAN Xin
(appointed with effect from 28 December 2011)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai (resigned as Chairman on 28 March 2011)
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai

(resigned with effect from 1 December 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. FU Shuangye

Dr. LIN Wen

Mr. ZHANG Chun

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. TAN Xin, Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms. FU Shuangye and Dr.
LIN Wen will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being
eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election.
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Report of the Directors
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service agreement with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

The Group has entered into a number of agreements with parties which
are regarded as a connected person for the Company under the Listing
Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the Company’s continuing connected transactions, details of
which are set out below.

A.  Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
The following transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules
and would be exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement but are subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules:

Provision of water and heat services by fEMEL Y EEIEER
723 7] (Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited”)
(“Jinzhou Huarong”)

On 12 January 2008, Jinzhou Huarong entered into a framework
service agreement with the Company pursuant to which Jinzhou
Huarong agreed to provide water and heat (the “Services”) to the
Company and its subsidiaries designated by it from time to time.
The agreement commenced on 31 March 2008 and expired on 31
December 2009.

On 2 December 2009, the Company has entered into a new service
agreement (the “New Service Agreement”) with Jinzhou Huarong to
renew the pre-existing agreement as well as to determine the annual
cap for the transactions for the years ending 31 December 2012.
The term of the New Service Agreement commenced on 1 January
2010 and will expire on 31 December 2012.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

A.

*

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Provision of water and heat services by Jinzhou Huarong (continued)
The New Service Agreement was entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
fees to be charged by Jinzhou Huarong in relation to the Services
were determined comparable to the prevailing market prices in local
markets in the PRC based on the actual consumption of the water
and heat supplied to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate fees paid by
the Group to Jinzhou Huarong in relation to the Services amounted
to approximately RMB2,031,000 (2010: RMB1,459,000).

Based on an estimate of the Group’s expected consumption
of water and heat for the year ending 31 December 2012, it is
expected that the annual cap amounts payable by the Group under
the renewed Service Agreement will not exceed RMB2,450,000.

The above annual cap amounts are determined with reference
to the Group’s expected increase in production capacity and the
increase in the expected consumption of water and heat in the
production process resulting therefrom the expected utilisation
rate of the Group’s production capacity for the three years ending
31 December 2012, and the expected inflation rate in the PRC for
2010.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Huarong is owned as to 90% by 8 M ZEETREH R 484 20
(“Huaxin Silicon”), a sole proprietorship established in the PRC
and wholly-owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua and as to 10% by an
independent third party. Jinzhou Huarong is an associate of Mr.
TAN Wenhua and hence a connected person of the Company.
Consequently, the transactions under the New Service Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules and are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement but are subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements set out in Rules
14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules.

English translation of Chinese official name is for identification purpose only
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Jixing and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Jixing

On 17 April 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Jinzhou Jixing (formerly known as Jinzhou Aoke
New Materials Co., Ltd.) (the “Jinzhou Jixing Agreement”) pursuant
to which (a) the Company agreed to sell, or procure its subsidiaries
to sell and Jinzhou Jixing agreed to purchase, or procure its
subsidiaries to purchase, wire slurry (the “Sale Transactions”); and
(b) Jinzhou Jixing agreed to sell, or procure its subsidiaries to sell,
and the Company agreed to purchase, or procure its subsidiaries
to purchase, recycled abrasives and mineral oil which serve as the
Group’s materials for the slicing of silicon solar ingots into silicon
solar wafers (the “Purchase Transactions”).

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders on 12 June 2009. Upon approval, the Jinzhou Jixing
Agreement commenced on 17 April 2009 and has expired on 31
December 2011.

On 19 December 2011, the Company has entered into a new
framework agreement (the “New Jinzhou Jixing Agreement”) with
Jinzhou Jixing to renew the pre-existing agreement as well as to
determine the annual cap amounts for the transactions for the three
years ending 31 December 2014. The term of the New Jinzhou
Jixing Agreement has taken effect on 1 January 2012 and will expire
on 31 December 2014.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Jixing and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Jixing (continued)

The New Jinzhou Jixing Agreement was entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business and on normal commercial terms.
The basis of determining the prices for the Sale Transactions or
the Purchase Transactions (as the case may be) is determined
with reference to the prevailing market price of wire slurry or the
Processed Materials (as the case may be). Other business terms
of the Sale Transactions or the Purchase Transactions (as the
case may be) will be determined on an individual order basis and
the terms of which are on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable to the Company than the terms available to or from
independent third parties (as the case may be). Payments for the
Sale Transactions or the Purchase Transactions (as the case may
be) will be determined based on normal commercial terms to be
agreed after arm’s length negotiation between the Group and
Jinzhou Jixing Group from time to time, including without limitation,
payment by cash on delivery, payment with a credit term ranging
from 30 to 90 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of
the sale price paid by Jinzhou Jixing to the Group in relation to the
sale of wire slurry amounted to approximately RMB22,725,000
(2010: RMB15,302,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of
the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Jixing in relation
to the purchase of recycled abrasives and mineral oil amounted to
approximately RMB11,889,000 (2010: RMB3,210,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the Sales Transaction for the
three years ending 31 December 2014, it is expected that the
following annual cap amounts receivable by the Group under the

Sales Transactions will not exceed:

(@ RMB42,500,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012;

(b) RMB42,500,000 for the year ending 31 December 2013; and

(c) RMB42,500,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A

TERGE2HERERS @)

A

ERGEBETHURRMERE 2 FERE
Z

R5 (&)

PHERHE T 58 M 2 EIL [ 57 M & B B B R A 4T
B R K ()

MBMNEEBRIRAER —REBERFRER
BIRIRAET L - HERZHABER S (RBERME)
HMERTISZWERA N TR (RIERME) WE R
TEEE - HEXZABEXS (RERME)HE
B ERTSRERNTERELEEE - HIFKRER
BEGRHETY » BTERARAOREBIE=
FREGEBRME) BER - HEXSZRBERS
(RIBERTE) 2 T RA R B I 87/ B e SR A
DAFPEFRIRBHENEEBEEREE - BFE
TRIRUEEZAREZER - RFNFI0E0H
TEZEEH -

BE-—Z——F+-A=+—-HILEE #HENM
FEHRASEXNEHFEEDENEBLES
BN ARME2,725000T (ZE—FF 1 AR
15,302,00037T) ©

BE-B——5+-A=t+—ALFE  BA%E
BN E R (B E RS A BV RIEE
MBAESEABNARE1,880,0007 (=B —
TF ¢ AR¥3,210,0007T) ©

RRESMABE-ZT-—EOF+=A=+—HL=
BFEENHERS B AKEREHERZNE
[ FRAEWEER

@ MEBEZE-Z-—-—F+-A=+—HLEER
BB A R#42,500,0007T ;

b)) BMEBE-_Z—=F+"_A=1+—HLEFES
BB A R#42,500,0007C 5 B

© HMBEZE-NF+ZAZ+-HLEFEF
i A R#42,500,0007T °



Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Jixing and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Jixing (continued)

The proposed annual caps under the Sale Transactions are
determined with reference to, among other things, (i) the Group’s
silicon solar wafer production capacity as at 19 December 2011;
(i) the anticipated increase in Jinzhou Jixing’s demand for wire
slurry; and (iii) the average market price of wire slurry sold to an
independent third party and Jinzhou Jixing in 2011.

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the Purchase Transaction for
the three years ending 31 December 2014, it is expected that the
following annual cap amounts payable by the Group under the
Purchase Transactions will not exceed:

(@ RMB22,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012;

(b) RMB22,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2013; and

() RMB22,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014.

The proposed annual caps under the Purchase Transactions are
determined with reference to, among other things, (i) the actual
quantity of abrasives and mineral oil used by the Group in 2010;
(i) the Group’s silicon solar wafer production capacity as at 19
December 2011; (iii) the average recycled rate of abrasives and
mineral oil, respectively, and hence the estimated quantity of
recycled abrasives and mineral oil to be produced by Jinzhou Jixing
from the processing of wire slurry to be supplied by the Group; and
(iv) the estimated price of recycled abrasives and mineral oil to be
purchased from Jinzhou Jixing which are determined by reference to
the market price of brand new abrasives and mineral oil purchased
from Independent Third Parties and the processing fee of wire slurry
charged by independent third parties.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Jixing and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Jixing (continued)

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Jixing is owned as to 35% by Jinzhou Yuexin (a PRC
company wholly owned by Mr. Tan Xin, a Director of the Company
and the son of Mr. Tan Wenhua) and as to 65% by Independent
Third Parties. For the purpose of the Sale Transactions and the
Purchase Transactions, the Directors considered that Jinzhou
Jixing should be treated as an associate of Mr. Tan Wenhua and
hence a connected person of the Company. Hence, the Directors
consider that the Sale Transactions and the Purchase Transactions
under the New Jinzhou Jixing Framework Agreement should
continue to be subject to the continuing connected transactions
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in order to
provide the Shareholders and potential investors with information
relating to the transactions contemplated under the New Jinzhou
Jixing Framework Agreement on a voluntary basis. Consequently,
the Sales Transactions and Purchase Transactions under the
New Jinzhou Jixing Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing
Rules and are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement but are subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules.

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers
by ERINRZEF BRI FIERL F Jinzhou Jingxin Semi-conductor
Material Company Limited* (“Jinzhou Jingxin”)

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Jinzhou Jingxin (the “Jingxin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
engage or procure its subsidiaries to engage Jinzhou Jingxin for
the provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers
which is necessary for slicing of silicon solar ingots into silicon solar
wafers.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the Jingxin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the Jingxin
Guide Rollers Service Agreement commenced on 2 November 2009
and has expired on 31 December 2011.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers by
Jinzhou Jingxin (continued)

On 19 December 2011, the Company has entered into a new
framework agreement (the “New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement”) with Jinzhou Jingxing to renew the pre-existing
agreement as well as to determine the annual cap amounts for the
transactions for the years ending 31 December 2014. The term of
the New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service Agreement has taken effect
on 1 January 2012 and will expire on 31 December 2014.

The New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service Agreement was entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business and on normal
commercial terms. The basis of determining the prices for
the transactions under the New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement are determined with reference to the prevailing market
price for the provision of service for re-coating and re-grooving
guide rollers. The terms of the New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder will be
determined on an individual order basis and the terms of which are
on normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the Company
than the terms available from independent third parties. Payments
for the transactions under the New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement will either be cash on delivery or on such credit terms as
may be agreed between the parties on normal commercial terms
and no less favourable to the Company than terms available from
independent third parties. It is agreed that Jinzhou Jingxin will grant
to the Group a credit period of 30 to 90 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount
of the service fee paid by the Group to Jinzhou Jingxin under the
Jingxin Guide Rollers Service Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB2,545,000 (2010: RMB2,653,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the transaction under the New
Jingxin Guide Rollers Service Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2014, it is expected that the following annual cap
amounts payable by the Group will not exceed:
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers by
Jinzhou Jingxin (continued)

(@ RMB3,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012;

(b) RMB3,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2013; and

(c) RMBS3,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014.

The proposed annual caps under the New Jingxin Guide Rollers
Agreement are determined with reference to, among other things,
(i) the Group’s silicon solar wafer production capacity as at 19
December 2011; and (i) the projected service fee for re-coating and
re-grooving guide rollers in the next three financial years.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Jingxin is owned as to 40% by Ms. Chen Man, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. Tan Wenhua, as to 10% by Ms. Chen
Man’s aunt and as to 50% by independent third parties. For the
purpose of the transactions under the New Jingxin Guide Rollers
Service Agreement, the Directors consider that Jinzhou Jingxin
should be treated as an associate of Mr. Tan Wenhua and hence
a connected person of the Company. Hence, the Directors
consider that the transactions under the New Jingxin Guide Rollers
Service Agreement should be subject to the continuing connected
transaction requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in order to provide the Shareholders and potential investors with
information relating to the transactions contemplated under the
New Jingxin Guide Rollers Service Agreement on a voluntary basis.
Consequently, the transactions under the New Jingxin Guide Rollers
Service Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules and are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
but are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers by
Jinzhou Youlin

On 19 December 2011, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Jinzhou Youlin (the “Youlin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to engage
or procure its subsidiaries to engage Jinzhou Youlin for the provision
of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers which is
necessary for slicing of silicon solar ingots into silicon solar wafers.
The term of the Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement has taken
effect on 1 January 2012 and will expire on 31 December 2014.

The Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms. The basis of determining the prices for the transactions
under the Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement are determined
with reference to the prevailing market price for the provision of
service for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers. The terms of
the Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder will be determined on an individual order
basis and the terms of which are on normal commercial terms and
no less favourable to the Company than the terms available from
independent third parties. Payments for the transactions under
the Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement will either be cash on
delivery or on such credit terms as may be agreed between the
parties on normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the
Company than terms available from independent third parties. It is
agreed that Jinzhou Youlin will grant to the Group a credit period of
30 to 90 days.

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the transaction under the
Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2014, it is expected that the following annual cap

amounts payable by the Group will not exceed:

(@ RMB3,500,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012;

(b) RMB3,500,000 for the year ending 31 December 2013; and

(c) RMB3,500,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(continued)

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers by
Jinzhou Youlin (continued)

The proposed annual caps under the Youlin Guide Rollers
Agreement are determined with reference to, among other things,
(i) the Group’s silicon solar wafer production capacity as at 19
December 2011; and (ji) the projected service fee for re-coating and
re-grooving guide rollers in the next three financial years.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Youlin Semi-conductor is owned as to 87% by Ms. Chen Man, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. Tan Wenhua, and as to 13% by independent
third parties. Jinzhou Youlin is therefore an associate of Mr.
Tan Wenhua and hence a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the transactions under the Youlin Guide Rollers Service
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Consequently,
the transactions under the Youlin Guide Rollers Service Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules and are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement but are subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements set out in Rules
14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company and are thus subject to
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Rules 14A.45 to 14A.48 of the Listing Rules:

Supply of graphite materials by /M SR E 4| RER A T
(Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited®) (“Jinzhou
Changhua”) and supply of quartz crucibles by $#M{EZE FHH
APFRAF (Jinzhou Youxin Electronic Materials Co., Ltd.*) (“Jinzhou
Youxin”)
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework
supply agreement with Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin
pursuant to which Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin agreed
to supply graphite materials and quartz crucibles respectively to
the Company or its subsidiaries as requested by them from time
to time. Such graphite materials and quartz crucibles serve as the
essential materials for the Group’s production of silicon ingots. The
supply agreement commenced on 31 March 2008 and expired
on 31 December 2009. Formal purchase agreements (by way of
purchase orders and confirmations) were entered into between the
Group, Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin (as the case may be)
with the detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant
purchase orders. The purchase arrangement under the supply
agreement has been conducted on normal commercial terms and
on terms no less favourable than those available from independent
third parties.

On 2 December 2009, the Company has entered into a new supply
agreement (the “New Materials Supply Agreement”) with Jinzhou
Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin to renew the pre-existing agreement
as well as to determine the annual cap for the transactions for the
years ending 31 December 2012. The Company has obtained the
approval from its independent shareholders in respect of the New
Materials Supply Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval,
the term of the New Materials Supply Agreement commenced on 1
January 2010 and will expire on 31 December 2012.

The New Materials Supply Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and on normal
commercial terms. The purchase price payable by the Group to
Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin (as the case may be) under
the New Materials Supply Agreement is estimated based on the
expected purchase amount of the graphite materials and quartz
crucibles and is comparable to the prevailing market prices.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount
of the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Changhua in
relation to the sale and purchase of graphite materials amounted to
approximately RMB55,133,000 (2010: RMB34,737,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount
of the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Youxin for
the purchase of quartz crucibles amounted to approximately
RMB110,886,000 (2010: RMB58,429,000).
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the purchase of graphite
materials and quartz crucibles for the year ending 31 December
2012, it is expected that the annual cap amounts payable by the
Group for transactions under the New Materials Supply Agreement
will not exceed RMB419,594,000.

The above annual cap amounts are determined with reference to
(a) the costs incurred by the Group for the purchase of the graphite
materials and quartz crucibles for the first nine months ended
30 September 2009; (b) the expected increase in the Group’s
production capacity for the three years ending 31 December 2012;
(c) the expected increase in demand for the graphite materials and
quartz crucibles for the production requirements of the Group in
anticipation of the expected increase in demand for the Group’s
products; and (d) the expected utilisation rate of the Group’s
production capacity for the three years ending 31 December 2012.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Changhua is owned as to 40% by Huaxin Silicon, which is
owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua, and as to 60% by Prosperity Lamps
& Components Limited (“PLC”) which is owned as to 65% by Mr.
CHONG Kin Ngai’s wholly-owned companies. Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai
was a non-executive Director before he tendered his resignation
on 1 December 2011. Jinzhou Changhua is therefore an associate
of each of Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai and hence
a connected person of the Company. To the best of the Director’s
knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable
enquiry, as at the date of this report, Jinzhou Youxin was owned
as to 30% by PLC, and as to 70% by an independent third party.
Jinzhou Youxin is therefore an associate of Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai
and hence a connected person of the Company. Consequently, the
transactions under the New Materials Supply Agreement constitute
non-exempt continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Supply of scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX
On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework
supply agreement with WWX pursuant to which WWX agreed to
supply, and/or procure its subsidiaries (“WWX Group”) to supply
scrap polysilicon raw material, scrap ingots and scrap wafers to
the Company or its subsidiaries as requested by them from time to
time. Such scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers serve
as the Group’s materials for its production of wafers. The supply
agreement had a term commencing on 31 March 2008 and expired
on 31 December 2009. Formal purchase agreements (by way of
purchase orders and confirmations) were entered into between the
Company (and/or its subsidiaries) and WWX (and/or its subsidiaries)
with the detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant
purchase orders. The purchase arrangements under the supply
agreement were conducted on normal commercial terms and on
terms no less favourable than those available from independent third
parties.

The WWX Supply Agreement was entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
purchase price payable by the Group to WWX under the WWX
Supply Agreement is estimated based on the expected purchase
amount of the scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers and is
comparable to the prevailing market prices in the scrap polysilicon,
scrap ingots and scrap wafers market in the PRC.

On 4 June 2008, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “WWX Supplemental Supply Agreement”) with
WWHX to revise the caps for the transactions under the WWX
Supply Agreement as well as to determine the annual cap for the
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2010. The Company
had obtained the approval from its independent shareholders in
respect of the WWX Supplemental Supply Agreement on 27 June
2008. Upon approval, the term of the WWX Supplemental Supply
Agreement commenced on 27 June 2008 and has expired on 31
December 2010.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Supply of scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX
(continued)

On 3 November 2010, the Company has entered into a new supply
agreement (the “New WWX Supply Agreement”) with WWX to renew
the pre-existing agreement as well as to determine the annual
cap for the transactions for the years ending 31 December 2013.
The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the New WWX Supply Agreement on 26
January 2011. Upon approval, the term of the New WWX Supply
Agreement commenced on 1 January 2011 and will expire on 31
December 2013.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of
the purchase price paid by the Group to the WWX Group in relation
to the supply of scrap polysilicon raw material, scrap ingots and
scrap wafers amounted to approximately RMB18,665,000 (2010:
RMB84,430,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the purchase of scrap
polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers for the two years ending
31 December 2013, it is expected that the following annual cap
amounts payable by the Group for transactions under the New
WWX Supply Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB223,800,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012; and

(b) RMB229,900,000 for the year ending 31 December 2013.

The above annual cap amounts are determined with reference to
(i) the expected increase in the Group’s production capacity for the
three years ending 31 December 2013; (i) the expected percentage
volume of polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers to be procured
from WWX; (jii) the outstanding amount of procurement contract
entered into with WWX; (iv) the production ratio of silicon solar ingot
to polysilicon; and (v) the expected changes in the market price of
polysilicon for the three years ending 31 December 2013.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
WWX holds 100% interests in Wafer Works Investment Corp.
(“WWIC”). WWIC is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Each
of WWX and its subsidiaries is therefore an associate of WWIC and
hence a connected person of the Company. Consequently, the
transactions under the New WWX Supply Agreement constitute
non-exempt continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Sale of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers to WWX

On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework sale
agreement with WWX (the “WWX Sale Agreement”) pursuant to
which the Company has agreed to sell, or procure its subsidiaries
to sell upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers to WWX and/or its subsidiaries. The WWX Sale
Agreement had a term commencing on 31 March 2008 and expired
on 31 December 2009. Formal sale agreements (by way of purchase
orders and confirmations) were entered into between the Company
(and/or its subsidiaries) and WWX (and/or its subsidiaries) with the
detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant purchase
orders. The sale arrangements under the WWX Sale Agreement
were conducted on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable than those available from independent third parties.

The WWX Sale Agreement was entered in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
purchase price payable by WWX to the Group under the WWX Sale
Agreement is determined with reference to the prevailing market
price of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers.

On 4 June 2008, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (“the WWX Supplemental Sale Agreement”) to revise the
caps for the transactions under the WWX Sale Agreement as well as
to determine the annual cap for the transactions for the year ended
31 December 2010. The Company had obtained the approval from
its independent shareholders in respect of the WWX Supplemental
Sale Agreement on 27 June 2008. Upon approval, the term of the
WWX Supplemental Sale Agreement commenced on 27 June 2008
and has expired on 31 December 2010.

On 3 November 2010, the Company has entered into a new sale
agreement (the “New WWX Sale Agreement”) with WWX to renew
the pre-existing agreement as well as to determine the annual cap
for the transactions for the year ending 31 December 2013. The
Company has obtained the approval from its shareholders in respect
of the New WWX Sale Agreement on 26 January 2011. Upon
approval, the term of the New WWX Sale Agreement commenced
on 1 January 2011 and will expire on 31 December 2013.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Sale of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers to WWX (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of
the sales proceeds received by the Group from the WWX Group in
relation to the sale of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon
solar ingot and silicon solar wafers amounted to approximately RMB
Nil (2010: RMB950,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the sales of upgraded and
processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and silicon solar wafers
for the two years ending 31 December 2013, it is expected that
the following annual cap amounts receivable by the Group for
transactions under the WWX New Sale Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB403,200,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012; and

(b) RMB229,900,000 for the year ending 31 December 2013.

The above annual cap amounts under the New WWX Sale
Agreement are determined with reference to (i) the Group’s
expected increase in processing capacity for the three years ending
31 December 2013; (ii) the estimated WWX’s demand for ingots
and wafers for its business in the photovoltaic industry; and (i) the
expected changes in the market price of silicon solar ingots and
wafers for the three years ending 31 December 2013.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Supply of scrap polysilicon,
scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX” above, WWX is a
connected person of the Company and the transactions under
the New WWX Sale Agreement therefore constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

The provision of services in respect of acidic wash of silicon, the
processing and production of polysilicon and wafers to WWX

On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework
processing agreement with WWX pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide, or procure its subsidiaries to provide the services
in respect of acidic wash of silicon, the processing and recycling
of top and tail scrap, pot scrap and scrap silicon into polysilicon
and other raw materials necessary for the production of silicon
solar ingots as well as the processing and production of silicon
solar wafers to WWX or its subsidiaries. The processing agreement
had a term commencing on 31 March 2008 and expired on 31
December 2009. Formal agreements (by way of processing orders
and confirmations) were entered into between the Company (and/
or its subsidiaries) and WWX (and/or its subsidiaries) with the
detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant processing
orders. The processing arrangements under the WWX Processing
Agreement were conducted on normal commercial terms and on
terms no less favourable than those available from independent third
parties.

On 2 December 2009, the Company has entered into a new
processing agreement (“New WWX Processing Agreement”)
to renew the pre-existing processing agreement as well as to
determine the annual cap for the transactions for the years ending
31 December 2012. The Company has obtained the approval
from its independent shareholders in respect of the New WWX
Processing Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the
term of the New WWX Processing Agreement commenced on 1
January 2010 and will expire on 31 December 2012.

The New WWX Processing Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms. The processing fee is subject to the individual processing
orders placed by the WWX Group with the Group and is determined
with reference to the prevailing market price in respect of the
processing services provided by a comparable sub-contractors in
the PRC market.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, no fee was received by the
Group from the WWX Group in relation to acidic wash of silicon, the
processing and recycling of top and tail scrap, pot scrap and scrap
silicon (2010: RMB Nil).
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EEEmEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

The provision of services in respect of acidic wash of silicon, the
processing and production of polysilicon and wafers to WWX
(continued)

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the processing services in the
year ending 31 December 2012, it is expected that the annual cap
amounts receivable by the Group for transactions under the New
WWX Processing Agreement will not exceed RMB448,409,000.

The above annual cap amounts are determined with reference
to (a) the Group’s expected increase in processing capacity for
the three years ending 31 December 2012; and (b) the estimated
WWX’s demand for recycled polysilicon materials required for its
semiconductor production.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Supply of scrap polysilicon,
scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX” above, WWX is a
connected person of the Company. The transactions under the
New WWX Processing Agreement therefore constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.35 of the Listing Rules.

Supply of solar cells from Huachang Guangfu to the Group

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Huachang Guangfu (the “Solar Cells Supply
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
purchase (or procure its subsidiaries to purchase), and Huachang
Guangfu has agreed to supply, solar cells.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the Solar Cells Supply Agreement
on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the Solar Cells Supply
Agreement commenced on 2 November 2009 and has expired on
31 December 2011.

The transactions under the Solar Cells Supply Agreement were
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and on normal commercial terms. The prices for
the transactions under the Solar Cells Supply Agreement are
determined in accordance with the prevailing market price of solar
cells and the quantities to be purchased by the Group. The terms of
the Solar Cells Supply Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder are determined on an individual purchase order basis
and the terms of which are on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable to the Company than terms available from independent
third parties. Payments for the transactions under the Solar Cells
Supply Agreement are on such credit terms as may be agreed
between the parties on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable to the Company than terms available from independent
third parties.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Supply of solar cells from Huachang Guangfu to the Group (continued)
For the period from 1 January 2011 to 26 January 2011 (both
days inclusive), the aggregate amount of purchase price paid by
the Group to Huachang Guangfu under the Solar Cells Supply
Agreement amounted to approximately RMB54,397,000 (2010:
RMB47,602,000).

On 26 January 2011, all the interests of Huachang Guangfu has
been acquired by the Group and become a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group. The transactions between the Group and Huachang
Guangfu therefore no longer constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the
Listing Rules.

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by Inventec Energy Corporation (“Inventec”).
(Formerly known as Kinmac Solar Corporation) to the Group

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Inventec (the “First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
engage (or procure its subsidiaries to engage) Inventec for the
provision of, and Inventec has agreed to provide, the service for
the installation of photovoltaic system for solar energy generation
(the “Installation Service”) to the Group for the development of the
Group’s photovoltaic system integrator business on a non-exclusive
basis in such amounts and quantities as the Company may require
on and subject to the terms and conditions of the First Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement. The exact transaction amount of
the First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement will depend on
the Group’s demand for the Installation Service and its production
capacity of solar modules. By entering into the First Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement, the Group is not obliged to engage
Inventec for the Installation Service for any fixed amount during the
term of the First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the First
Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement commenced on 2
November 2009 and has expired on 31 December 2011.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by Inventec (continued)

The transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group and on normal commercial terms. The prices
for the transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement are determined in accordance with the prevailing market
price of the Installation Service to be provided by independent
third parties. The terms of the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder are
determined on normal commercial terms on a project-by-project
basis as offered to other independent third parties who provide
similar services for installation of photovoltaic system. Payments
for the transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement are mutually agreed between the Company and Inventec
on a project-by-project basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, no service fee was paid
by the Group to Inventec under the First Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement (2010: Nil).

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at 31 December 2011, $8 /1
RIS R EHE B R A | Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology
Co., Ltd* (“Jinzhou Jinmao”) is owned as to 51% by Jinzhou
Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company), as to 35% by Inventec Holding Limited and as to
14% by an independent third party. Jinzhou Jinmao is treated as a
subsidiary of the Company. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiry, Inventec
Holding Limited is wholly owned by Inventec. As Inventec is entitled
to control the exercise of 35% voting right in Jinzhou Jinmao,
Inventec is a substantial shareholder of Jinzhou Jinmao for the
purpose of the Listing Rules and hence the Company’s connected
person at the subsidiary level. Consequently, the Directors consider
that the transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement should constitute non-exempt continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rules 14A.45 to
14A.48 of the Listing Rules.

No renewal of First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement has
been made after the expiry thereof.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by the Group to Inventec

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Inventec (the “Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement”) pursuant to which Inventec has agreed
to engage the Company for the provision of, and the Company
has agreed to provide (or procure its subsidiaries to provide), the
Installation Service to Inventec on a non-exclusive basis in such
amounts and quantities as Inventec may require on and subject
to the terms and conditions of the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement. The exact transaction amount of the
Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement will depend on
Inventec’s demand for the Installation Service and its production
capacity of solar modules. By entering into the Second Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement, Inventec is not obliged to engage
the Company for the Installation Service for any fixed amount during
the term of the Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the
Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement commenced on
2 November 2009 and has expire on 31 December 2011.

The transactions under the Second Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement were entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and on normal commercial terms. The
prices for the transactions under the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement are determined in accordance with the
prevailing market price of the Installation Service to be provided by
independent third parties. The terms of the Second Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder are determined on normal commercial terms on a
project-by-project basis as offered to other independent third parties
who provide similar services for installation of photovoltaic system.
Payments for the transactions under the Second Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement are mutually agreed between the
Company and Inventec on a project-by-project basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, no service fee was paid
by Inventec to the Group under the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement (2010: Nil).
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions (continued)
B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by the Group to Inventec (continued)

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Provision of service for
the installation of photovoltaic system for solar energy generation
by Inventec Solar Corporation (“Inventec”) to the Group” above,
Inventec is a connected person of the Company. The transactions
under the Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement
therefore constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.

No renewal of Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement
has been made after the expiry thereof.

The transactions as set out in section (A) “Continuing Connected
Transactions Exempt from the Independent Shareholders’ Approval
Requirements” above constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Group which are exempt from independent shareholders’
approval under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules and are subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements set out in Rule
14A.35 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules. The transactions as set out
in section (B) “Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions”
above are subject to reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements set out in Rules 14A.45 to
14A.48 of the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed and the
Independent Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) for the year ended 31 December 2011 were entered
into and conducted:

()  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(i)  either on normal commercial terms or terms no less favourable
to the Company than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
and the terms and the proposal annual caps set out above that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected

Transactions (continued)

B. Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)
Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by the Group to Inventec (continued)
The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group from pages 156 to 159 of the
Annual Report in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.38.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange. The related party transactions entered into by
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 as set out in note
35 to the financial statements fall under the definition of “continuing
connected transactions” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transaction

On 8 November 2010, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with seven vendors which include You Hua Investment
Corporation (a company wholly owned by Mr. Tan Wenhua, an executive
Director) and PLC (which is held as to 65% by the companies wholly
owned by Mr. Chong Kin Ngai, a non-executive Director at that time)
whereby the Company agreed to acquire a 100% equity interest in Sino
Light Investment Limited at a consideration of HK$835,200,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB709,586,000), which was to be settled in full by the
issue of convertible bonds of the Company (the “Bonds”) in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$835,200,000 (the “Acquisition”). The Bonds
were issued to the vendors on 26 January 2011 upon completion of the
Acquisition. The Bonds, which are zero-coupon bonds, can be converted
into 435,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$1.92 per share during the period between 28 March 2011 and 25
January 2013 i.e. the maturity date (both days inclusive) on and subject to
the terms and conditions of the Bonds. The Company shall redeem each
Bond then outstanding at a value equal to the aggregate principal amount
then outstanding on the maturity date by issuing shares in the Company
to the bondholder at the conversion price of HK$1.92 per share. The
Bonds shall not be transferable without prior written consent of the
Company and shall not confer on the bondholder(s) the right to vote at a
general meeting of the Company.
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Connected Transaction (continued)

As the associate of Mr. Tan Wenhua and that of Mr. Chong Kin Ngai
as the vendors were parties to the Acquisition, the Acquisition and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constituted connected transaction
for the Company under the Listing Rules and were subject to approval
by the independent shareholders of the Company. The Acquisition was
completed on 26 January 2011 after the independent shareholders’
approval was obtained on the same day. As the consideration for
disposing of their respective interests in Sino Light Investments Limited,
You Hua Investment Corporation and PLC were issued the Bonds in the
principal amount of HK$268,393,493 and HK$64,334,376, respectively.

Upon completion of the Acquisition, Sino Light Investments Limited
and its subsidiaries (including Huachang Guangfu) has become wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company. The Bonds were fully converted into
435,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company on 21 June 2011.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally approved and adopted the share option
scheme on 27 February 2008 (“Share Option Scheme”) in which certain
participants may be granted options to subscribe for the ordinary shares
in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.10
each (“Shares”). The Directors believe that the Share Option Scheme will
be important for the recruitment and retention of quality executives and
employees.

The subscription price for the shares under the share option to be granted
will be determined by the Board and will be the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must
be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of
dealing in securities;

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i)~ the nominal value of a Share.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares in issue immediately following completion of
the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing”)
(but taking no account of any Shares which may be sold pursuant to the
exercise of the over-allotment option in connection with the Listing) and
capitalisation issue, being 169,076,650 Shares which represents 7.54%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Share Option Scheme (continued)

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2011 was 158,186,650 Shares which
represents 7.06% of the existing issued share capital of the Company (after
deducting the grant of options to subscribe for 42,269,163 Shares on 29
December 2008 and adding back the number of options to subscribe for
10,285,000 Shares and 21,094,163 Share lapsed on 30 April 2009 and
31 December 2010, respectively).

No option may be granted to any person such that the total number of
Shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the number of
Shares of the Company in issue.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
of Directors of the Company, which must not be more than 10 years from
the date of the grant.

No share option was granted under the Share Option Scheme during the
year.

Saved as otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale Or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2011.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations
As at 31 December 2011, so far as the Directors are aware, the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company and their associates had the
following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code:

EEREQRFARSTHRABREQFR
HEBZEARD - HEROREZH

EERKRE

RZZB——§+ZA=+—B BESHE  EFRAX
RARSBTHAERFEE ZBHEA T RA QT R EARR
EE(ERRFSRBEEPEXVED) WIRD - BERS
REST - EECREMRIERE 5 R B ERHIZE362FF
EFENELMACRERETHNE R AT RBAR
BRI

Number of ordinary Approximate

shares held percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding (%)
Name of Director Nature interest FFEEERHEE #HABEREIHK
EEpgE ERaME (Mt 5£1) (%)
Mr. TAN Wenhua Beneficial interest (Note 2) 475,761,999 (L) 21.22%
BXELEE BERfEm(MIE2)
Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2) 139,788,278 (L) 6.23%
TEEEER(E2)
Interest in options (Note 3) 10,055,625 (L) 0.45%
BB IR R Y R & (T RE3)
Security interest (Note 3) 10,055,625 (L) 0.45%
I 97 = (KT EE3)
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporations 113,583,027 (L) 5.06%
HEHEE (M) SEEERER
(resigned on 1 December 2011) Personal interest 2,449,500 (L) 0.11%
(R=F——F+=A—B&HE) AR
Trustee’s interest 21,461,460 (L) 0.96%
FIEAER
Family interest 1,100,000 (L) 0.05%
RiEfER
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S

Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations

BEENRADNTRSTERAERARATR
HEEBEIENRSG - HERORESH
EERAE @

(continued)

Number of ordinary

Approximate

shares held percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding (%)
Name of Director Nature interest FFEEEREE HMABEREIH
EEnE EaME (M 5E1) (%)
Mr. HSU You Yuan Beneficial interest 12,740,927 (L) 0.57%
PR ERER
Interest in options (Note 3) 1,221,085 (L) 0.05%
R R R (M EE3)
Security interest (Note 3) 1,221,085 (L) 0.05%
I 7 & &= (KT EE3)
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai Beneficial interest 6,135,500 (L) 0.27%
EygksE EEEs
Interest in an option (Note 3) 7,625,375 (L) 0.34%
PR RE R (M EE3)
Security interest (Note 3) 7,525,375 (L) 0.34%
I 7 & &= (KM EE3)
Ms. ZHANG Liming (Note 5) Beneficial interest 3,133,500 (L) 0.14%

R (M &ED)

EnfER
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations

(continued)
Note:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

(2)  As at 31 December 2011, Mr. Tan Wenhua is interested in an aggregate
of 615,550,277 Shares, of which 475,761,999 Shares are directly held by
Mr. Tan Wenhua, 139,788,278 Shares are held by You Hua Investment
Corporation, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Tan Wenhua.

(8 Mr. Tan Wenhua, Mr. Hsu You Yuan and Mr. Chiao Ping Hai are entitled
to buy back the Shares of the relevant senior management and employees
in the event that any of them cease to be employed or engaged within 4
years after 31 March 2008, being the date of the listing of the Group. These
Directors also have security interest in these Shares pursuant to a share
charge granted by the relevant employees and consultants to secure their
obligations to pay for the purchase price of the Shares and their obligations
to comply with the relevant regulatory requirements to which they are subject
to (if any).

(4) As at 31 December 2011, Mr. Chong is interested in an aggregate of
117,132,527 Shares, of which 2,449,500 Shares are directly held by Mr.
Chong, 1,100,000 Shares are held by Mr. Chong’s spouse, 64,140,040
Shares are held by Prosperity Electric Corporation (“PEC”) and 49,442,987
Shares are held by Prosperity Lamps & Components Limited (“PLC”). PLC
is held as to 20% by PEC, as to 45% by Leigh Company Limited and as to
35% by independent third parties. Both PEC and Leigh Company Limited are
wholly-owned by Mr. Chong.

Mr. Chong holds 21,461,460 Shares as trustee on behalf of certain Directors,
members of the senior management and staff of the Group. Of the said
21,461,460 Shares, 2,350,125 Shares are held by Mr. Chong in trust for Ms.
Zhang Liming, an executive Director and 2,659,375 Shares are held by Mr.
Chong in trust for Mr. Hsu You Yuan, an executive Director.

(6) As at 31 December 2011, Ms. Zhang Liming’s 2,350,125 Shares were
registered in the name of Mr. Chong as trustee who is entrusted to exercise
voting rights and hold the dividends and other distributions made in respect
of the relevant shares in trust for, among others, the relevant employees and
senior management members (if any) to the extent the relevant Shares remain
subject to a lock-up period.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and

Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2011, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the persons or corporations (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who have interest or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have
otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

FERRRHEMATARSG REBR G

PHERERAR

BE-Z——F+-A=+—H BESHE

BEx

WEEN  UTALIEB (AFESR AR RAHSTH
ABIRERTARDRAERG S - FECTHIREF
S RGO ERREFENZRMAENELRAT

rORRERAR

Number of ordinary

Approximate

shares held percentage of
(Note 1) shareholding (%)
Name Capacity FIEZTERBE ®BMOIBRESLE
2B HAE 52 (M 5E1) (%)
Wafer Works Investment Corp. Beneficial owner 344,208,822 (L) 15.35%
(“WWIC”) BmfERA
Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX”) (Note 2)  Interest of a controlled corporation 344,208,822 (L) 15.35%
ERBEROGBERLDA TEEEER
(& &BEDHFE2)
The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund Interest of a controlled corporation 122,139,421 (L) 5.45%
v, L.P. TEEERER
Jean Salata Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000 (L) 5.31%
TELIEER
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000 (L) 5.31%
Limited TEEERER
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV, L.P.  Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000 (L) 5.31%
TELIEER
Baring Private Equity Asia IV Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000 (L) 5.31%

Holding (6) Limited

= 12 % B A i

Note:

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiry, WWIC is wholly-owned by WWX as at the date of this
report. By virtue of the SFO, WWX is deemed to be interested in the Shares

held by WWIC.

1. FEILEZATRZERSNER -

2. BEBRMEE-USEEHEMRN - 2ERERE  RE
HREBH  SRBF2EEBWWIC - RIEFSRBERK
Bl &SRR BRWWICE RG H A ER o
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Directors’ Interest in Potentially Competing
Businesses

Mr. TAN Wenhua, being the Executive Director, and Mr. CHIAO Ping
Hai, being the non-executive Director are interested in other related
businesses, particulars of which are set out below:

Mr. TAN Wenhua

For the year ended 31 December 2011, Mr. Tan held approximately
40% interest in Jinzhou Changhua. Jinzhou Changhua is engaged in the
manufacturing of graphite and graphite related products. The business
of Jinzhou Changhua does not compete with that of the Group. Jinzhou
Changhua, as a company which manufactures graphite and graphite
related products, is not a competitor of the Group because (a) the
Group is not engaged in the manufacturing of graphite or any graphite
related products; and (b) graphite is not a substitute for polysilicon in the
manufacturing of solar products currently produced by the Group.

Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai

For the year ended 31 December 2011, Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai had interests
in WWX, B85 &EMEERAT (Wafer Works (Shanghai) Corp*)
(“WWXS”) and Wafer Works Epitaxial Corp. These three companies are
all engaged in the business of manufacturing silicon wafers used in the
semi-conductor industry. Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai also has indirect interests
in Helitek and Heli-Vantech, Inc., both of which are engaged in the
trading of silicon wafers used in the manufacture of semi-conductors. As
explained above, the semi-conductor industry is different from that of the
solar technology industry; thus, WWX, WWXS and Wafer Works Epitaxial
Corp., Helitek and Heli-Vantech, Inc., are not engaged in any competing
business of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Non-competition Undertaking

The Directors confirm that they have no interest in any business (apart
from the Group’s business) which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business. The Directors have also
signed a non-competition undertaking with the Company.

Disclosure on how the non-competition undertaking has been complied
with and enforced would be consistent with the principles of making
voluntary disclosures under the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 23 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the non-competition undertaking dated 27 February 2008,
Mr. TAN Wenhua shall continue to be bound by the terms of the
noncompetition undertaking in the event that he ceases to be a Director
but remains a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is
actual or potential conflict in interest.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the section headed “Connected
Transaction” on pages 41 to 64, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Retirement Benefit Schemes
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the law of Cayman lIslands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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Report of the Directors
EEEmEE

Model Code for Securities Transactions by EZE#E{TEFXZNEESA
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of ~ AAQATTHRALHHRBME+AEEESTAEREERS
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions  EBE{THESF XS NBRFFE o XD TEHERIEHRE
by the Directors. Special enquiries have been made by the Company to  #:2 » 2RESESNEE-_T——F+=-A=+—HLHF
confirm that all Directors have been complied with the Model Code for the  EBESFE%SRE| o

year ended 31 December 2011.

Corporate Governance TEER

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are  RARRANTELCEXESAEER » ENE2E31END
set out in the corporate governance report on pages 22 to 31. HEERWRS ©

Audit Committee EREEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 27 February 2008 AAFERZZEENEZAZ+tARIBEXREZES -
with terms of references adopted in compliance with the Code set out in I ER 43R BR - v 48 BI BT $% + P70 B 85 51 <7 B 41 7 A Bk A &5
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The members of the Audit Committee B - B EESHNEBIFHTESER » MBIk
are the four independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Wong Wing  HI{TESTEXELEEBREESS TR -

Kuen Albert, an independent non-executive Director, is the Chairman of

the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication BTZZEEETIEAHMEDS « JMEZ AN EE R IBAZ BED
between other Directors, the external auditor and the internal auditor — (f§ZERAIPBFZXEEL) 2HBBBR  BYERSHBE
(where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as regards their ~ FiEEERIEIIE R HMb3RE - RIPELIE ~ IR NEBEFZ
duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external LR EESRERENHMBIHHREHER -

and internal audits and such other financial and accounting matters as the

Board determines from time to time.

The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an independent BREESESDNAWMPDESEBEVRNMKBREBE K
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal  ZBEZER EAREEFIENKY - EEEXBEREBTE
control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the SHEFEERNEGERERST BRZESCEMA
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may &£EHE=-Z ——if‘ﬁPEﬁ&ﬂi FEMB®RE  BF
be assigned by the Board from time to time. The audit committee  AEEFRANETRARER -

has reviewed the Group’s interim and annual consolidated financial

statements for the year 2011, including the accounting principles and

practices adopted by the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float EALNBERE

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the RIBEAQATEBAFBRENERNRBESHAE - RK
prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued share capital &R A » DT —E 41 £ iR B FraT B9 3 L BB
of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed with the  FIBEARDQ BT BITRATOR25%HNDARIFRE o
Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly available to the

Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

Confirmation of Independence B 55 R
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive ZIK’/_‘\ﬂEEE%EM?F?)‘L"§$$E13§L$ﬁﬂ]%8 131%
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 RHENEEBYEIHERE > URATEBIFHTE

of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent Non-Executive  SB¥HABI AL -
Directors to be independent.
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EEaREE

Auditors

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by KPMG who will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment.

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
TAN Wenhua

Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 March 2012

BB
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 76 to 172, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31
December 2011, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

7/ Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B3 Y AERIZIREBR A

Independent Auditor’s Report

S RRERERER AR RR
B BE RS
(RESHSIMAL 2BRAA])

B (AT RN &M ) B FESH P BN E76E 1728
BREERERERARDUATHEHBIEQT N RENBA
AT HB EEE ) NREMERE - LUKRSEE
ERZZE-——F1+TZA=1+-HNHRER BEQIAHE
MRE  BEZHLFENGSBERER REEEKA
R RERERZPRNGSRERNBERURTESHE
RRN A MM AREER

ESHASYBBRERRENEE

BERNAMESASERETBEMASHMGH(EBY
BIHEEADREFB(DRARADNEBHRE - GREEH
BRE  USHEMBEREFELHEEM A FHRRKE
BEERRFEREESM RS AL ENRIRE) » LUEER
BB E T FEHRREFRERME B E KRR

it o

BBETHEE
RANKERRBERMANEHHRSEAUBREMEH
BR - DEOEBBRREE RIS RAOEKEF
AREEMAR - ROBFREREHASD - HEAL
fb A+ B E RS EEL -

RPEREE R AR EHNCE B BIEREST
Fit - ZEENERBPUTEERE - LRBRANT
Fit  UABREGAMBRERTTHECAEAS
SRR o



Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 HERE

Auditor’s responsibility (continueq)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2012
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥EFIE)

=

m=—F=

T—=

FH—RA=t—HLFE

Consolidated Income Statement

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Pk ARET T ARETT
Turnover B 8 2,779,223 1,854,769
Cost of sales SHERA (2,525,375) (1,441,526)
Gross profit EF 253,848 413,243
Other revenue Hihlg A 4 150,582 23,174
Other net income/(loss) Hg A~ (B518) 558 5 3,191 (2,274)
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDHHFAX (32,169) (9,669)
Administrative expenses THEX (269,315) (128,577)
Profit from operations R R 106,137 300,897
Share of losses of associates PREE A TEE (54) -
Finance costs A& A 6(a) (71,949) (18,006)
Profit before taxation BRF AT 6 34,134 282,891
Income tax credit/(expense) Fri8FiER (FA%) 7 10,021 (71,444)
Profit for the year FEEFE 44,155 211,447
Attributable to: BTN AL RS :
Equity shareholders of the Company RN BRI R 8 54,291 214,121
Non-controlling interests eI (10,136) (2,674)
Profit for the year FEFE 44,155 211,447
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREFARES) 10
Basic and diluted BEARR#E 2.46 11.85

The notes on pages 84 to 172 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 9.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
n‘/-.l_\ éﬁuﬁx%%

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE-—ZT——&+_-_A=1+—HI-FE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥EZIE)

2011 2010
—Z2——fF —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%BTR ARET T
Profit for the year FEFHE 44,155 211,447
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHMEEmEA :
Exchange differences on translation of financial BEREAREME(HE])
statements of companies outside of the People’s BUINA RIS 3Rk 2
Republic of China (“PRC”) N ELE (6,769) 186
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEKVALE 37,386 211,633
Attributable to: BN AL R :
Equity shareholders of the Company AARERBRR 47,522 214,307
Non-controlling interests FEIE SRS (10,136) (2,674)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZEMRAZEE 37,386 211,633
The notes on pages 84 to 172 form part of these financial statements. FOAEIT2EIH MBI R ERE RS -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

an\|:| jiﬂﬂﬁ;ﬂl%

At 31 December 2011 R=T——F+_-_A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥EZIE)

2011 2010
—EB——fF —E-EF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARETT AR¥ET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME s BENERE 14(a) 2,137,010 1,197,049
Intangible assets B ERE 15 228,084 -
Goodwill SRS 16 208,237 -
Prepayments for acquisition of property, BEWNE BERREN
plant and equipment BT FIE 52,262 49,063
Lease prepayments HEBRARIE 17 103,858 68,400
Prepayments for raw materials FEARIFE{T FE 18 396,972 146,915
Interest in associates PAEE AR RS 20 256,748 37,000
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 27(b) 17,907 4,250
3,401,078 1,602,677
Current assets RENEE
Inventories 7E 21 414,583 378,287
Trade and other receivables R E 5 IR R H At ERERIE 22 489,190 628,412
Current tax recoverable BIER AT U =1 Fi 18 27(a) 8,409 -
Pledged bank deposits BIEARITER 23 151,682 74,113
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFEERES 24 583,743 459,734
1,647,607 1,540,546
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables ENE SRRk MENTRIE 25 640,654 463,322
Bank loans RITER 26 705,077 648,011
Current tax payable BOHR FE (S 718 27(a) 6,623 2,243
1,352,354 1,113,576
Net current assets REBEEFE 295,253 426,970
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABEE 3,696,331 1,929,647

7/:} | Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B3 Y AERIZIR B[R A




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FE MR RE

At 31 December 2011 R-ZT——F+-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥EFIE)

2011 2010
—E——fF —E2-FF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARET T ARBT T
Non-current liabilities FEREBAE
Municipal government loan TBRFER 26(b) 2,947 3,095
Bank loans RITER 26 845,035 85,000
Bonds (=t 26(c) 298,000 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEERE 27(b) 48,215 21,647
Deferred income IEFEUR A 28 221,903 172,905
Other non-current liabilities HinkERBEE 29 7,335 1,385
1,423,435 283,932
NET ASSETS EEFRE 2,272,896 1,645,715
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRE#E
Share capital (&N 32 198,585 162,458
Reserves i 2,023,460 1,444,320
Total equity attributable to equity RN FRER IR R EN
shareholders of the Company FERRAEE 2,222,045 1,606,778
Non-controlling interests e FIMERERS 50,851 38,937
TOTAL EQUITY A 2,272,896 1,645,715

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March ~EEEBR_—Z—_—F=A -1+ ABRELFFAIEE °
2012.

TAN Wenhua HSU You Yuan
B E Bl
Director Director
EE EE
The notes on pages 84 to 172 form part of these financial statements. FEAT172EFIE M IR B RE L RIS o
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Statement of Financial Position

BAFEAR I =

At 31 December 2011 R=—T——&F+—-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥EFIE)

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE AR®T T ARBTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - R K RE 14(b) 12 35
Investments in subsidiaries HRHBATNERE 19 1,443,597 147,456
1,443,609 147,491
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEUNEE B RN N H A pE R SR IE 22 751,132 803,567
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFEESE 24 1,421 1,045
752,553 804,612
Current liabilities REAE
Bank loans RITER 26 62,074 =
Other payables and accrued expenses Hib AR ETE A 25 23,237 23,993
85,311 23,993
Net current assets FREBEETFE 667,242 780,619
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBEE 2,110,851 928,110
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Bank loans RITER 26 398,035 =
Bonds (=L 26(c) 298,000 -
696,035 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,414,816 928,110
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARKHE 32(b)
Share capital %N 198,585 162,458
Reserves (A 1,216,231 765,652
TOTAL EQUITY R 1,414,816 928,110

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March EEER-Z——H£=A=-+hBRELFAIEE -

2012.
TAN Wenhua HSU You Yuan
EXE B
Director Director
EE EE
The notes on pages 84 to 172 form part of these financial statements. EBABIT2E FREMTE B IS H & D o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n‘/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1{"") \ﬁnﬁgj‘-’%

For the year ended 31 December 2011

(AARKSIE)

HE_ZT——F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARERRRELER
Non-
Share Share General Capital  Exchange Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve fund reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BE  ROEE -REkE  EREE BN HURE  RERA & FEGMER  BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARMTR ARETn ARMTR
Balance at 1 January 2010 R-E-S5-A-H2kt 162,458 940,428 83,810 50,944 (10,475) (66,710) 222,264 1,387,719 19,561 1,407,280
Changes in equity for 2010: ~ —B-FEER%H .
Profit/{loss) for the year EERE/ (B8 - - - - - - 20412 214121 @674 211,447
Other comprehensive income 2 EKA - - - - 186 - - 186 - 186
Total comprehensive income 2ABNEE - = = = 186 = 214,121 214,307 (2,674) 211,633
Capital injection by non-controlling FERRETE
shareholders - - - - - - - - 22,050 22,050
Equity settled share-based NRELERA%2
transactions 5 = = = (10,116) - - 14,868 4752 - 4,752
Appropriation 28 - - 28,745 - - - (28,745) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2010 H=%-F£+=A=1-A
and 1 January 2011 R-E--5£-A-RAzit 162,458 940,428 117,555 40,828 (10,289) (66,710) 422,508 1,606,778 38,937 1,645,715
Changes in equity for 2011: ~ —B——F#%%H
Profit/loss) for the year FERE/ (B8 - - - - - - 54,291 54,291 (10,136) 44,155
Other comprehensiveincome ~~ Hi2ERA - - - - (6,769) - - (6,769) - (6,769)
Total comprehensive income 2ABNEE - - - - (6,769) = 54,091 47522 (10,136) 37,386
Dividends approved in respect of  EEEREHERE.
the previous year (note 9(0)) (HtE9(b) - (78,476) - - - - - (78,476) - (78,476)
Issuance of convertible bonds BT EARR 2
classified as equity (note 32(d) AT ER (HEE32(d) - - - - - 644,281 - 644,281 - 644,281
Shares issued upon conversion of - BRI RRERERTRE
convertiole bonds (note 32(d)) (M&E32(d)) 36,127 608,154 - - - (644,281) - - - -
Capitalinjection by non-controling FEERBE TS
shareholders - - - - - - - - 22,050 22,050
Equity settled share-based NRELERA% 2
transactions 5 - - - 1,940 - - - 1,940 - 1,940
Appropriation 28 - - 21,801 - - - (21,801) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2011 R=F——%+-A=1-H
i 198,585 1,470,106 139,356 42,768 (17,058) (66,710) 454998 2,222,045 50,851 2,272,896

The notes on pages 84 to 172 form part of these financial statements. EBABNT2EFTEM T BRI EHPED ©
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
an\ IE’@/)“JE%

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥EFIE)

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-ZF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥TT AR®TT
Operating activities REEE
Profit before taxation B A0 34,134 282,891
Adjustments for: PR
Depreciation and amortisation TE R #H 166,084 54,460
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BER
plant and equipment SRR ES (178) -
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 1z E URMD A HIBEX 1,940 4,752
Share of losses of associates FE{hEEE N BB 54 -
Write-down of inventories FEMOR 161,701 -
Impairment of trade debtors FEY B 5 BRFORE = 449
Finance costs [ES= {2 %N 71,949 18,006
Provision for warranty costs EH%' BAME RS 6,465 870
Interest income from bank deposits TEZFEWA (5,952) (2,786)
Foreign exchange loss Eil&ﬁ; 5,516 1,624
Operating profit before changes in RITEEBEELET
working capital Fy 8 & R 441,713 360,266
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEM,EHS (164,613) 62,925
Decrease/(increase) in trade and FEUR B 5 BR 7R R EL A PRI GR
other receivables A, (5hn) 224,257 (260,773)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments for raw EME TR R
materials (3&H) (151,869) 67,153
(Decrease)/increase in trade E{ EZRAREMENR
and other payables ) 1 (46,507) 199,869
Increase in deferred income ,ha_uﬁz i 6,910 105,604
Cash generated from operating activities RETEFMBESE 309,891 535,044
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) EHREAREFE(FE]
income tax paid P (35,332) (13,676)

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FEReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R¥E%I{E)

2011 2010
—EB——fF —E-ZF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE ARETT AR®TT
Net cash generated from operating activities % BT3¢ F4 274,559 521,368
Investing activities RETE
Payment for the acquisition of property, TBEYE R BERREAFH
plant and equipment FE (658,775) (603,242)
Capital injection to associates BEE NREE (86,000) (37,000)
Increase in amount due from an associate PR — R B X B FRIEIE N (133,802) -
Payment of lease prepayments HETENFE (15,776) (5,876)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits with banks with  ZIEIEA=EA U L
original maturity over three months SRITEFORD (1) 46,230 (12,980)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries W EEKIEB A TR ERAREE 34(c) 33,670 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HeE % | R RBRE
plant and equipment FrigsE 1,044 1,094
Interest received [EALESS 5,952 2,786
Net cash used in investing activities RETEHFARSTFE (807,457) (655,218)
Financing activities REEE
Placement of pledged bank deposits EFDEARTER (151,682) (59,097)
Repayments of pledged bank deposits BECKMRITER 74,113 29,039
Dividends paid EIRE 9(b) (78,476) -
Proceeds from bank loans SRITERFASFIE 2,250,633 984,573
Repayment of bank loans RITERZEBR (1,611,437) (610,836)
Loan transaction costs paid ENERRZ AR 26(a) (12,095) =
Proceeds from bonds issued BRITESBRIE 26(c) 300,000 =
Bond issuing costs paid B ITESFRA 26(c) (3,600) -
Capital injection by non-controlling shareholders — JE1ERRAR ST E 22,050 22,050
Interest paid 2ARE (84,509) (21,932)
Net cash generated from financing activities F&;EEIF15H L T4 704,997 343,797
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R&RBESEEY2IEINFEE 172,099 209,947
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning F{RE&RIAEEEY
of the year 389,734 179,171
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERSFHNIE (1,860) 616
Cash and cash equivalents at FRESRRESEEY
the end of the year 24 559,973 389,734

The notes on pages 84 to 172 form part of these financial statements. EBABT2E FTEIM R SR EH P IS ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B AR & F L

For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(BRBAEEREIN

Significant accounting policies

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). A
summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in the financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests
in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R B

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1

(BREEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continueq)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 40.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated income statement
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

1

FESHBE @)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(BRBAEEREIN

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(©)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 1())).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change
in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see note 1(j)).
Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the Group’s
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RBEEAEEN  LARKETIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

©)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

()  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and
is tested annually for impairment (see note 1j)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 1(j)(ii)):

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land classified as held under operating leases
(see note 1(j)); and

—  other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportions of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(u)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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(BRBAEEREIN

Significant accounting policies (continued)

)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years after
the date of completion.

- Plant and machinery 10 years

— Other fixed assets 5 years
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

Construction in progress
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1j)(ii).

Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as interest
expenses capitalised during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and
equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use are completed. No
depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress
until it is substantially ready for its intended use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RBEEAEEN  LARKETIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group with a finite
estimated useful life are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note 1(j)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives as follows:

- Patents 9 years
—  Customer relationships 10 years
—  Customer contracts 1 year

Both the period and method of amortisation of intangible assets
are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of
a lease.

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases.

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
term.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets

0

()

Impairment of the investments in subsidiaries, associates
and trade and other receivables

The investments in subsidiaries, associates and trade and
other receivables carried at cost or amortised cost are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; and

— asignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
the investments in subsidiaries or associates below
their cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For investments in subsidiaries carried at cost
and investments in associates recognised using
the equity method (see note 1(d)), the impairment
loss is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying amount
in accordance with note 1(j)(ii). The impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates amount in accordance with note 1 (j)(ii).

- For prepayments carried at cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is material.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A

KAR®IE)

1

FTEE

TR (@)

() EBEERE

Y

REB L A] -~ BE R AHRENRER
B 5 R RAMER B R

AR S S R AN DU BR VA PR 2 5]

BEQNANREARERE 5 BRAK
HtbBUGHRTE - REREHEEEAE
# - UWEERAFERBNRERE

BEAEESENGR TS —ERSE
BEBENTEHEHE

- EBAEBERVBRE

- EBY BUEXSSELNHBEE
KE

- EBERATESEEHERETH
eI EA ;

- B WES - KBEIERREN
EXBLHBEBAERNTHNE
2.k

- RBEAAHRANATEKE
R ABHER ELALA o

fitf HER LRI - BIERUT AR
FERT R HERDRER S ¢

—  REBMEE()6) 0 IR ASTIER
MEBARNKREURERARERS X
BRYNEE QARANERE (B
1) ME - REBEDIUREN
A U B € REEE H BRI B 1F H L B
B EHE o RIBEMIEE1()i) @ fid
AT BEHBEERNEE 0 AlIER
ER{E RS ©

- BERAHENBRAREMS
R EBEX - BEEETD
REERMESRZEUMBEE
MRATHISEHRRAERNGER
ERERERNESE -



Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 1 FESFTEHEw@
()  Impairment of assets (continued) () BEREG®E
() Impairment of the investments in subsidiaries, associates )  RWEBLE - BELAHREUREK

and trade and other receivables (continued)

- For trade and other receivables carried at amortised
cost, impairment loss is determined as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for receivables which
are assessed for impairment collectively are based
on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors and bills
receivable directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 S o B
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

(i)

property, plant and equipment;

construction in progress;

pre-paid interests in leasehold land;

intangible assets; and

goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs to
sell, or value in use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(k) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 1(j)(i)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially
recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.
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Significant accounting policies (continueq)
Employee benefits

(P)

()

(i)

(i)

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and staff welfare costs are
accrued in the period in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their fair values.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, Taiwan
and Hong Kong are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as incurred, except to the extent that they are
included in the cost of inventories not yet recognised as
an expense.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees and
the fair value of shares allotted and issued to employees
to the extent that it exceeds the subscription cost, is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair values
of share options and shares are measured at the grant
date using the binomial lattice model and the price to
earning multiples valuation method, respectively, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
share options and shares were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting or lock-up conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options or shares, the total estimated fair value of the
share options or the fair value of the shares over the
subscription cost is spread over the vesting or lock-up
period, taking into account the probability that the share
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
or shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualified for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options or shares that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve).
The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve
until either the share option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account) or the share
option expires (when it is released directly to retained
earnings).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

@

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences, respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities
and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(@

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R B

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@ Income tax (continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(n Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities
() Financial guarantees issued
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R B

For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RBEEAEEN  LARKETIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(n Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

()

(ir)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

Where the Company or the Group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can otherwise
be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Company or the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B REFR 5 B EE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE—ZT——F+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(s)

()

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer. Revenue excludes value added
tax and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Services rendered
Revenue from services rendered is recognised as and
when the services are performed or rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it
accrues using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attached to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Government grants that are
receivable as compensation for losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to that entity (“functional currency”).
The financial statements are presented in Renminbi Yuan
(“RMB”) (“reporting currency”).

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into RMB
at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

1 FESTEE@

®

INEE]RE
BRAEEEERMBHRENEE DHRAK
BERMEREZER 2 HBESERIER KK
BEz2EB((ThEER )FTE - BHRER
BARE(TARED(2HEE D25 -

FR IERZEXFEERCERRE -
LUNMEREN 2 EREER BBERREHE
FEHERZERRE - ERFBAREBIER
BERTER o

B EMASIEBUNMNEREN 2 ERE
EREERRSHEBZEERE - LAF
BEIEUNMNEREN 2 EREERRER
BEEEATVEEAZERBERARYE -

BN EB 2 EETRERZ AE H 2ERE
ERERBRERARY - BHRRKREETD
BEREHEEERAZWTERRESAR
o EACERERNAEMEERARRL
B RRESL FE2ERA

REERMIERE  BREZRIEBZEL
W RTHE  EREALEEENAE
HEMOEERER

Annual Report 2011 £




Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 S o B
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use of sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Research and development expenses
Expenditure on research and development is charged to profit
or loss as an expense when incurred.

Related parties
(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

()  bhas control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  bhas significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HE-_Z——F+_A=1+—HILEE
(BREEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(w) Related parties (continued)

(2)  (continued)
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Convertible bonds

The convertible bonds that are issued by the Company and
the Group are interest-free and not redeemable in cash.
The number of shares into which the convertible bonds will
be converted is fixed at the issuance date. The convertible
bonds are classified entirely as equity. At initial recognition,
the convertible bonds are measured at fair value and are
recognised in the other reserve until they are converted. When
the convertible bonds are converted, the amount is transferred
to share capital and share premium as consideration for the
shares issued.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([ =& sEEZE ) -

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(y) Segment reporting (continued)
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
have a majority of these criteria.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs
and one new Interpretation that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group’s financial
statements:

- HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures

- Improvements to HKFRSs (2010)

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.

These developments reflected primarily the clarification of certain
disclosure requirements applicable to the Group’s financial
statements. Except for adoption of HKAS 24 (revised 2009) which
clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party, the adoption
of the above revised standard and amendments has had no material
impact on the contents of these consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a related party.
As a result of the adoption of HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Jinzhou
Youxin Electronic Materials Company Limited (“Jinzhou Youxin”)
and Jinzhou Aoke New Materials Co., Ltd (“Jinzhou Aoke”) are no
longer considered to be related parties. This standard is applied
retrospectively in accordance with transitional provisions of HKAS
24 (revised 2009). Transactions concluded with Jinzhou Youxin
and Jinzhou Aoke for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the
balances with Jinzhou Youxin and Jinzhou Aoke as at 31 December
2010, are therefore, excluded from the disclosure of related party
transactions in these consolidated financial statements. See note 35
for disclosures of related party transactions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

3

Turnover

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing,
trading and provision of processing services for polysilicon and
monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, the
manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar cells and
photovoltaic modules and installation of photovoltaic systems.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers
less value added tax and trade discounts and income from the
provision of processing services and the installation of photovoltaic
systems. The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

—E
FEMETEXBAABEESERSER BN

S
MRS  BERREEAGEERESORS SER
TR UARKEREENEER EFEZ KRR

B o

EEBNEHETEFENNHEEERIBERR
BSIH) UR BN TR R Z SRR RGTE
WA o FR o BIRNEERTFRDNERPALER
U

2011 2010
—E——fF —E2-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Sales of polysilicon and monocrystalline and HEZRERAGHEERER

multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers L@ ER 1,113,210 1,695,959
Sales of monocrystalline silicon solar cells SHEARGREERES) 867,090 -

Revenue from sales of photovoltaic modules and B & M RIEHA R R K RZZEHUA
installation of photovoltaic systems 693,733 87,962
Processing service fees ITIRIEE 105,190 70,848
2,779,223 1,854,769

During the year ended 31 December 2011, 48% (2010: 58%) of
turnover was derived from the five largest customers.

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or
more of the total revenue, is set out below:

BE-T-——F+-A=+-BLFE E¥E
48%(=F—BF : 58%) RATERARS «

REEEFF 2 » & BRERKA10%H EH
BT -

2011 2010
—2——fF —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology i8N ZE B KRB B R A A (MiEE35)

Company Limited (note 35) - 419,000
Customer A =FEA 495,675 *
Customer B =ZFEB 289,961 *
Customer C ZFEC * 423,523

*

The sale amount is less than 10% of total revenue.

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in note 13 to these financial statements.

* HESEEBERAI0%T °

FRAREEEEER 2 E—SH BN EIRERM
130
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE_-—ZT——

FH_RA=+t—HLFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indic;ez) (BREBEZTHEIN - LAREBIIE)
4 Other revenue 4 HblgA
2011 2010
—E——f —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Government grants (note 28) BT BG (FiEE28) 134,633 9,756
Interest income from bank deposits RITFERHORE2 WA 5,952 2,786
Rental income from operating leases REHENHESWA 1,736 1,800
Income from sale of scrap materials HEERBA 687 6,821
Others Ht 7,574 2,011
150,582 23,174
5 Other net income/(loss) 5 HlkA (EE)FHE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) INEURE(B518) R 3,013 (2,274)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEY% « BERBREHRE 178 -
3,191 (2,274)
6 Profit before taxation 6 PFKRBIAIFRE
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREAABEE A (N :
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
(a) Finance costs (@) RERK
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within ARAFERNZHEEBH
five years RITERHIFE 80,271 21,586
Interest on bonds BEHFE 5,475 -
Interest on municipal government loan MBAERFE 215 214
Total interest expense on financial liabilities not R A FERERRYIER
at fair value through profit or loss BB ENR SRR 85,961 21,800
Less: interest expense capitalised into B ERIRERMEF SR
construction in progress * (14,012) (8,794)
71,949 18,006

*

(2010: 4.82% to 7.75%) per annum.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

KAR®HE)

6 Profit before taxation (continueq) 6 BRF AR )
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): MRELATFIEE ST A (F0BR) © (&)
(continued)
2011 2010
—ET——F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRE
Contributions to retirement schemes RIRETEIH R 15,170 7,224
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses RS EEURM XX 1,940 4,752
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEMER 102,537 56,086
119,647 68,062
(c) Auditor’s remuneration (c) HBHEIME
Audit services R 1,861 1,684
Other services HAth RS 767 199
2,628 1,883
(d) Otheritems (d HfER
Amortisation of lease prepayments HEEMFaEE 2,203 1,424
Amortisation of intangible assets IS A 26,785 -
Depreciation e 137,096 53,036
Provision for warranty costs 1R AR A4 6,465 870
Operating lease charges — property KERESTH - 864 1,794
Research and development costs 8% R AR 127,979 48,328
Impairment of trade debtors FEUR B 5 BRFURE = 449
Write-down of inventories FEMR 161,701 =

Annual Report 2011 &3k | [/




Notes to the Financial Statements

BB R o B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE

(BREEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

7 Income tax in the consolidated income 7 HREIEZRAMES
statement
(@) Income tax in the consolidated income statement @ #HEBEKRAMEFHNARE:
represents:
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Current tax — the PRC ENHARLIE — b
Provision for the year FERE 30,573 15,891
Over-provision in respect of prior years BAFERBERE (688) -
29,885 15,891
Deferred tax IEEBLTE
Origination and reversal of temporary RS EEE 2 H IR R
differences (note 27 (b)) (FfzE27(0)) (39,906) 55,558
Income tax (credit)/expense FrigFi(ER) Bx (10,021) 71,444

For the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, no provision for

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as sub

sidiaries of the Group

either did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax or have accumulated tax losses brought forward from
previous years to offset the estimated assessable profits for the

year.

Pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZAR B R A
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B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

7 Income tax in the consolidated income
statement (continued)

@)

Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents: (continued)

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group were subject to the
following PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) rates for both
years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010:

GLEBRRRAFEH @
@@ HEBRRAMESHAR @ @)
AEETEHEANREE T ——FR =

Z-FF+-A=+-RILMEAFERRU
THREGRTRACEAEH (BB

2011 2010
—E——fF =5
% %
Shanghai Jingji Electronic Materials EBRBEFMRERAT( &
Co., Ltd. (“Jingj”) 25 25
Jinzhou Jingji Solar Technology Co., Ltd. &N &IAKEEERIF AR A T
(“Jinzhou Jing;ji”) (Mea &%) 25 25
Jinzhou Youhua Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. &b ZEEMBERA R
(“Youhua Silicon”) ([REEREH 1) 25 25
Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology — $8N$8ERRHE AR A 7
Limited (“Jinzhou Jinmao”) (T $aN 8% 1) 25 25
Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) Co., Ltd. fEXEER(FB)ERAR(TEEEX]
(“Qinghai Solargiga”) 25 25
Jinzhou Yangguang Energy. Co., Ltd. RS K EERBR AR
(“Yangguang”) (M E8MRE D) 15 15
Jinzhou Rixin Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. BN B SEEMEERAR( BE]
(“Rixin”) 15 25
Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology #8128 AR AR A 7
Company Limited (‘Huachang Guangfu”) (28 %4k 1) 12.5 12.5

Yangguang and Rixin were granted the status of a “High
and New Technology Enterprise” that entitles them to a
preferential CIT rate of 15% for three years commencing from
the year ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2011
respectively.

Huachang Guangfu was entitled to a tax holiday of a 2-year
full exemption followed by a 3-year 50% reduction in income
tax rate commencing on 1 January 2008 (“2+3 Tax Holiday”).
Accordingly, Huachang Guangfu is subject to income tax
at 12.5% in 2010 and 2011. On the other hand, Huachang
Guangfu was granted the status of a “High and New
Technology Enterprise” in 2011 that entitles it to a preferential
CIT rate of 15% for three years commencing from the year
ended 31 December 2011. As Huachang Guangfu is entitled to
enjoy a lower preferential CIT rate of 12.5% in 2011, Huachang
Guangfu is subject to income tax at 12.5% instead of 15%.

BMBEER ABER T SHPHR R M - WD
NARBEE-_EREAFt-A=t—-—HR=Z
——F+ A=t -BUEFEBMIs% 2 XFE
REEREBMEERBB=F -

EEXRB-ZENF-A-—HHREMFRARERR
BTSN  HR=FEHE —FEHHRE2
+ IBHBEEH ) - At EEXRARN =B -ZF
R-B-——F2RBHER125% - B—FHH - #
BARR-Z-——FERT([SHBHREE ]
fi WEEBEBE-Z——F+-A=t+—RALF
EBL15%EEMEREEREHAREAER=
F o HREEXRN B -——FZH125% M
BUREEHE  Z2EXRZAEHER12.5%MHE
15%
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B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

LEBRRRAFEH @

7 Income tax in the consolidated income 7
statement (continued)

(@)

Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents: (continued)

Under the CIT Law of the PRC and its relevant regulations,
dividends receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from
PRC enterprises are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%
or 5% for earnings accumulated beginning on 1 January 2008.
Accordingly, for those PRC subsidiaries that are expected
to distribute profits in the foreseeable future, a provision for
withholding tax in respect of the undistributed profits from
the PRC subsidiaries has been made for the year ended 31
December 2011 and 2010.

(@)

MEBERAMESHRNAR - @)

REPESEMEHEREEBRG - B =
ZENF-B—RE  PELEURFER
[ 3E H B BLRAT AR BB 1R 10% 3R 5% 2 Bi =
BATAMNB - Fit - SIRBER R AREDIK
EANNPERBARMS  RBE=-2——
FR-Z2-ZF+-A=Z+—-BLWEFE
SR BB A Bz R 2 IRER 2 A
A -

(b) Reconciliation between tax (credit)/expense and b) BBBER (X)) RRBEABRTHE
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: 22 FIEEER ¢
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit before taxation RRF A A 34,134 282,891
Notional tax on profit before taxation MREI ARz A&ERE
calculated at 25% B25% 2 B R E 8,534 70,723
Effect of non-deductible expenses NGRSl 7 4,880 2,372
Effect of tax rate differential TRBEFE (1,984) 4,783
Movement on recognition of deferred tax B2 A 2 Ik AE4HES =2
liabilities relating to undistributed profits IR E & &2 8 (K27 (o)
(note 27(0)) (4,329) 16,878
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised in B FBEFEE N RERZ
prior years FIEEE (9,911) (2,554)
Effect of tax concessions obtained FrERKER S E (13,420) (25,870)
Effect of unused tax losses not recognised s R FERRIARE BRI IEE B 2 & 781 6,721
Effect on other deductible temporary Hi AR AR SR v 8
differences not recognised 4,976 -
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBRERE (688) _
Others Hith 1,140 (1,609)
Actual tax (credit)/expense ERHREGER) BIX (10,021) 71,444
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B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

8 Profit attributable to equity shareholders of 8 Z</2 T4 %5 IR 5 FE (5 75
the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the ARAFEERRAREGCZEANEEEARY
Company includes a loss of RMB12,448,000 (2010: RMB8,473,000) 12448000 Tt BB (= —ZF ! AR%
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the 8,473,0007T) @ WERAR AT EMETEIE o
Company.

Details of dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of the B RENAD RRERRRAR S FIEHAMIELO o

Company are set out in note 9.

9 Dividends 9 KE
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (@ ZAATERBRRELFAERGTRE

Company attributable to the year

2011 2010
—E——fF —E2-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Final dividend proposed after the end of REMBAE I RERRBEAHRE
the reporting period of RMB Nil BRARBZER
(2010: RMB3.5 cents) per share (ZZ2—FF : AR¥35%) - 63,251
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period had RBEEHREAEEIRERIRE ZKREKREL
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period. MAREHEEE R RIAEE -
(o) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the b)) REAERZSE—EMBFER
Company attributable to the previous financial year, NARATERRRERE
approved and paid during the year
2011 2010
—E——F —E—ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR®BTT
Final dividend of RMB3.5 cents (HK$4.1 RAERHEE R IR £ —EE BEE A
cents) per share (2010: Nil) in respect of RESRARES52 (4.1784L)
the previous financial year, approved and (ZB—-FF : #\)
paid during the year 78,476 -
For the final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, MmEt—EABREEZREBREMS  —E—FFF
the difference of RMB15,225,000 between the final dividend of SRR R R HI R B A R #63,251,000 TEEE R
RMB63,251,000 proposed in 2010 and the amount approved HEZEFEARYT78,476,000 T 2 EFE AR
during the year of RMB78,476,000 represents dividends attributable 15,225,000t A F S IR R ZME A Al iR aik
to new shares issued upon the conversion of convertible bonds (see R1EH (RMIEES2(d) B3 1T 2 TR EMLRRE ©

note 32(d)) before the closing date of the register of members.
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B G FR 5 B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ek BB ERAESN - UAREFIE)

10 Earnings per share 10 BRAF
(a) Basic earnings per share @ BRERZBER

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB54,291,000 (2010: RMB214,121,000) and
the weighted average of 2,211,184,124 (2010: 1,807,170,425)
ordinary shares of the Company in issue during the year as
calculated as set out in note 10(b).

BREXABADIREADNAZBRERR
REGEFBHAREES4,201,00T(ZFE—F
£ ARM214,121,0007T ) LA K 3% Bt 5 10(b)
FEARHAEFANARDFACRTZER
I8 2,211,184, 124 ] (= F — B4 :
1,807,170,4250%) 51 &

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (b) EBRMEFIIRE
Number of ordinary shares
ZEKREE
2011 2010
—e——f —s-z&
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—B—HERTEER 1,807,170,425 1,807,170,425

Effect of convertible bonds (note 32(d)) AR RRAE 5 2 2 (FiEE32(d))

404,013,699 =

Weighted average number of LB IR T 1 R
ordinary shares

2,211,184,124 1,807,170,425

(c) Diluted earnings per share ()
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B2 AERZEIN - UARESIE)

11 Directors’ remuneration 11 EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of Hong RIBEE D RRGII61RMIRENESHMEMNT ¢

Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

2011
—g——%
Basic
salaries,
allowances Share-
and Retirement based
benefits scheme payments
Fees in kind contributions  Sub-Total (note(i)) Total
BEXEE - DY)
RER BIK RARIE
ok Bz T &I et (B =E()) @st

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’°0000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TZT ARBTRT ARETR AR®TT ARETR

Executive directors HITES

Tan Wenhua B E - 1,329 40 1,369 327 1,696
Hsu You Yuan R - 1,437 10 1,447 338 1,785
Zhang Liming REERA - 189 45 234 114 348
Tan Xin (note ii) B2 (KysFi) - - - - - -
Non-executive directors FHTES

Chiao Ping Hai EXE 219 - - 219 - 219
Chong Kin Ngai (note iii) SEERZR (Bft i) 178 - - 178 42 220

Independent non-executive By EHTES

directors
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert K 195 - - 195 - 195
Fu Shuangye HEE 195 - - 195 - 195
Lin Wen M 195 - - 195 - 195
Zhang Chun RIE 195 - - 195 - 195
Total st 1,177 2,955 95 4,227 821 5,048
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BB R o B

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE

(i) Share-based payments represent the estimated value of shares
allotted and issued to the directors of Solar Technology Investment
(Cayman) Corp. (“STIC”") on 24 June 2007 for the years ended 31
December 2010 and 2011. The values of these shares are measured
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies for share-based

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)
11 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 11 EEM 2w
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of Hong REEBAAMEAIGIEMEENESHESNT ¢
Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: (continued) (#8)
2010
—E-FF
Basic
salaries,
allowances Share-
and Retirement based
benefits scheme payments
Fees inkind  contributions Sub-Total (note(i) Total
ExEFs LARRAR
REER N XAFIE
e ENFE HEEEN Nt (FFE() st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR¥TR ARBTRT ARETRT AR®Tr AR%¥TR
Executive directors HITEE
Tan Wenhua BXE = 1,082 42 1,124 828 1,952
Hsu You Yuan B = 1,232 10 1,242 801 2,043
Zhang Liming REH - 200 38 238 279 517
Non-executive directors EHTES
Chiao Ping Hai -5} 314 - - 314 - 314
Chong Kin Ngai HERSR 209 - - 209 112 321
Independent non-executive B FEHTES
directors
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Tk 209 = = 209 = 209
Fu Shuangye NEE 209 - - 209 - 209
Lin Wen M 209 - - 209 - 209
Zhang Chun K& 209 - - 209 - 209
Total Foh 1,359 2,514 90 3,963 2,020 5,983
Note: et

(i) UROZARED=EZLFRE=TEAM
Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp.
(TSTIC) ESMBERBITRONBE=Z—
EER-ZE——F+Z A=+ —HLEFENMR
HEE - ZZERORBERENEEIREME
1(p)(i) TRAEEERAURD XA REZSZH

payment transactions as set out in note 1(p)(iii).

(i)  Appointed on 28 December 2011.

(i)~ Resigned on 1 December 2011.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZAR B R A
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B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

12 REEHMAL
AERSFMALTHENR(ZE—ZF . =R)A
BE  HENFWNRHEFIIRE BT —B (=%
—ZF WA BRFMA LWFHFHMAZENT :

12 Individuals with highest emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2010:
three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining one
(2010: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are as follows:

2011 2010

g% —z-=%

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®T T

Basic salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ EZA# 4 - SEE R EYFIE 813 1,246
Retirement scheme contributions RN EIE R 10 10
823 1,256

The emoluments of the remaining one individual (2010: two
individuals) with the highest emoluments are within the following
bands:

BT —R(Z2—2F  MB)REHHA L HHHN
BATAR

2011 2010

—E——%F —E-FF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£1,000,00058 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7Tt £ 1,500,00058 7T - 1
1 2

13

Segment reporting

In prior years, the Group had two operating segments, which were (i)
the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing services
for polysilicon and monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar
ingots/wafers (“Segment A”); and (ii) the manufacturing of and
trading of photovoltaic modules and installation of photovoltaic
systems (“Segment B”). The composition of the operating segments
was changed in the current year as a result of the newly acquired
business in 2011. The change in the composition of the operating
segments has resulted in a change in the internal reporting
information reviewed by the Group’s most senior executive
management.

13 ZRREE

RBEFE  AEBEMELEDE  2HIH1K
GrRESRSRER RS BERRMS
SERI TR (T2 EAL § R REARER
BEURZEARRZG( DB - BR=F——
FHBAZER  WAFAZEEDHASH A
F o RESTHEEHE  BYAEERSRTHE
EEENARTRENGREE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

13 Segment reporting (continued)

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has identified three reportable segments: (i) the manufacturing
of, trading of and provision of processing services for polysilicon
and monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers
(“Segment A”); (i) the manufacturing of and trading of photovoltaic
modules and installation of photovoltaic systems (“Segment B”) and
(i) the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar
cells (“Segment C”). Segment C became a reportable segment in
2011 after the acquisition of the Sino Light Investments Limited (“Sino
Light”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Sino Light
Group”) as disclosed in note 34. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form these reportable segments.

(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to the reportable segments which are
presented in the same way in the Group’s financial statements.
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments are
disclosed as follows:

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
AARKETIE)

13

DB E @)
RERPERRBIGEMS - AEERBEAER
BRERTHEEBARSKER —B2ARN » BR
“ETREDE  ((RIBREERRZSER B
B BEERBEEZ KERMIRE (5 HAD)
HAREBEECRERBEEBUARKRAGRE([H
B 5 R(iABGrERESHREREE ([23
Cl) e RINIBEXRBRERR AT ([ X ) REKHEB
AR (GBI EXEENR > PWCR=_Z——FK
BUHRED T o WESHHEE S I UA RIS AR

HDER o

DEEE - BEREE
BIAEIBRERRDBESEER - %
ESRTHREEASSERAME D IEMN
Z¥E - EEREHE AEERNSREAEE
BBREEBN ALY - BEREAEE TR
SO ERIRBENT

(@)

Segment A Segment B Segment C Total
AHA 8B Ac it

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

“g--f -%-%f -%--f -B-3f -5--f CB-FF -5--F C3-3f

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTE  ARBTR  AREBTR AR%TR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

Revenue from external customers  REREF 2l 1,156,439 1,766,807 693,733 87,962 929,051 - 27719223 1,854,769

Inter-segment revenue AHEkE 693,559 - 89,787 - 322,043 - 1,106,289 =

Reportable segment revenue WHES Bl 1,849,998 1766807 783,520 87962 1,251,994 - 3885512 1,854,769

Reportable segment profit/(loss)  THEABER /() 0 216371 (14,634) 4924 58049 = U155 211447

Interest income from bank deposits ~ HATEZFIERA 5,186 2457 250 329 516 - 5,952 2,186

Interest expense TS (56295 (18,008 (2,544) - (13110 - (M99 (18009

Depreciation and amortisation for the year ST E & #4k (112,602) (53,855) (2,825) (605) (50,657) - (166,084) (b4,460)

Share of losses of associates EEBENTER (54) - - - - - (54) -

Write-down of inventories FEHH (155,649) = (4,995) = (1,057) - (161,701) =

Reportable segment assets THEAGEE 3,702,980 2,959,990 211,287 83,233 1,134,468 - 5048685 3043223

(ncluding interests inassociates)  (BEREEAFAZRE) 256,748 37,000 - - - - 256,748 37,000
Additions to non-current segment  ERFERBATEEFE

assets during the year 1,161,690 827,067 19,686 29,260 843,607 - 2,024983 856,327

Reportable segment liabilities TRESTEE 2442048 1,349,326 155,815 48,182 177,926 - 21715789 1,397,508
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BB ERAESN » UAREFIE)

13 Segment reporting (continued) 13 2 EFHE @)
(b) Geographic information (b) HEEFR
Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, AEEYE BMERSE BEEMSRE -
lease prepayments, goodwill, intangible assets and interest in BE BFEERREEDRANRREKI
associates are located or operated in the PRC. The following R PESERFELE - TREHI BB
table sets out information about the geographical location of EERBIREF NG RIFRETFEARE
the Group’s revenue from external customers and non-current FIERNER - EFAEHURNERIR
prepayments. The geographical location of customers is based AR RO 3 BE R kIR o

on the location at which the services were provided or the
goods delivered.

() Revenue from external customers () REINIREFHIK 2

2011 2010

—E——fF —E2-FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

The PRC (place of domicile) A AP (FEM it 2h) 1,199,344 1,121,531
Export sales HOHE

— Japan — A7 743,886 212,154

— The United Kingdom — 288,847 -

— The United States of America — =M 265,334 457,157

- Germany — = 163,165 14,824

— Spain — o 70,117 -

— Taiwan =) 41,392 33,227

— Canada —MmEX 7,138 13,875

— Other countries —HAiE =R - 2,001

Sub-total /Nt 1,579,879 733,238

Total st 2,779,223 1,854,769
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE—ZT——F+-_A=1+—AILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B2 AERZEIN - UARESIE)

13 Segment reporting (continued) 13 o EHE @)
(o) Geographic information (continued) (b) HEERE
(i) Non-current prepayments (i) FEGETFEIE

2011 2010
—E2——F —ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFRT
The PRC (place of domicile) R A e (AT it 2h) 51,905 46,651

Overseas countries BHMEIR
— The United States of America —X%H 199,739 89,039
— Germany — = 157,981 57,876
— Taiwan -8 39,609 -
—Japan - B - 2,412
Sub-total N 397,329 149,327
Total st 449,234 195,978
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B G FR 5 B EE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ek BB ERAESN - UAREFIE)

14 Property, plant and equipment 14 Y% - BERRE
(@ The Group @ AEE
Plant,

machinery Furniture

Construction and Motor and
in progress Buildings  equipment vehicles fittings Total

BE - #eE RAR
HEIR B REB AE BE#E st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARBTR  AR®TR

Cost: A :

At 1 January 2010 RNZZ-Z5-5-H 81,246 38,087 483,229 8,699 9,504 620,765
Exchange adjustments B X :5% - = = = (35) (35)
Additions = 699,420 47 6,151 5,432 3,297 714,347
Disposals HE (1,004) - - - - (1,094)
Transfers B (321,437) 100,659 220,590 = 188 =

At 31 December 2010 R=-Z—-Z#F

+=A=1+-8 458,135 138,793 709,970 14,131 12,954 1,333,983
Accumulated 2HHrE
depreciation:
At1 January 2010 R-Z-Z5-A-A = 5,486 70,391 4,124 3915 83,916
Exchange adjustments X382 - - - - (18) (18)
Charge for the year FERE - 1,482 47,368 1,559 2,627 53,036

At 31 December 2010  R-B-Ff

+=HA=+—H = 6,968 117,759 5,683 6,524 136,934
Net book value: BREHE :
At 31 December 2010  R=-ZB—B&

+-A=+—-H 458,135 131,825 592,211 8,448 6,430 1,197,049

Annual Report 2011 3§




Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14 Y% - BERZE®
(a) The Group (continued) @ ZAEEG@)
Plant,

machinery Furniture

Construction and Motor and
in progress Buildings  equipment vehicles fittings Total

BB - #3% ZAER
REIR B2 PE Jai:d EEHE a5

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARETT ARETRT ARETR  ARBTR  AR®TR

Cost: B
At1 January 2011 W=2——5-A-A 458,135 138,793 709,970 14,131 12,954 1,333,983
Exchange adjustments [ X% = - - - (122) (122)
Additions hE 721,831 655 31,306 8,097 1,667 763,456
Through acquisition of ~ EBUEHBAF

subsidiaries (note 34(c)  (K&E34(c)) 128,437 46,978 133,327 4777 1,022 314,541
Disposals HE = - (99) (2,387) (31) (2,517)
Transfers 244 (833,724) 77,069 765,148 - 1,507 -

At 31 December 2011 RZZ——#

+=R=+-H 474,679 263,495 1,629,652 24,618 16,897 2,409,341
Accumulated ZEHE:
depreciation:
At 1 January 2011 WZZ——%-H—H = 6,968 117,759 5,683 6,524 136,934
Exchange adjustments [ i 3§% = = = = (48) (48)
Charge for the year FERE = 8,497 120,908 4,464 3,227 137,096
Written back on disposal &K &[] - = (44) (1,597) (10) (1,651)

At 31 December 2011 RZZE——#

+=R=+-H - 15,465 238,623 8,550 9,693 272,331
Net book value: RMEFHE -
At 31 December 2011 WIE——&

+=A=t-H 474,679 248,030 1,391,029 16,068 7,204 2,137,010
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B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14 Y% - BERRE @
(o) The Company (o) AT
Office
equipment
b N ]
RMB’000
ARMTFR
Cost: AR
At 1 January 2010 R=Z—ZF—H—H 110
Exchange adjustments BE R ©)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZB—Z2F+=-A=+—8 107
Accumulated depreciation: REHITE -
At 1 January 2010 R=Z—-FF—H—H 53
Exchange adjustments R @)
Charge for the year FERE 21
At 31 December 2010 N-=-FF+-A=+—AH 72
Net book value: FRIEEE :
At 31 December 2010 N-=—=sF+=-A=+—01 35
Office
equipment
WAERE
RMB’000
ARBTT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2011 R=—ZF——%—A—H 107
Exchange adjustments [E N R ()
At 31 December 2011 R-—Z2——%+=-A=+—H 102
Accumulated depreciation: BEHITE
At 1 January 2011 R=Z——F—H—H 72
Exchange adjustments ERAZ @)
Charge for the year FERE 21
At 31 December 2011 R—Z——F+=-A=+—H 90
Net book value: BRENEE :
At 31 December 2011 R-E——F+-A=+—H 12
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B 75 S o B
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BE_T——&+_A=+—HItFE
(BRBAEEREIN

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

©)

(d)

Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment is
located in the PRC.

The Group has yet to obtain property ownership certificates
for certain buildings with an aggregate net book value of
RMB221,282,000 (2010: RMB35,211,000) as at 31 December
2011. Notwithstanding this, the directors are of the opinion
that the Group owned the beneficial title to these buildings as
at 31 December 2011.

Fixed assets leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out a limited portion of land and buildings
under operating lease. The leases typically run for an average
period of twenty years, with an option to renew the leases
upon expiry at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

KAR®IE)

14 Y% - BERRE @

(c)

REBE Y - BERRBIIURTE

(d) ~EEHARSETRFONEEMEES

()

R=ZF——F+=-A=+—0  ZZ8FH
IREFEAZEA ARK221,282,0007T (=&
—ZFF : A\R#¥35,211,0007t) - A » S
RAEFEER-_ZE——F+-A=+—H#&
BRERTHNERER -

RiEEHEHEZBEEE
FEERBEEEEHER DD L1 R1E
FoZEHE-RFIR/P=-TF  ARE
MISREEHEEE  ERRERERERE
HER - ZEHEITEBERIRES -

REBERBE T UHHEEEEERBZRARER
ERERNT :

The Group
EEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Within 1 year —F R 1,728 1,728
After 1 year but within 5 years —FZEBERAEER 6,911 6,911
After 5 years H1E#% 8,423 10,151
17,062 18,790
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B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

15 Intangible assets 15 BREEE
The Group
rEE
Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total
EFBRR EFEE =5 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBT T ARBTT

Cost: B :

At 1 January 2010, 31 December R=—ZE—ZEF—HF—H -

2010 and 1 January 2011 —E-ZTE+=A
=+-AR=F——%F
_ﬁ f— E = — _ =
Through acquisition of BEBUREHIB AT
subsidiaries (note 34(c)) (BfaE34(c)) 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869
At 31 December 2011 R-ZE——F+=H
=t+—H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869

Accumulated amortisation: BT .

At 1 January 2010, 31 December R=Z—ZF—H—H -

2010 and 1 January 2011 —E-FF+_H

=+—-BR=Z——F

__H — E — — — —
Charge for the year FEHEH 16,979 2,411 7,395 26,785
At 31 December 2011 R-ZZE——%+=H

== 16,979 2,411 7,395 26,785
Net book value: BRIENEE :
At 31 December 2011 RZZE——F+=H

== 168,251 = 59,833 228,084
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “administrative FEMHEEACT AGERARITHEXZ |- -

expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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B RS R B

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)
16 Goodwill 16 BHE
The Group
AEE

2011 2010
—B——F 22K
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARTT

Cost and net book value: AR BREFHE
At 1 January n—A—H = -
Through acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34(c))  EBUREEHE 2 7 (Ki5E34(c)) 208,237 -
At 31 December WN+=—A=+—H 208,237 -

Goodwill is related to the Group’s Segment C (see note 13) as a
cash-generating unit (‘CGU”).

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated rates stated below.

BERAEEDHMC(RMEI)ER  FRREE
FEN(REELEM]) -

Re 4 EEALY KNG SEARSEAEETE -
HERERREEEORANSENBREL RS
B o BBSFHENA SRR R T AL
St -

2011

—E——F

%

Growth rate e = 3
Discount rate Nz 19

The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate
for the business in which the CGU operates. The discount rate used
is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU based on the value-in-use
calculations is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December
2011. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

17 Lease prepayments 17 HERMNRKE
The Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Cost: RS :
As at 1 January n—B—H 72,420 66,544
Through acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34(c))  EBUREEHKE D = (FizE34(c)) 21,885 -
Additions wNE 15,776 5,876
As at 31 December W+=—BA=+—H 110,081 72,420
Accumulated amortisation: St -
As at 1 January n—A—H 4,020 2,596
Charge for the year FEE 2,203 1,424
As at 31 December R+=B=+—H 6,223 4,020
Net book value: BREFE :
As at 31 December HN+=-—BAR=+—8” 103,858 68,400
Lease prepayments represent the cost of land use rights in respect HEFENFIEARMRPE 2 LA Lt EA
of land located in the PRC, which expire from 2030 to 2059. ERKR > ZE+WERAEEE B =8FF_F
RAEERM e
18 Prepayments for raw materials 18 EMBIFEIEA

In order to secure a stable supply of polysilicon materials, the Group
enters into short-term and long-term contracts with certain raw
material suppliers and makes advance payments to these suppliers
which are to be offset against future purchases. Prepayments
for raw materials where the Group expects to take delivery of the
inventory more than twelve months after the end of the reporting
period are classified as non-current assets. Included in non-current
prepayments for raw materials is prepayment made to a related
party of RMB39,609,000 (31 December 2010: RMB Nil) as at 31
December 2011 (note 35(d)).

RERERES SERBHHLE - AEE SRR TR
MRHERT L ERRRASHL M ZEHERX
NANRIE  ZEFEERARBEHIEHE - R
SEESRREHEEERR T @A N EFEE
FEZEMEMEH 2ANFIR - RFEEBDERHE
REBEE -RN=—F——F+=-A=1t—H 5TA*
REZ EM RN RERIN FREAL ZANK
HARM39,609,000t (=ZE—FF+=B=+—
H: AR¥Z ) (MEE35(d)) °
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B REFR 5 B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEAEIN - UAREESIE)

19 Investments in subsidiaries 19 RMIBARINKRE
The Company
PN
2011 2010
e =2-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARTT
Unlisted shares, at cost at 1 January R—B—BKFELHRG » BEAR 147,456 163,005
Capital contribution HE 644,281 -
Exchange adjustment RIS (37,786) (15,549)
Unlisted shares, at cost at 31 December R+=—A=+—HWFELTRY

BB A 753,951 147,456
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE Wt /B A RIFRIE 689,646 -
1,443,597 147,456
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and ERHMBATZEAEIER cEREETAGE

have no fixed terms of repayment. The amounts are not expected to HARR o & FIEY FTEH —EAKE o

be recovered within one year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

19 KRB R TNKRE @)
TRESISYEFEELE SERSEOHE

19 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The

class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

ZER -

Proportion of ownership interest

DRWFHE - RIS HME - FIEFENRDERNS

Fra R L fl

Place and date Authorised/

of incorporation/  registered/ Group’s

establishment/ paid-in/ effective held bythe held by a

operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company e, EE /R AEEH  HADF @-FHKE Principal activities Legal form
AFER KEwERAS B4/ CRTER BRER BE DABE FEER EERR

% % %

BN EEEMRERAR The PRC Registered and 100 - 100 Manufacturing and Limited liabilty
(‘Rixin") 9 May 2007 paid-in capital of processing of company
((R=E3); HEl RMB190,000,000 monocrystaline ingots/ BRERAH

“ETtE AMREHEA wafers
AANA ARH190,000,0007 HERMIBSRER BH

BMEHARAERHEERAR  The PRC Registered and 100 - 100 Manufacturing and Limited liability
("Jinzhou Jingji") 9 December 2007 paid-in capital of processing of company
(reMEs ) HEl US$17,500,000 monocrystaline wafers BRERAH

“TERLE A RESEA BERNIESRER
+TZANA 17,500,000% 7

BMELERERAR The PRC Registered and 100 - 100 Manufacturing and Limited liability
(“Yangguang’) 15 December 2004 paid-in capital of processing of company
(TERMEEE L) HEl RMB813,000,000 monocrystaline and BRERAH

“EINFE TMREHER multicrystalline ingots/
+=A+&A AR® wafers
813,000,0007 HERMIERRS S
2/ BH

IMNEERMBERAR The PRC Registered and 100 - 100 Manufacturing and Limited liability
(“Youhua Silicon”) 13 September 2008 paid-in capital of processing of company
([hZwH ) HE RMB200,000,000 monocrystalling ingots/ ARELAR

—EIN\F AMRESEA wafers
hAT=ZH ARH BERNIES
200,000,0007% Bft/ER
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B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

19 Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 19 R B A RINERE @)

Proportion of ownership interest

Fra Rt fl

Place and date Authorised/

of incorporation/  registered/ Group’s

establishment/ paid-in/ effective held bythe heldbya

operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company MBS/ R/ AE@EH  BHAAT B-MBHE Principal activities Legal form
AFER RewHRAS B4/ ERTER BRESR ¥E DARkE TEEE EEFR

% % %

LEEREFMRERAT  ThePRC Registered and 100 = 100 Processing and trading Limited fiability
(“Jingji") 16 March 1998 paid-in capital of of polysilicon and company
(r=2:3); HE 1S$6,950,000 monocrystalline ingots/ BREFLT

—AANE TRREHER wafers
=At5A 6,950,000% 7 NIREEZRER
BERE/ER
Solar Technology Investment - Cayman Islands Authorised capital of 100 100 = Investment holding Limited liability
(Cayman) Corp. (“STIC") 15 December 2006 HK$400,000,000 of REZR company
RENB HK$0.10 each and BRERAH
ZZERE issued share capital of
+ZA+EAH HK$167,895,494
EEER
400,000,000/ 7T *
BRAE0I0BTR
BETRA
167,895,494 8 7¢

Wealthy Rise International  Hong Kong Authorised share capital 100 - 100 Trading of polysiicon, Limited liability
Limited 21 June 2007 of HK$10,000 of HK$1 monocrystalling ingots/ company

EHERERAT B each and issued share wafers, solar cells and BREMAR

“TEtE capital of HK$1 modules

AA=t+-AH SEERAR10,000E 7T BEELRRE B8
BREBIERLR Bt /B ARG
BERIRA1BR EHRAM

BMBRERREAERAR  ThePRC Registered and 51 - 51 Manufacturing of Limited liabity
(“Jinzhou Jinmao”) 17 July 2009 paid-in capital of photovoltaic modules and company
(23] HE RMB40,000,000 design and installation of ~ EREFEAT

“ETNE aMESEL photovoltaic systems
tBttA AE540,000,0007T HERREANRRARE
BEXRAG
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

19 Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 19 RIMTE A RRKRE @)

Proportion of ownership interest

FrafERLLfl

Place and date Authorised/

of incorporation/  registered/ Group’s

establishment/ paid-in/ effective held by the held by a

operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company HMEL/ R/ FE@EH  @HAAT B-—-MHE Principal activities Legal form
AFER RewERAN B4/ ERTER BRESR B8 DAkE TEEE EERR

% % %

Solargiga Energy (Hong Hong Kong Authorised share capital 100 100 - Investment holding Limited liability
Kong) Company Limited 4 February 2009 of HK$10,000 of HK$1 RERRK company
(formerly known as i) each and issued share BEREFAT
“Rising Sun Investment -2 -3 capital of HK$1
Company Limited”) —AmA SEERAR10,0008 7 -

BREER (BE)BRAR SREETETR
(A BRREARAF]) ERIREER

Silicon Solar Materials Hong Kong Authorised share capital 100 = 100 Investment holding Limited liability
Company Limited 28 November 2008 of HK$10,000 of HK$1 REER company

ABGEEREMBER AR Al gach and issued share BRERAH

—ZENE capital of HK$1

+—A=tNR EEIRAR10,00087T -
SRAETBIR
ERIRAER

Solargiga Energy (Qinghal)  The PRC Registered and 51 - 51 Manufacturing of Limited liability
Co., Ltd (“Qinghai 6 July 2010 paid-in capital of monocrystalline ingots company
Solargiga’) HE RMB90,000,000 BLEB SRR BREFAT

BAERES) —E-ZF AmEHER
BRAR thA~H AE90,000,0007T
(=15

Sino Light Investments The British Virgin Authorised capital 100 100 = Investment holding Limited liability
Limited Islands of US$500,000 of REER company

2 December 2009 US$0.001 each and BRERLH
RERZHEE issued share capital of
“ZENE US$53,920
+=A=A AEER500,000% 7 -
SREEIETR
ERTRASS920% T
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

19 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

19 R B A RINERE @)

Proportion of ownership interest

Fra Rt fl
Place and date Authorised/
of incorporation/  registered/ Group’s
establishment/ paid-in/ effective held bythe heldbya
operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company MBS/ R/ AE@EH  BHAAT B-MBHE Principal activities Legal form
AFER RewHRAS B4/ ERTER BRESR BB DNARE FEER EEFR
% %
You Xin Investments Limited  Hong Kong Authorised and issued 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability
hEREERDT 29 July 2009 share capital of REER company
BB HK$100,000 of BREALH
“EENE HK$1 each
tA=+7~AH EERERITRA
100,0007 » BRE
E1ET
Jinzhou Huachang The PRC Registered and 100 = 100 Manufacturing and trading Limited liability
Photovoltaic Technology 23 October 2006 paid-in capital of of solar cells company
Company Limited HE RMB130,000,000 HEREEAGHE) EREELT
BMEE KRB “ETRE SEHERARE
BRAR +A=+=H 130,000,0007¢
20 Interest in associates 20 REEE N FRER
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR®TT
Share of net assets ELEEFE 122,946 37,000
Amount due from an associate FE W — R Egh e 1\ BRI FRIE 133,802 -
256,748 37,000

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and El—EEEQARRIEARIER RERIRERE
recoverable on demand. = o

The following list contains the particular of the associates, which are TREFIBE QA RNFE  HRFLTATER .

unlisted corporate entities:
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20 Interest in associates (continued)

20 ABE RTINS @

Proportion of

ownership interest

held by
Place of Particulars of a subsidiary
establishment and registered and FH — R B B
Name of associate operation paid-in capital AF#EFE Principal activities
BMENTER AR RS TMREHMERFES HEEERLE FEEK
%
$3 N B TTRE S FTRER The PRC Registered and 37  Manufacturing and
ARAT (“Aoke”) 2215 paid-in capital of processing of
(=) RMB200,000,000 polycrystalline ingots/
AMEMER wafers
AR #200,000,0005T SERINT S SR
A
BEAREEORENABR AT The PRC Registered capital of 49*  Construction of a
H RMB100,000,000 photovoltaic power
and paid-in capital of plant
RMB59,200,000 EERNREL
HRERAREE
100,000,0007t &
EHERARYE
59,200,0007T

* The associate is held by Qinghai Solargiga which is a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2011.

Summary financial information on the associates:

R-ZE——F+-A=1—R0 BEEELFEN
BENRDAEEREF1%HNMBEAF

REHE QBN ERHE

Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Loss
BE aE s Wz ]
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTR AR®TR ARETRT ARETR
2011 —B——F
100 per cent 100E il 613,329 313,475 299,854 - (145)
Group’s share REEDE 270,979 148,033 122,946 - (54)
2010 —E-FF
100 per cent 10024l 100,000 - 100,000 - -
Group’s share REEDE 37,000 - 37,000 - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEAEIN - UAREESIE)

21 Inventories 21 78
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) HEFBRRARZEEERE:
comprise:
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Raw materials BEH B 235,076 232,431
Work-in-progress TR 28,401 61,577
Finished goods BR G 151,106 84,279
414,583 378,287
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an (b) BIRAZENEESBEINNOT :
expense is as follows:
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥T T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFENRAE 2,363,674 1,441,526
Write-down of inventories GFEMR 161,701 -
2,525,375 1,441,526
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

22 Trade and other receivables 22 EWE SRR EMEKRTRIE
The Group The Company
AEE ¥ /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—s——% -®-BF -T 5 —2-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT AR®TT ARBTT

Trade debtors and bills receivable FEUWE 5 RN ZiE

(note 22(a)) (KHEE22() 181,591 167,255 - -
Prepayments for raw materials FEM R FE R IE

(notes 18 and 22(b)) (KfaE18R22(b)) 53,101 151,288 - -
Deposits and other receivables &% & E i fERRIE

(note 22(c) (HiEE22(c)) 254,498 309,869 235 691
Amounts due from subsidiaries ~ FEUR T A T FRIE

(note 22(g)) (FEE22(g)) - - 750,897 802,876

489,190 628,412 751,132 803,567

All the trade and other receivables (including amounts due from TEEFTE BN E 5 RRRR H A G IE (BFE R
subsidiaries) are expected to be recovered or recognised as WEBARRE)R—FRREIRERBFX

expense within one year.

(@) Included in trade debtors and bills receivable is an amount due @ R=FE——F+=ZA=1+-—H EKREZER
from a related party of RMB400,000 (2010: RMB57,007,000) HNEEZEREEER—BRESTREARYE
as at 31 December 2011 (note 35(d)). 400,000t (=Z—ZF : AR¥57,007,000

7o) (BFEE35(d)) °

(o) Included in prepayments is prepayment made to a related b)) R=ZZE——F+=ZA=+—8 E#H
party of RMB39,609,000 (2010: RMB14,130,000) as at 31 EAREEEER—ETREFREAR
December 2011 (note 35(d)). 39609000 T (= F—FF : AR

14,130,0007T) (FfFE35(d)) °

(©) Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables is an © RZZE——F+ZA=+—-H FTEENRER
amount due from a related party of RMB3,045,000 (2010: SREMERRESERER —BBEERFX
RMB100,000) as at 31 December 2011 (note 35(d)). HARMEG,045,000T (=F—FF | AR

100,0007t ) (FfEE35(d)) °
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B RS ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

22 PR E 5 MR H b PR W R TE ()
() REEBEEHA - NHRREREEOER

22 Trade and other receivables (continued)
(d) The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable (net of

allowance for doubtful debts) based on invoice date as of the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

EERARZENIRERBEZAHANAOT ¢

The Group
AEH

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
Within 1 month —EAR 105,296 144,740
1 to 3 months —Z=@A 30,074 15,660
3 to 6 months =ZxEA 41,463 -
6 to 12 months RETZ=EA 4,758 6,855
181,591 167,255

Trade debtors are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of
billing. Further details of the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 39(a).

Impairment of trade debtors and bills receivable
Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable are recorded using an allowance account unless
the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote,
in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly (see note 1(j)(i)). During
the year ended 31 December 2010, trade debtors of the
Group totalling RMB449,000 were individually determined
to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables in 2010
related to customers that were in financial difficulties and
management assessed that all receivables are not expected
to be recovered. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful
debts of RMB449,000 were recognised as at 31 December
2010. There is no allowance for doubtful debts recognised as
at 31 December 2011.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A

EWE SRR MAEEZ AR TS0ZE0A
REH - AEBEEBR2E S HBHR
FMi5E39(a) °

W E 5 IR R EERE

FEW B 5 R R RIE R EE B DR AR AR
8k - BRIFAEBARE WE IR AT R AR
B REBRT  BEGBSEZRERKE
SRR R ZB M (REEE10)0) - BE=ZF
—ZEF+ZA=+-HLLEE XEEER
B2 EREHARE449,000EREERE
BE - R-Z2-2FEHCRERKRIAR
BIMBNENTFERE  MELETMEE
ARG T RERE - Bt ER=
Z-ZF+Z A=+ - BRRIRERE IR
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
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22 EUNE 5 AR R E A BRI o)
(0 WEAENERESHERRE

22 Trade and other receivables (continued)
() Trade debtors and bills receivable that are not

impaired
The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable b A4 Bl 2k B H AR AR E R E 5 BR X
that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be ERZERROTAOT ¢

impaired are as follows:

The Group
AEE

2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥T T
Neither past due nor impaired S EE B EA R B 134,143 145,225
Less than 1 month past due BHOR—EA 26,009 15,660
1 to 3 months past due B—Z=EA 2,755 6,370
4 to 6 months past due AN ZE <@ B 17,288 -
7 to 12 months past due mEtZE+ @A 1,396 -
47,448 22,030
181,591 167,255

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history

of default.

3 488320 4R O M oz B W SR OB B 2 5 36 SR ST B

RN E B -

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of individual customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balance are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

B HA R Wy 118 36 #R{E B9 FE W R R B AR SR [
SEFARPABTHENERNETSERR - R
BUEER HREEERLEEARE
BERBZEEBNT2ENE - EEEMRRE
BERZEAESTRAEAERE - AEELE
MZEERSEHE IR

(0 RBUMBARREARER RERERE
REE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
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23 Pledged bank deposits

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits were pledged to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group as follows:

23

SEARITERK
FEEETROCHREHAEMER = TRIM
BFHIER  BIIMT :

The Group
rEE

2011 2010

—E——fF —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR®TT

Pledged as security for bills payable KREAENEE KRR 114,022 70,047

Pledged as security for bank loans KIFERRITER KT R 15,821 -

Guarantee deposits for issuance of letters of KIFEARBERARZERER

credit 1,024 4,066
Guarantee deposits for performance on sales of IKIRIEAEIHES B2 FRIER

goods 20,815 -

151,682 74,113

The effective annual interest rate for pledged deposits with banks
was 0.45% (2010: 0.36%) as at 31 December 2011.

R-ZB——H+ZA=1+—R BEATFRITNE
HHBRFRNRB0.45E(ZF—FF 1 0.36E) °

24 Cash at bank and in hand 24 RITRFHEEAS
The Group The Company
rEH NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——5F —E-ZF —ZE——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBT T AR¥T T ARBT T
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERES 583,743 459,734 1,421 1,045
Deposits with banks with original RAZIH EBB=1EA
maturity over three months ZERITIFR (23,770) (70,000)
Cash and cash equivalents in FAEBReRERSD
the consolidated cash flow ZEERELEEY
statement 559,973 389,734
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B REFR 5 B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ek BB ERAESN - UAREFIE)

24 Cash at bank and in hand (continued) 24 RITRFERE @)
Cash at bank and in hand totalling RMB470,047,000 (2010: R-ZZE——F+ZA=+—H ROEFERS
RMB404,612,000) as at 31 December 2011 is denominated in SEHARMB470,047,000 (=B —FF . AR¥
RMB. RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of 404,612,0007T) AANR¥EGIE - \REATATEH
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by HBpEY  BEBRELESAZPEBUTINE
the PRC government. EHIFRPR o
The effective annual interest rate for deposits with banks was 2.93% R-B——F+ZA=+—0  RITEFRZERF
(2010: 1.77%) as at 31 December 2011. FZEAH2BE(ZE—ZF (1.77E) °
25 Trade and other payables 25 ENEZERRREMEMAIE
The Group The Company
rEE AAT
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF —E——F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT AR® TR ARETT

Trade payables (note 25(a)) ENEZERR
(FffzE25(a)) 103,636 175,919 - -
Bills payable (note 25(b)) FEASTZ 15 (FfEE25(0)) 252,701 124,200 - -
Other payables and accrued HAENFIER
expenses (note 25(c)) FESTRESZ (BiEE25(c)) 284,317 163,203 7,232 2,532
Amounts due to subsidiaries KB D RRE
(note 25(d)) (HiEE25(d)) - - 16,005 21,461
640,654 463,322 23,237 23,993
All of the trade and other payables (including amounts due to FEEFTE B E 5 R R E AR (B R
subsidiaries) are expected to be settled within one year. B AT ZRE) R —FRER
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B 75 S o B
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRABEBEIN

25 Trade and other payables (continued)

(@)

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as of the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

BE_T——&+_A=+—HIFE

KAR®HE)

25 FEAYE B AR EL At B A FUE

(@

o=

RBEHMEEEE BNESRARREN
BREQDATIIT ¢

The Group
*EM

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®TT
Within 1 month —{@RARA 307,386 196,188
1-3 months —Z=@A 20,554 23,708
4-6 months MmZENEA 9,999 69,220
7-12 months +tZ+=@A 1,415 1,787
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERAMER 16,983 9,216
356,337 300,119

Included in trade and bills payables are amounts due to a
related party of RMB921,000 (2010: RMB57,153,000) at 31
December 2011 (note 35(¢)).

The Group’s bills payable of RMB252,701,000 (2010:
RMB124,200,000) as at 31 December 2011 are secured
by the Group’s bank deposits of RMB114,022,000 (2010:
RMB70,047,000) (note 23).

Included in the Group’s other payables and accrued expenses
are amounts due to related parties of RMB Nil (2010:
RMB652,000) at 31 December 2011 (note 35e).

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZAR B R A

RZE——F+=-A=+—-H ENESK
MEFEEMN—BEER REARY21,000
TT(ZE—=F : AR¥57,153,0007t) (KisE
35(¢)) °

AEFR—ZE——F+ZA=+—HHER[
ZEARKED252,701,000 T (ZE—FF : A
R #124,200,0007C) » U ARE BB ITIFER
AR#114,022,000t (ZZ—ZF 1 ARY
70,047,0007c ) fE B (FIFE23) ©

AEFR=ZE——F+ZA=+—HHHEM
ERFEREFAXSEEMGBEESREA
REZR(ZZ—ZF : AR#¥652,0007t)
(FfzE35€) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

26 Interest-bearing borrowings
At 31 December 2011, the bank loans were repayable as follow:

26

ATEEE

R-B——F+=A=t+—0  HERENEDE

AHWT -
The Group The Company
AEE PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——fF —B-FF —2——fF —E2-Ef
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT AR¥TT AR®BTT
Within 1 year —FR 705,077 648,011 62,074 -
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERBMEA 73,274 - 73,274 -
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ WMEZERAFER 771,761 85,000 324,761 -
845,035 85,000 398,035 =
1,550,112 733,011 460,109 -
Bank loans were secured as MTEFZRITERR ¢

follow: _

— unsecured — fRIR IR 1,495,430 733,011 460,109
- secured —HiEH 54,682 = - =
1,550,112 733,011 460,109 —

On 27 May 2011, the Company entered into syndicated loan
agreements with certain banks whereby a term loan facility of
up to US$75,000,000 was made available to the Company for
a term of three years from the date of first drawdown of the
facility. During the year, the Company drew down fully the loan
facility with a maturity of three years due on 17 June 2014. The
related loan transaction costs amounted to RMB12,095,000.
The amount is repayable by instalments commencing on 16
December 2012. The loan is denominated in US dollars and
interest bearing. The loan is guaranteed by its subsidiaries.

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfiment
of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial position
ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements
with financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the
covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with
these covenants. As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, none
of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been
breached.

R-ZE——FRA-+tH XAAHEETF
IRITET ZSREERIHZE - Bk RKAFTE
AEHERREHZ75000000%T  BE
RENBEERRBY=F - £ KXQF
BYRMERME  BH=F R=-Z=—H
FARATLREH - BHEERRSRABA
R #12,0950007 c RIBE_-_T——F+=
B+ AR HEE - BEERUETIIE
BEtE - EEERBAATMBARER °

REBEIHRTHER —REEP BB
Ve ERZHFHEMAN S ABEAEESE
FTHBRREL R 225 - MAKEERBE
2k AFFEBREAREREE - X&H
ERERARTEETAEREL -R=F
——ERk-ZF-ZHFFT-A=1+—-H &
BRERINEE 2 RmEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

26 Interest-bearing borrowings (continued) 26 iTEREEwW
(b) The municipal government loan is repayable as follows: (b) FEEETBREFERNOT:
The Group
TEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within 1 year —F R 364 364
After 1 year but within 2 years —FZEBAMER 364 364
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBREER 1,091 1,091
After 5 years hFENE 1,128 1,276
2,947 3,095
The municipal government loan was received by the Group AEECHRNTEESHHBMERBERE
for constructing a manufacturing plant in Jinzhou, Liaoning BEmBURER - BT BUSTE R ERE
Province, the PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or MGG HAEE > BAEER - FER
contingencies relating to the municipal government loan. BER-ZE-—ZFE_Z_ZFHEIBEH
It is unsecured, interest bearing and is fully repayable by BfE o
instalments from 2010 to 2020.

(c) On 24 August 2011, the Company issued RMB300,000,000 ) M=Z——ENAZ+WMEE  KRAFETH
bonds with a maturity of three years due on 24 August —E-NENAZTHEBESN=FHAR
2014 (the “Bonds”). The related issuing costs amounted #£300,000,000t &% ([1E% 1) - BEAEIT
to RMB3,600,000. The Bonds were issued at 100% of the AN A A R#3,600,0007T © B35 A S 48%E
aggregate principal amount, are denominated in RMB and 100% %17 AARESIE @ IREFZFRLT5E
bear interest at 4.75% per annum payable semi-annually in STEREEFEE -

arrears.
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEAEIN - UAREESIE)

27 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial
position represents:

27 ZEMBIRRRAAEHR

(@) HFEMBRRZAMBNBBIARR

The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——f —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%BTR AR®T T
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax — FEERR B EFEREE
for the year 30,573 15,891
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid EAPEIEAEH (32,359) (13,676)
(1,786) 2,215
Balance of income tax provision relating to  BX FE 5B B EEeR
prior years = 28
(1,786) 2,243
Representing: K&k :
Current tax recoverable BER A I =1 #5218 (8,409) -
Current tax payable ENHARE (SR 6,623 2,243
(1,786) 2,243
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFE

27 Income tax in the consolidated statement
of financial position (continued)
(o) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
The components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

27 HGEMBRRERAWFER @)

b) BRELFHEEERERE
RESHBRRREINWELRE(EE),

in the consolidated statement of financial position and the EEMNBEERFREBMNT :
movements during the year are as follows:
The Group
piv-1. ]
Property,
Government Intangible  Inventory  plantand Undistributed
grant assets  provision  equipment profits  Tax losses Others Total
VES i
it EYEE HFERE Rt FUARAE HBEE it EH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Deferred tax arising from: RETHISENELSE
At1 January 2010 R=F-%£-A-A = - 4,876 - (4,669) 38,049 - 38,256
Charged to profit or loss (note 7(a)  WEERIB(H3t7() - - (4.876) - (16,878) (33,799) - (65,589)
At 31 December 2010 R=2-ZE+-B=1-A = = = - (21547) 4,250 - (17,297)
At 1 January 2011 R=E--£--H - - - - (21,547) 4250 - (17,207)
Through acquisition of subsidiaries U BEHIEA R (MzEa4(c)
(note 34(c)) 9,281 (67,910) - 3.117) - - (1,121) (62,917)
(Charged)/credited to profit orloss  JAE#& (H1B) /224
(note 7(a) (Hst7) (1,348) 14025 21,834 5% 4329 (4,250 1668 39,90
At 31 December 2011 W-E2——%+-A=1-A 7,883 (43,885) 24,884 (2519 (17,218) - 547 (30,308)
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
Net deferred tax assets EIERIBEEESE 17,907 4,250
Net deferred tax liabilities EEREEEFE (48,215) (21,547)
(30,308) (17,297)
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27 Income tax in the consolidated statement

of financial position (continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB10,094,000 (2010:
RMB67,039,000) and other deductible temporary differences
of RMB25,125,000 (2010: RMB870,000) attributable to its
subsidiaries, as it is not probable that these tax losses and
other deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The
tax losses of RMB2,798,000 (2010: RMB62,867,000) of
the subsidiary in Hong Kong do not expire under current
tax legislation while the tax losses of RMB7,296,000 (2010:
RMB4,172,000) of the subsidiary in the PRC will expire within
five years.

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2011, deferred tax liabilities of
RMB23,507,000 (2010: RMB Nil) have not been recognised
in respect of the tax payable upon the distribution of the
undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries as the Group
controls the dividend policy of the subsidiaries and it has
been determined that these undistributed profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

28 Deferred income

Various government grants have been received by the Group for
generating export sales, participating in a high-tech industry and
constructing various manufacturing plants in Jinzhou, Liaoning
Province, the PRC. The amount also includes government grants
received by operating subsidiaries of the Group for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the subsidiaries for general
operating use with no future related cost. No specific conditions are
attached to the grants. In addition, certain government grants have
been received by the Group to compensate for its research and
development expenses in relation to the manufacturing of mono-
crystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers.

Amounts of RMB134,633,000 (2010: RMB9,756,000) have been
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 December 2011 (note 4).

The remaining unused balances as at the end of each reporting
period are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as deferred income. There are no unfulfiled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants. As at 31 December 2011,
amounts of RMB206,131,000 (2010: RMB167,464,000) of deferred
income will be recognised in profit or loss after more than one year.

27 ZGEMBRRRAKFES @

©) BIRERELEHIBEE

7N £ B 30 f2 5k EL B A 8] A R #10,094,000
T(ZE—FF . AR%67,039,0007T) Kk
ARME25125000c(ZF—FF : ARY
870,0007T) Ky BEfL RET B FE BT 18 R H A FER
MENMHEIERIAELEHBEE  RERAZ
EREERREMERNHEREEZET KT
BEEFA - RIBRITREAN  FBHELD
A2 BBEEARKE279800T (=Z2—F
£ AR#62,867,0007T) A EER > MAE
MBS Bl 2 Bi i 518 A R % 7,296,000t (=
E—FF  AR¥4,172,0000) BREER
& °

0 HABRELEFREERE
RZB——F+ZA=+—H8 ' ®2KTP
BB ATRRS KA BEHESHREBARYE
23,507,000t (= Z—ZFF : ARBZR)N
EERIBEEEARR > DHRAEBEER
MEBATSMNKREBE  YEREZSZRDIK
FIBETEN A RRRDIK

28 EIEUWA

FAEBHREEHAKE  KESNBRTERRTE
BEARMNARSRUERERES TR ZBAH
Bh o FUATEEAEEEENE D RWE 2 BUTH
B BMEAR - REEFTRRANRBIMIEE

R o BLoh - AEERESE TBAMAAENE
SUERIGREE RERERER 2B - REME
TREERZFSMX -

HE-E——FT-A=T+T—HLFE REE5E
RREEAARME 134,633,000t (= F—FF : A
R#9,756,0007¢) (MizE4) °

REREHBEER > ABAZEREANNGREE
BARRE - FHEEZEWA  ZE BN & REK
ZHEHBHEREE R ——F+=A=+—
B EFEWRAARB206,131,000T (=B —FF :
AERHE167,464,0007T) B ZR—FERBRESP
TR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_ZT——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([ =& EEZE SN -

Other non-current liabilities
Included in other non-current liabilities is provision for product
warranty costs as follows:

KAR®HE)

29

HitbERBER
H A B A EOEERRARARE B0
T

2011 2010

—E——F —E-EF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR¥TT

At 1 January n—A—H 870 =
Provision made FrYERE 6,465 870
At 31 December Rt+t=—A=+—8 7,335 870

30

The Group’s photovoltaic modules are typically sold with a 2 or
5-year warranty for defects in materials and workmanship and a 10
and 25 years minimum power output warranty, against declines of
more than 10% and 20%, respectively, of initial power generation
capacity from the date of delivery. The Group has the right to repair
or replace solar modules, at its option, under the terms of the
warranty policy. The Group maintains warranty reserves to cover
potential liabilities that could arise under these guarantees and
warranties.

Retirement benefit schemes

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government. The
Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the
scheme at 20% of the employees’ salaries per annum to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group is required to participate in defined contribution
retirement schemes administered and operated by Bureau of Labour
Insurance of Taiwan for employees employed in Taiwan. Under
the schemes the employer is required to make contributions to
the schemes at 6% of the employees’ relevant income per annum.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZAR B R A
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RBEEAEEN  LARKETIE)

30 Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

31

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest
immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with the schemes beyond the
contributions described above.

Equity settled share-based transactions

For the purpose of providing compensation to certain senior
management and employees (the “Relevant Employees”) of the
acquisition of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp. and its
subsidiaries (“the Acquired Group”) and those who have made past
contribution to the Acquired Group (the “Other Relevant Officers”)
for their past contribution to the development of the Acquired Group
and/or as an incentive for their future performance, pursuant to the
board resolutions of STIC passed on 24 June 2007, STIC allotted
and issued an aggregate of 126,114,814 shares of HK$0.1 each for
an aggregate subscription price of HK$12,611,481 (equivalent to
RMB12,244,000) to the Relevant Employees and the Other Relevant
Officers. Relevant Employees have agreed with Messrs. Hsu You
Yuan, Tan Wenhua and Chiao Ping Hai (the “Relevant Directors”),
and the Relevant Directors have undertaken with one another, that
the Relevant Directors are entitled to buy back such shares from
the Relevant Employees at the subscription cost if the Relevant
Employees cease to be employed for reasons other than becoming
incapacitated by work-inflicted injury which would prevent them
from performing their duties, or become deceased before the end of
the relevant lock-up period (the “Return Condition”).

Out of the total allotted and issued shares of 126,114,814
shares, 116,961,911 shares are subject to the Return Condition.
Accordingly, the Acquired Group is required to recognise the value
of such shares over the subscription cost as an employee expense
on a straight-line basis over the relevant lock-up period. In respect
of those shares which are not subject to the Return Condition, the
value of such shares over the subscription cost was recognised as
an employee expense on the allotment date.

30

31

EAREREE @
AEERDRESBAFEAESHERS - BH
SERBERRAFMEENESRLBHEAE ST
B(MEEesTE)) - BB AT HEBFENRE
2 HBEUSTEASE cBESHEREEERE
EEEZBRZRESHBVRANS%E T EIE LR
LS A AER A 20,0008 T A LR - miaiEe T2
{EH M TRBNBS R ©

B EEERRSN  AEEBAR VRS EREN
BARARREHMEASEE -

UREEERBZTZRS

A [ % W B 2 Solar Technology Investment
(Cayman) Corp. R LK B AR ([#HIKEEE ])
ETeREBRAERESE([EEEE] KB
AZnRkEBESERELERE((HEEES
RBE]) DESBETUHRUWBEEEREE
HWERE SFEAEAEARBNHEBMmMIE
HER RER-ZZTLtERA-+HAS
BHRSICESERZR STICUAEREE
12,611,481 7T (1851 AR ¥ 12,244,000t ) i 3
R#TE$126,114,814RBREMEO.1BTHIRA
FEBREERAMEESABE - 5EESCHEY
HWREE BEXEXERETEAE(HEHEEE))
ERE - BEEBEESCRILARE  MEBESRS
HER(EIEEHERAEBITHRBE  IANE
BEEMTEA WA BEHESERUR
BRABEBREEBEZERND ([HEGRED -

EmMBERBFTRMOELEI1261148148K » H
116,961,911 R Z B R FTIR o Fitt - #WUEEE
BEUES IR EBERENANERROEER RS
BRAZHABEEHRS - RZETZTRBERGRY
RS @ ZEBEZRBRANRDEBED RER
AR AEESMX -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

31 Equity settled share-based transactions

(continued)

On 26 June 2007, the Company acquired the entire interest of
the Acquired Group. As shareholders of the Acquired Group, the
Relevant Employees and the Other Relevant Officers were entitled
to and did subscribe for 114,973 shares of HK$0.1 each of the
Company for an aggregate consideration of HK$12,611,000
(equivalent to RMB12,244,000). The Return Condition remains
applicable to those Relevant Employees to the effect that if the
Relevant Employees cease to be employed for reasons other than
becoming incapacitated by work-inflicted injury which would prevent
them from performing their duties or become deceased before
the end of the relevant lock-up period, the Relevant Directors are
entitled to buy back those shares which remain subject to the lock-
up period from the Relevant Employees, provided that in the event
that a Relevant Employee ceases to be employed within one year
after the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange
(“the Listing Date”), the Relevant Directors shall not be entitled to
buy back the relevant shares until the first anniversary of the Listing
Date.

Total employee expenses as a result of the allotment of the
employee shares are RMB1,940,000 (2010: RMB4,752,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2011.

(i)  The terms and conditions of the shares granted to the Relevant

Employees are as follows:

Date of grant

31 LIREGEERODXNZRE @)

REZBELERAZ+AB  AOFWBHUESE
B2 BED - FARKBERNER  FHES
REMBEESRBEERULNE12,611,000/8 7T
(FAZE R AR%12,244,0007T ) R EE114,973R TR
EEOABTHNAXTRS » MELMESERER
BRA - RERGDERANERES  HMEBES
TEZR(AIEGERERAEBTERS RN
FREEHRLANSHBRIN)  FEESEERE
BEESBEZEMAENRZESHNRS - AR
EREENRAATRMONRERM LR LT
HB-FRRLTE EREESERLTRH—AFE
AT SEEAEERD

BE—Z——F+-A=+—-HLFE BEERKE
SR E 4 KB S5 2B E R AR % 1,940,000
T(=F—FF : ARH4,752,0007T) °

() BRTEBRESHROFERRSEGOT

Number of shares

allotted and issued

Lock-up conditions

R B EERRRBETROEE EERG
24 June 2007 26,657 1 December 2008
—ERLFAA=TMA —2E\F+=A-H
24 June 2007 26,657 1 December 2009
—EEEFARAZTTA —EZhF+=A—H
24 June 2007 26,657 1 December 2010
—EELFAA-THE —F-%F%t+t=-A—H
24 June 2007 26,658 1 December 2011

—EEEFRAZTHIA

There was no change in the number of shares allotted and
issued from the date of grant to 31 December 2011.
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31 Equity settled share-based transactions
(continued)

(i)

Fair value of shares and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted
and issued is measured by reference to the fair value of
shares granted. The estimate of the fair values of the shares
granted under the STIC Employee Share Plan was measured
at the grant date using the price to earnings multiple
valuation method. The valuation is derived from applying (i)
an expected price to earnings multiple of a group of listed
companies operating in comparable businesses, adjusted for
the uniqueness of the subject being valued; and (i) the net
profit, excluding non-operating income and expenses, of the
Acquired Group with appropriate adjustments.

Fair value of shares and assumptions

Fair value at measurement date
Rt EBHNATE

Expected price to earnings multiple
ERmAR

The expected price to earnings multiple was determined with
reference to comparable listed companies, after discounting
for marketability to reflect illiquidity in nature at the grant date.

Certain shares were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There were no
market conditions associated with the share grants.

31 URELEEROXNTZ2RE @)

(i)

IR B A FERRER

HAEBERBETROMERBNAFE DL
SREHRDODFEME - RESTICE
SR FTEIFARHRD MG AFE R
K AMRATREREEETE - (h{ETIE
RNETELBEBREREEN—H LHD
AR AR (ERAHELAARSNES
BERELAR) | RiRUBEELEERE
BIEAER (T EEFERE WA R S

BHWAFERER

RMB57.50 million
A R#57,500,0007T
22.3

FRTRENEBEZAELR LT ARE
B WEERAERDNELEBHMREZ TS
MBRENEZE -

BT RO TDRBBIRARE o 2RO ALRA

AFERERL BESRENATE - KT
IR T HE R TSR
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32 Share capital 32 |7
(@ The Group @ AEE
Details of the movements in capital and reserves of the Group TEFEARBEESBNFREHANGESER
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. BE)K o
(o) The Company (o) AT
Share Share Capital Exchange Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
e ROEE ERGE EX G Rl ES) i At

Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  AREfR

Balance at 1 January 2010 RZE-ZE-A-AzEH 162,458 940,428 14,868 (10,321) (127,249 980,184
Changes in equity for 2010:  —E-EEvER%EE:

Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (8473 (8473)
Other comprehensive income Bt 2EMWA - - - (43,601) - - (43,601)

Total comprehensiveincome~— ERZEUAEE

for the year - - - (43,601) - (8473 (62,074)
Equity settled share-based NREEERAT(
payments L5 = = (14,868) - - 14,868 -

Balance at 31 December 2010 W=Z-S£+-A=t-H
and 1 January 2011 k=%--%-A-H
28 162,458 940,428 - (63,922) - (120,854) 928,110

Changes in equity for 2011:  —B—-F2ER%E

Loss for the year EEER = = = = = (12,448) (12,448)
Other comprehensive income~~ E{t2EKA - - - (66,651) - - (66,651)

Total comprehensiveincome ~— ERZEUAEE

for the year - - - (66,61) - (12,448) (79,099)
Issuance of convertible bonds BT EARR 2 TRRES

classified as equity 32d) - - - - 644,281 - 644,281
Share issued upon conversion of - AR B TRIRESERST

convertible bonds 2B 320) 36,127 608,154 - - (644,281) - -
Dividends approved in respect of 3t EEREZRE

the previous year 9b) - (78,476) - - - - (78,476)

Balance at 31 December 2011 H=%—-%
TZB=T-RekH 198,585 1,470,106 - (120,673) - (133,302) 1,414,816
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32 Share capital (continued)

(©

Authorised and issued share capital

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE

(BREEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

32 A @)
() ZEEREEITIRA

The Company
PN
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
No. of shares 000 No. of shares 000
BHEE Frx B EE Fx
Authorised: JEIE
Ordinary shares of SREE0. BT
HK$0.1 each @R 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000
500,0007& T 500,000 JT
Equivalent to HBER RMB450,000 RMB450,000
ARHE ARHE
450,0007T 450,0007T
Ordinary shares, EETR
issued and fully paid: BREER
At 1 January w—A—H 1,807,170,425 RMB162,458 1,807,170,425 RMB162,458
Shares issued upon conversion  FA 5,1 A # R {5 345 i
of convertible bonds BT 2R
(note 32(d)) (HEE32(d)) 435,000,000 36,127 - -
At 31 December WNt+—B=+—8 2,242,170,425 RMB198,585 1,807,170,425 RMB162,458

Convertible bonds

As stated in note 34, on 26 January 2011, the Group acquired
a 100% equity interest in Sino Light, satisfied by the issuance
of zero-coupon convertible bonds of the Company with a
principal amount of HK$835,200,000. The convertible bonds
were interest-free and could be converted by the bondholders
at a conversion price of HK$1.92 per ordinary share of the
Company during the conversion period from 28 March 2011
to 26 January 2013. Upon conversion in full of the convertible
bonds, an aggregate of 435,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company will be issued by the Company.

The number of shares into which the convertible bonds
could be converted was fixed at the issuance date and the
convertible bonds were interest-free and not redeemable in
cash. The convertible bonds were classified entirely as equity
of the Company and their fair value of RMB644,281,000 at the
issuance date was recognised in equity in the other reserve.

©)

FERIREREBITRG

UMM AE > R=F——F—A=+~
B AEBEBAZEXRDRARER > WiER
B (T AN D B AN £ %8835,200,00058 T 2 B8
ARRESTR - IERESEE » BESF
BEATR=-ZE——F=A=-+N\HE=Z
—=FE—-AZt+ X AzREPR - BERRE
BRAQATEBER1.2EBTHRIBZSES -
BYHBUBRRESE > RAAFERTEHR
435,000,000 A" 2 B & AR ©

SRR ES Y Rz RO BERETAHY
BE TRREZRE  BFBURTHE
B - REARRESD BRANDRER R
BT HH 2 D FEAKRK644,281,0007T Al R
HAfEE 2 S HERR o
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32 Share capital (continued)

(d)

Convertible bonds (continued)

The fair value of the convertible bonds was valued by the
directors at the issuance date with reference to a valuation
report issued by an independent professional valuer, Censere
Holdings Limited. The estimate of the fair value of the
convertible bonds was measured by applying the Binomial
Option Pricing Model, with the following key assumptions:

Spot price at issuance date
Option life

Expected volatility

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield from issuance date to commencement
date of conversion period

All of the convertible bonds were converted by the
bondholders into ordinary shares of the Company on 21 June
2011. The nominal value of these shares of RMB36,127,000
was transferred from the other reserve to share capital and
the difference between the nominal value of these shares and
the fair value of the convertible bonds, which amounted to
RMB608,154,000, was transferred from the other reserve to
share premium.

33 Reserves
The nature and purpose of reserves are set out below:

(@)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share
premium is distributable.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A

32 BA ()
d) MERIEBEEREEIRD @)

AERES 2 A FEHESRETESHSE
18 31 E # {4 {8 B Censere Holdings Limited &
HZAERERME FTETRRES 2
AATER EEA_EAHREEEER
FEBRRMOT :

RETEHZRER HK$1.81

1.8158 7T

HAREFHR 2 months

m1E A

TEHERR IR 33.44%

ERRA= 0.27%
BITHHZE LIRS

EHBZERREER 0.00%

FETERESR-_E2——F<A=1t—H
HEFBEARBRARLARAZER - ZER
PREESARY36,127,0007T © BHAFHE
ERZRA ZERVEEETERESA
FEZEZEH ARKEG08,154,0007T @ B EHAM
REERERDEE -
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33 Reserves (continued)

(b)

General reserve fund

Pursuant to articles of association of the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, these PRC subsidiaries
are required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their profits after
taxation based on their PRC statutory financial statements
to the general reserve fund until the balance of the fund is at
least half of the paid-in capital of the relevant subsidiaries.
The amounts allocated to this reserve are determined by the
respective boards of directors with reference to the minimum
requirement.

For the entities concerned, the general reserve fund can be
used to make good previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital in proportion to the equity holders’
existing equity holdings, provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of shares allotted
and issued over the subscription costs and share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments
in note 1(p)(ii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(t).

33 )

(b)

—RiEEE

RBEARDRBRPEEMR L 2B AR 248
HERERMAA - HEPENELRASEHE
EEBEBRENRZBEHAFTBHRD10%HE
BE-—RFES  HEARETHEBREDE
HEMBE AR BHRA—F - FEESEL
ZRBEERE BELIBEZREZEHE -

RAERERMNS  —REBESIRAEREEU
FFEFRWA)  TURERSEARE
NEEREPIRIBBER  HEHLRBEHTE
DREMEAREI25% o

BB
AAREARRRETFARBRESNRE
BERBAANDD URET REOBRE
SRR MY () 07 B AR A9 32 R T
SR ERTRRN AT -

BE 7 1

R EEEMARRERIEREBRE
MEL 2B E5E - AMEERNE10MEZ
BEBORERE
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33 Reserves (continued)
Other reserve
The other reserve represents:

)

U

The difference between the attributable share of
Tayaneng Investments Limited (“Tayaneng”) of the
nominal value of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
acquired over the consideration paid by Tayaneng to
obtain the equity interests in these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to a reorganisation of the Group to rationalise
the Group’s structure in preparation for the public listing
of the Company which became the holding company
of the subsidiaries on 7 May 2007, Tayaneng acquired
equity interests of 75%, 70%, 74.17% and 75% in
Yangguang, Huachang, Huari and Xinri respectively
on 9 March 2007. The difference between Tayaneng’s
attributable share of the nominal value of these
subsidiaries of RMB74,858,000 and the consideration
paid of RMB74,782,000 amounted to RMB76,000 and
was credited to other reserve account.

The difference between the net asset value of Tayaneng
and its subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
issued share capital of Tayaneng.

The other reserve is non-distributable.

Tayaneng was deregisted during the year ended 31
December 2009.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
was RMB1,336,804,000 (2010: RMB819,574,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A
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33 @)

(€

Hitbf#
HAtfEE -

() Tayaneng Investments Limited
([Tayaneng 1) RAPTUREB B 1 RIFEILE
B AR 2 E{ERB H Tayaneng L E S It S
MEARZREMRNIREZESRE -

RIEAEERBIEREDMERE > BED
AARLTEEEMETZEA(E
Al ERARATAR-_ZZLFREALA
RAMBAR ZZER DT » Tayaneng
RZZZLF=ANBWREBEEMEK
RINES - SBMNEAREMNEH A DB
75% ~ 70% ~ 7417% R 75% B #& o
Tayaneng R Lt ZE I B A B FE(EEE A
R #74,858,000 T E X BEARKE
74,782,000 T 2 =% B A R 76,000
T 0 Bt ARAhREER o

@iy  FrUeBBTayaneng® HEi B A RMNEEF
{BEETayaneng B 21T IR ANHE (B =2 48 °

Hitf# R T A 2IRE 1 -

TayanengRBZ—ZFZENLF+=A
=+ —H I FERETEMH -

fRFBH AE D IR
R=B-——%+=A=+-8 T#%
RFAAARBRANEELERAR
#£1,336,804,000 L (ZE—FF : AR¥
819,574,0007T) °
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33 Reserves (continued) 33 )
(@) Capital management (continued) 0 EB=EE@
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its TEEEREHRNNEREEERER &
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher SEEKERUETFRESKRRER » UK
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels BEEAMRAMIRMANEZRRERE /B
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a ST EEREEREEmARER
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital R o

structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a AEFUEEEBHRERAERER - 3
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing ratio s AEEREEEBLRERARE
as total borrowings to total share capital and reserves. REEREB AR AR FHE 2= -
The gearing ratio at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were as R-E——EFER-_ZFE-—ZTF+-F=+—H
follows: ZEES/BLEMNT ¢
The Group
rEE
Note 2011 2010
FEE —E——f —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR¥T T
Current liabilities: REEE:
Bank loans RITER 26 705,077 648,011
Non-current liabilities: FRBEE !
Municipal government loan TRFER 26(b) 2,947 3,095
Bank loans IRITER 26 845,035 85,000
Bonds % 26(c) 298,000 -
1,145,982 88,095
Total borrowings BE#EE 1,851,059 736,106
Share capital R 7S 198,585 162,458
Reserves f#E 2,023,460 1,444,320
2,222,045 1,606,778
Gearing ratio EEAEL=E 83.3% 45.8%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to RABREEMHE A BTGB EEFINR
externally imposed capital requirements. M2 ERRE °
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34 Business combination

(@)

On 26 January 2011, the Group acquired a 100% equity
interest in Sino Light, satisfied by the issuance of zero-
coupon convertible bonds of the Company which could be
converted into 435,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The fair value of these convertible bonds on 26 January 2011
was HK$762,104,000 (equivalent to RMB644,281,000) (see
note 32(d)). Sino Light and its subsidiaries (the “Sino Light
Group”) are engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
monocrystalline silicon solar cells. The acquisition of the Sino
Light Group allows the Group to expand into the downstream
of the solar industry.

The total turnover and net loss for the year contributed
by the Sino Light Group for the period from its date of
acquisition to 31 December 2011 were RMB929,051,000 and
RMB58,049,000, respectively.

If this business combination had occurred on 1 January 2011,
the Group’s turnover and net profit for the year would have
been approximately RMB2,827,377,000 and approximately
RMB53,241,000, respectively. These amounts have been
calculated by adopting the Group’s accounting policies,
eliminating the related intercompany transactions and
adjusting the results of the relevant subsidiaries to reflect the
additional amortisation and depreciation that would have
been charged assuming the fair value adjustment to intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and lease prepayments
have been applied from 1 January 2011, together with the
consequential tax effects.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A
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34 XBA6

(@)

RZZE——F—-A=+XH AEEEA
ERDMBRAEDS  WEBBITAQXTZ
TEMBRBREFNR  ZEBFITRES
435,000,000 B A QA A EBR - ZE A8
REFR-_ZT——F—A=-t+<BZD
FEB762,1040008 T c HERARE
644,281,0007t (FE2BMIEE32(d)) - EXRHE
MEBAR(EXEBREAGHERVE
Mz BEREEER WEEXEEAER
KEIBEXZEAGRITEZ TIHES

EXEEHANEMZAEEERFHFIEER
EWERSEE—T——F+=-A=1+—H
1EHARS 2 B B A R#929,051,000Tt B A B #
58,049,0007T °

WEBEEKEHNR=-_Z——F—HF—HE
B ARSEEHR2EEERATES
Bl & A R #2,827,377,000 T K 8 A B #
53,241,0007t ° st HE BB BERHEHEMARE
BE2EsTHR  KEATMZERERS -
WHRAEEERBLRES  URMBEREE
FEE Y% BERZBEURASENS
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34 EXKSOBtw
BBE e A EERNBAR S EER

34 Business combination (continued)
(c) The acquisition of the Sino Light Group had the following effect ©

on the Group’s assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition: EBEBRUATHE
Carrying Fair value
amount adjustment Fair value
IREE AFERE AFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®BT T AR®TT
Property, plant and equipment ~ #J% - BER B & 324,602 (10,061) 314,541
Intangible assets BEEE - 254,869 254,869
Lease prepayments HEENTE 18,352 81588 21,885
Inventories FE 24,684 9,469 34,153
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 BRI H fth FEUS R 18 195,880 = 195,880
Cash and cash equivalents RERBELZEY 33,670 - 33,670
Trade and other payables S E 5 IR R H A FRIE (132,531) = (132,531)
Current tax payable B HAPE {518 (1,418) = (1,418)
Long-term bank loans RHIRITER (190,000) - (190,000)
Deferred tax assets/(liabiltties) ELBEEE (BE) 3,902 (56,819) (52,917)
Deferred income IEFEU A (42,088) - (42,088)
Net assets acquired B AEEFE 235,053 200,991 436,044
Goodwill arising from acquisition  UREEEL 2 & 208,237
Total consideration satisfied by — #EBE{TARRES X+
issuance of convertible bonds Z BB (FIFES2(d))
(note 32(d)) 644,281
Net cash inflow in respect of the #HRUKEHB AR ZRE
acquisition of subsidiaries RAEEE 33,670

The balances of the trade and other receivables were considered
fully recoverable at the date of acquisition.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the benefit of skills and
technical talent of the acquired business’s work force and the
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the entities into
the Group’s existing businesses. None of the goodwill recognised is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

FEU B 5 AR AR EL At B WURRIR 12 AR BR IR A T AR
SRS CE

BEIERAMBAXRLEBAF 2RERRTES

UREHASERRAEEREXBRSHAT2H
EM@mMZE - rEREERNTTHRAER
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(BRABEBEIN

35 Related party transactions
During the year ended 31 December 2011, transactions with the
following parties are considered to be related party transactions:

Name of party sT4 5 258

HE-_Z——F+_A=1+—HILEE

KAR®IE)

35 BEIRS
BE-Z——F+-A=t—ALEE |BTHA
TR R BEES RS

Relationship F8{%

Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited
(“Jinzhou Changhua”) (note ii)
RN SR E S RAR DR (T8RS 2 1) (FifzEi)

Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX”)
ERBHEROBRAR(E&RHL D)

Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited
(“dinzhou Huarong”)
BINERYFEEEER AR (TERMER D)

Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Company Limited
(*Huachang Guangfu”) (note i)
$RMNEE B ARBHR AR AR ([ZEE KR D) (HiEE)

Wafer Works (Shanghai) Corp. (“WWXS”)
EBEREMBERAR(&&EME )

Jinzhou Jingxin Semi-conductor Material Co., Ltd.
(“dinzhou Jingxin”)
BN EFEEARARA R (T8RMNRE D)

Jinzhou Huanchang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Huachang Real Estate”)
HMNEERHERRERAA(EERLE ]

You Hua Investment Corporation (“YHIC”)
REREARAR(HERE D

Prosperity Lamps & Components Limited (“Prosperity”)
HEEXBMBERAR(HE D

Note:

(i) Huachang Guangfu, being a subsidiary of Sino Light, became a wholly (0}
owned subsidiary of the Group since 26 January 2011 as disclosed
in note 34. As such, the related party transactions in current year with
Huachang Guangfu disclosed below relate to the period from 1 January

2011 to 25 January 2011.

Controlled by Chong Kin Ngai, a non-executive director of the
Company

ERABFIITESHERIZH

Equity shareholder of the Company
AT ZERRR

Controlled by Tan Wenhua, an executive director of the
Company

SARRNEPITESELEEG

Controlled by Tan Wenhua
SR EES

Subsidiary of WWX
ERMRZHE LR

Controlled by a close family member of Tan Wenhua

BN E 2 —RITRIES

Controlled by Tan Wenhua
SRS

Controlled by Tan Wenhua
SZECEES|

Controlled by Chong Kin Ngai
FIEER S

B¥EE -

AU ESAFTINE - ZDBDREXZHMBEAR
B=E——F-A-t R EERATEEAZENE
DA o B TXAIRBRAFEEAEEET 2B
BARGE-E-——F-A-HE-F——5—-A
—thHAHEER -

(i

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited &%

Jinzhou Changhua ceased to be related party of the Group from 1
December 2011 after Chong Kin Ngai resigned as a director. As such,
the related party transactions in current year with Jinzhou Changhua
disclosed below relate to the period from 1 January 2011 to 30
November 2011.

BERIZRERAT

(i) HBMEFB-ZT——F+-A-AEREBREE

ESRRIEEATEECHEER - Bt - TR
BAFEAFERAEEETCBEIRZE-S
——f-A-RAE-E——Ft+t-A=1THHHBE
R o
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B G FR 5 B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ek BB ERAESN - UAREFIE)

35 Related party transactions (continued) 35 BBEARS @)

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and the AEEE EAEEFRNFRAETEERS 2B

above related parties during the year are as follows: M

(@) Key management personnel remuneration @ FEEEASHMH
Key management personnel receive compensation in the form FTEEEABUFS  FERHEMER B
of salaries, housing and other allowances, benefits in kind, AE - BIBTEALR RN RN E XK
discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions. BifE - TEEBAESHFMFBERHTE IR
Details of key management personnel remuneration are 1210 - HNABEBAIEIAAR]  #FER
disclosed in notes 11 and 12. Total remuneration is included in MzE6(0)IHE °

“staff costs” as disclosed in note 6(b).

(b) Recurring transactions (b) BEMERZ
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—F——F —F-2F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Sales of goods to: HEEm

— Jinzhou Huarong — R LR 325 211
- Jinzhou Changhua —RMEE 146 105
— Huachang Guangfu —FEE MR - 419,000
- WWX - &R = 520
- WWXS —amEME - 430
471 420,266
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IR S B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

35 Related party transactions (continued) 35 BAEARS @)
(b) Recurring transactions (continued) (b)) REMRS#E)
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥T T
Purchases of goods from: BRI FBESR :
- Jinzhou Changhua —RMEE 55,133 34,737
— Huachang Guangfu — 2R 54,397 47,602
- WWX -G @mRHE 18,665 84,430
Processing services received from AR MR BRI TR
Jinzhou Jingxin 2,545 2,653
Provision of electricity and water by IBNZELIRMKE
Jinzhou Huarong 2,031 1,459
Rental expense paid to Huachang Guangfu %14 F2EE N RZHEELEX - 574
132,771 171,455
Pursuant to the tenancy agreement entered into between REZEXREREBR _Z-—ZFITILZ
Huachang Guangfu and the Group in 2010, Huachang HEWHR  EEXRBRTFAEEER > R=
Guangfu granted the Group a right to use a portion of its land Z-ZEFREA-HABE-_Z_FTHFWA=+
with no charge for the period from 1 May 2010 to 30 April HiEHEREERER D L o
2020.
(¢) Non-recurring transaction ) ILEURS
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Consideration paid for the acquisition of BRI 2R E
Sino Light (note 34): (HM¥zE34) -
- YHIC —thERE 207,041 -
— Prosperity —1hE 49,628 =
Compensation income from WWX & BB B ERA 5,611 -
262,280 -

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A
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B G FR 5 B EE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ek BB ERAESN - UAREFIE)

35 Related party transactions (continued)

35 BEIRS @)

(d) Amounts due from related parties (d) FEUREAEFRSFKIE
The Group
AREH
2011 2010
—e——% 5%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Trade g5
- WWX — A RERHE 79,218 14,130
- Huachang Real Estate —EEREME 3,045 -
~ WWXS —&amiEME 400 100
- Huachang Guangfu —ZEERNK - 57,007
82,663 71,237

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-

BREEFREREER  REREHIR-FR

free and are expected to be recovered or recognised as EIER =1
expense within one year.
() Amounts due to related parties (e) FERIERFIE
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR®T T
Trade =¢
— Jinzhou Jingxin — RN 921 326
— Huachang Guangfu —EBNNR - 46,960
- Jinzhou Changhua —BMNEEE - 10,143
- Jinzhou Huarong — $RMEER - 376
921 57,805

The amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and expected to be settled within one year.

FABESRERREN  RERAHTR
—EPYE -
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B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([ =& sEEZE ) -

36 Capital commitments

Capital commitments that relate to purchase of property, plant and
equipment outstanding at 31 December 2011 not provided for in the
financial statements are as follows:

KAR®IE)

36 EAEIE

ERBEEVE BERRER=-Z——F+=A8
=t+—BMREEAGREFBRERNREZER
AWENT -

The Group
REE

2011 2010
—EB——F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Authorised and contracted for EREIEFTY 129,018 256,972
Authorised but not contracted for EREERTH 46,692 141,235

37

Operating lease commitments
At 31 December 2011, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

37

REHERIE

REZB——F+-A=1—0 BREFTTHHEZE
EHE  ARAEEEMzRERENREARED
T

The Group
TEE

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Within 1 year —FR 2,127 2,013
After 1 year but within 5 years —FZERFR 2,441 3,507
After 5 years HF% 1,704 1,818
6,272 7,338

The Group is the lessee in respect to a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period
of two to twenty years, with an option to renew each lease upon
expiry when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases include
contingent rentals.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A

REEDZERBELHEIFWENEBEA © &
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For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

38

39

HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RBEEAEEN  LARKETIE)

Contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

At 31 December 2011, the Company has undertaken to
guarantee a banking facility granted to a subsidiary to the extent of
US$10,000,000 or RMB63,009,000 (2010: RMB Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider
it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under
the guarantee. The maximum liability of the Company at the end of
the reporting period under the guarantee issued is the outstanding
amount of the loan advanced by the bank to the subsidiary of
US$10,000,000 or RMB63,009,000 (2010: RMB Nil).

Financial risk management and fair values
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@ Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at
banks, trade debtors and prepayments made to suppliers.
Cash at banks are placed with financial institutions that have
sound credit ratings and the Group considers the credit risk to
be insignificant.

In respect of trade debtors and prepayments made to
suppliers, individual credit evaluations are performed on
customers/suppliers on a case-by-case basis. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay as well as the
supplier’s past history of supplying raw materials and take into
account information specific to the customer/supplier as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer/
supplier operates. Trade debtors are normally due within 30 to
90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers and suppliers.

38

39

HAREE

B8 H 2 BT IER
R-ZZE——F+-A=+—H KTAFDEIE
—EBERF-EHBARZRITME ZER - N
10,000,000 7T 5, A B #63,009,000 7T &R (=
—ZF  AR¥ZRN) °

RBEEHEEEH  ESRARRBUERT A
EHREE - AR A RBEHNBEE AR ELER
ZEERZARTRETHEADNER ZAEES
#H10,000,0003% jT 3k A R 563,009,000 7T (=& —
2 AR¥ZER) °

PMBEREERATE

FEBFABOEE RBES - AEREWEAR
RAREE AR LR o AEBMAERHREZZ
ZRARRMBERTRAZ ERBEREHNT o

(@) FEER
FEBNEERABREIERARTREURE
NFHERZEREZRARANTE © R
TREFHNAEEZREEFERRAR
RIFEEFROSHMAE -

AN THEBZEWRESRAREAFRK
H o AEMERERERMERTEES 4
EENEERR - ZEFEETREFBE
ZEHINREERBERARED - URMHE
BBREIRUEMHzRE  YEEREF
HERBEZRFERRER MEREE
2 BRARKERE - BIWE ZRANIREH
HIBS0Z0HNEIH - — M= * AKET
THEEFRAHAEEKEERR
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B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& BAEERESN - UARKEFIE)

39 Financial risk management and fair values 39 BIBEMREERAFE@

(continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer and supplier. The
default risk of the industry and country in which customers/
suppliers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to a
lesser extent. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
a certain concentration of credit risk as 3% and 12% (2010: 7%
and 16%) of the total trade and other receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the supplier with the largest
prepayment balance, respectively, and 10% and 40% (2010:
18% and 45%) was due from the five largest customers and
suppliers with five largest prepayment balances, respectively,
of the Group.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date
the Group and the Company can be required to pay.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited Bz Y BETRIZIR B R A

(@)

EERE R (@)
AEEZEERRIESRERREET 2
BRABEHE - FF MEFLEZITER
FEBRRZXZERTEHEERRE —E¥
2 BRERE HRHEHEEER K&
EEETRESEBHETHWER  HAMRE
WE SRR R EMERRERENSRIHE3%
R12% (ZF—FF : 7% K16%) KEAAXE
ERAEFRHEER (HEMBNMREZKR
EA)VHERF » B10%R40%(ZF—FF :
18% K 45%) AIRBAEE R AT P RIUHED
(FEEFBNRBBZRRIBD)WRER

FEBTERREMEMEMER  BSEEEH
EREEERRE -

RBEEE R
FEBNERREMERENNRABRDE
ENFER - URRHEEZRRSMEBRD
BEXERBBIET RREEEHEE - LUE
NHREBORBHEEER -

TREJNAEERA QAU BEERHREHN
BEERAZBTANFR - FRUBEET
UARITRENRERE (BERESHOFER
(MABFR)REBEREHEEE B EA AR
H2AENR) URAEER A DR ABERR
FHHBERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—T——F+—-HA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B2 AERZEIN - UARESIE)

39 Financial risk management and fair values 39 BI#EBREER AP E@

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b)) "BESERE@)
The Group rEH
201 010
e ==
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outfow
FURSHRER AERRARLR
Carmying Morethan  More than Camying Moethan — Morethen
amount at Within ~ 1yearbut  2yearshut amount at Wihin +— 1yearbut  2yearsbut
31 December fyearor  lessthan  lessthan 31 December Tyeror  lessthan  lessthan
WzR on demand 2years Syears  More than Rt=R on demand 2years Syears  Morethan

= Totdl  -Egy  @E-F  EERE  Syeas A2 Tod  -ERg  BB-E BERE 5years
2EAE BE OBEENE  RONRE  BOREE  BEEE R B BEENE  ROWRE  BOMEE  RERE
RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000 RWBOO0  RWBOO0  RWMBOO0  RWMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB'000
ARETT  ARMTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ABRTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTT  ARETR

Bank loans - current §ER-08 05077 (150361)  (750,361) - - - 648011 (660.01)  (660.01) - - -
Muricpa govemmentloan AR 241 (36%) (w47 w9 0B 50 3065 (14 (150 % (%0
Bank loans -non-cument /7 E3- £ 845035 (1002833  (50319)  (32981)  (622,926) - 8000 (115569 (6,369) (6365 (102,839 -
Bonds 2 8000 (566 (14250 (14250 (307,060 - - - - - - -
Tradeand other payables ~ ERESERR

AbEMTE 640654 (640654  (640,654) - - - 463322 (4g4Ton  (4p4on) - - -

20073 (7R3 (146030 (A 01249 (540 L1948 (2462 (4379 B8 (041 (%D

The Company EAT
201 2010
cE--f CE-EF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outfow
FERRRRLR FEREARER
Carrying Morethan  More than Camying Moethan  Morethan
amount at Within ~ 1yearbut  2years but amount at Wihn — fyerbut  2yearsbut
31 December fyearor  lessthan  lessthan 31 December Tyeror  lessthan  lessthan
=R on demand 2years Syears  More than Rt=R on demand 2years Syears  Morethan

Zt-A Totd  -Emd  BE-E BERE  Syears =1-H Tod  -EAE  EB-F RERE Syears
2EAE BE  BEENE  RORRE  EORNEE  BEEE P i B  PEBAE  PJNRE  BOWEE  RERE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'0O0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETr  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  AR%TR

Other payables and accrued  ERFE(EUER

£XDENSES &R 16,005 (16,008 (16,005 - - - 25% 253 (253 - - -
Amounts due to subsidiaries  EATKEBATNE 1232 (1.23) (1.23) - - - 21,461 (21.461) (21.461) - - -
Bankloans HER 460,109 (500,948) (62,164)  (262,012) (136,752 - - - - - - -
Bonds % 28000  (3d5,566)  (14250)  (14250) (307,066 - - - - - - -
81346 (B30751)  (H9671) (206200  (43819) - 2,99 23993 (23999 - - -

Annual Report 2011 3§




Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER E MIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE_-_Z——F+-A=+—HILFEE
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39 Financial risk management and fair values 39 BEMEER AV E@

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (€ FIZEk
Except for bank deposits with stable interest rates, the Group BRBEFZEZBITFRIN  AEEW EE A
has no other significant interest bearing assets. Accordingly, BEAGREE At *EBZHWREREKE
the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially REREARLTZMENRESBHTE - F
independent of changes in market interest rates. Details of BRITIF R ER R R 2 F BRI W23 KR 247
the effective interest rates for bank deposits are disclosed in W  AEEZFZABRTERAEE - F
notes 23 and 24. The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly BEREEEEFAEES HIALEESRAER
from borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates at fixed R R A FEFZERRE o AEBEIWESHLT
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair BT A HEFIERER o

value interest rate risk, respectively. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

() Interest rate profile 0 FEHR
The following table details the interest rate profile of T%%EUZ{SEEM&%%%%EH{%E
the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the reporting FRERARIZABR ©
period.
2011 2010
—=2——fF —E-ZF
Effective Effective
interest rate RMB’000 interest rate RMB’000
BRFI= AR¥T T L SIES ARET T
% %
Variable rate borrowings ¥ 8%
Bank loans — current IRITER — BIHER 5.49 605,077 1.98-6.12 578,011
Bank loans — non-current  $R{T& =k — JERNEA 2.92 398,035 = =
1,003,112 578,011
Fixed rate borrowings EEEE
Municipal government HBRFER
loans 2.55 2,947 2.55 3,095
Bank loans - current SRATE RN — BNHA 6.55 100,000 5.40 70,000
Bank loans — non-current  $R{T& X — IEENHR 8.41 447,000 7.49 85,000
Bonds &% 4.75 298,000
847,947 158,095
Total borrowings fEEBHRE 1,851,059 736,106
Fixed rate borrowings as ~ EEEEEEE
a percentage of total BENBEDL
borrowings 45.8% 21.5%
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HE_T——F+_A=+—HIEFE
(RBEEAEEN  LARKETIE)

39 Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(©

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s profit after taxation
and retained earnings by approximately RMB11,047,000
(2010: RMB4,483,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after taxation (and retained
earnings) that would have arisen assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at
that date. The analysis has been performed on the same
basis for 2010.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, bank loans and cash and bank deposits that
are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily the United States Dollar, Euros and the Hong Kong
Dollar. The directors do not expect any significant impact
from movements in exchange rates since the Group uses
the foreign currencies collected from customers to settle the
amounts due to suppliers. In addition, the directors ensure that
the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling the United States Dollar and Euros at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

39 BEREERAFE@

(©

=R B ()

(i)  BURESH
R=ZE——F+=-A=+—8 H5E
BARER THRI00EEEL - ME
Hih#REFFTE  REBAKRH
ZRERRERAEE TR EAHA
K#11,047,000t (ZE—ZF : AR
"4 483,0007T) °

BLE SR E A AT B RRF R R BAR
SRS A - I IE RIS B
RE XSS T B FRENFIER
B REERBUERIE(RREBEF)
ZEBSEH - —F—TENH A
R BT -

SN R\ B

REBAZWINERE - EERE LAINE (B
B 5z ERERE R UG THE
ZEERRE RTERURRERRTHF
RoEENSRABCERIERXT BT
KRBT BBV T HEHEXEBHEHAEE
EREMEARLE  BRAFEEEABEF
W m s s E R S YRR o WO - BEE
EFENTHEZZNPEREARELET
KRB TERE R AE - AT ERERR
AJEEZIKF e
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEEAEIN - UAREESIE)

39 Financial risk management and fair values 39 BiI#EREBEER AP E@)

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d)  HINE B ()
()  Exposure to currency risk ) MEREEE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TREVNAREERRE AREEE BHRE
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from KISMNERRR - JNE RBEE AR ERE I
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency BEEBLINERTHEZERREERE
other than the functional currency of the entity to which BEmELE -
they relate.

The Group Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)

FEESERR (UARWIE)

2011 2010
S —§-%%
United States Hong Kong United States Hong Kong
Dollars Euros Dollars Dollars Euros Dollars
E B BT ES B B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTT

Trade and other receivables KRB ERAR

HivEWE 6,831 17,352 - 62,069 21,714 -

Cash at bank and in hand RORFERS 111,510 16,323 2,622 43,008 - 2,465

Bank loans RITER (731,491) - - (340,884) (23,131) -
Trade and other payables R EREESR

HitENTE (524) (9,032) - (17,526) (46,685) -

(613,674) 24,643 2,622 (253,339) (42,102 2,465
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(REEEBEIN - UARKTIE)

39 Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

39 BEREERAFE@

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d)  ZNE B ()
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BERESH

The following table indicates the instantaneous change TRETAEERREEARIEERR
in the Group’s profit/loss after taxation and retained BREERTEHRNSEEE ML
earnings in response to reasonably possible changes SERBENE FERREREAHR

in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has HIBNRG 2 F) o

significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.
The Group
P-4
2011 2010
“2-—-% ZE-ZF

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in Effect Effect  (decrease)in Effect Effect
foreign on profit on retained foreign on profit on retained
exchange rates for the year earnings  exchange rates for the year £amings
ExLft/ HER HRE EZtH/ HER HiRE
(T%) fEzye Brlzg () Gilhi - BRlz¥E
% RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARET T ARET T
Hong Kong Dollars BT 10 262 262 10 246 246
(10) (262) (262) (10 (246) (046)
Euros B 10 2218 2218 10 (3736) (3736)
(10) (2,218) 2,218) (10) 3736 3736
United States Dollars £57 10 (61,462) (61,462) 10 (26,447) (26,447)
(10) 61,462 61,462 (10) 26,447 26,447

Result of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit after taxation and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rate ruling at
the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period, including inter-company payables
and receivables within the Group which are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis for 2010.
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Financial risk management and fair values

(continued)

(e) Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2010 and
2011.

()  Estimation of fair values
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash
flows, discounted at current market interest rates for similar
financial instruments.

Significant accounting estimates and
judgements

The methods, estimates and judgements the directors used in
applying the Group’s accounting policies have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial position and operating results. Some of
the accounting policies require the Group to apply estimates and
judgements on matters that are inherently uncertain. The critical
accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
are described below.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each asset, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group
reviews annually the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any. Both the period and methods of depreciation are
reviewed annually. The depreciation expense for future periods
is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

(b) Impairments of assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of assets at the
end of each reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. When an indication of
impairment is identified, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value
in use, management prepares discounted future cash flows
to assess the differences between the carrying amount and
value in use and provides for impairment losses. Any change
in the assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment losses and
affect the Group’s profit or loss and net asset value.
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40 Significant accounting estimates and
judgements (continued)

(b)

Impairments of assets (continued)
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually even if there
is no indication of impairment.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are assessed
and provided based on the directors’ regular review of ageing
analysis and evaluation of collectability. A considerable level of
judgement is exercised by the directors when assessing the
credit worthiness and past collection history of each individual
customer. An increase or decrease in the above impairment
loss would affect profit or loss in future years.

Impairment of advances to suppliers and provision
for onerous contracts

The Group makes non-cancellable advance payments to
raw material suppliers under purchase agreements which
are to be offset against future purchases. In the event when
the economic benefits expected to be received under these
purchase agreements are less than the unavoidable costs of
meeting the contractual obligations; or the financial condition
of these suppliers deteriorate, the Group will consider whether
the advance payments to these suppliers are impaired and
make necessary provision for the present obligation under the
agreements. The Group does not require collateral or other
security against its advances to suppliers. The Group performs
ongoing evaluations of impairment of advances to suppliers
and provisions for commitments that may become onerous
due to a change of market conditions and the financial
condition of its suppliers. The evaluation takes into account
the projected revenue, related expenses, capital spending and
other costs. When the advance is not likely to be settled as
expected, the Group will make necessary provisions for the
present obligation under the agreements.
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40 Significant accounting estimates and
judgements (continued)

(©)

Impairment of advances to suppliers and provision
for onerous contracts (continued)

In addition, as at 31 December 2011, the Group has entered
into certain long-term supply contracts (“Supply Contracts”)
with raw material suppliers that are at fixed determined prices.
As a result of a decrease in raw material prices during the year
ended 31 December 2011, the current market price of the
raw materials is lower than the contract prices as set out in
the Supply Contracts. The Group had undertaken discussions
with these suppliers during the year and they have agreed to
offer discounts to the Group so that the unit price of the raw
materials purchased by the Group is in line with the market
price. Based on the latest information, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that it is highly probable that
these suppliers will continue providing discounts to the Group
in order to maintain the actual purchase price of the raw
materials in line with market prices. However, if these suppliers
do not offer discounts to the Group during the remaining future
contracted period and the contract price is in excess of future
market prices, provisions for these Supply Contracts may be
required and this would affect profit or loss in future years.

Valuation of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in technique and
competitor actions in response to adverse industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period.
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40 Significant accounting estimates and
judgements (continued)

)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are transactions during the ordinary
course of business, for which calculation of the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences would affect profit or loss in future years.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses and deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Estimation of future taxable profits involves
judgements made by management. Any increase or decrease
in the recognition of deferred tax assets would affect the
Group’s profit or loss in future years.

Provision for warranty costs

The Group provides warranties for its photovoltaic modules
for up to 25 years after sales have taken place. Due to limited
warranty claims history, the Group estimates warranty costs
based on the Group’s historical cost data, industry data and
an assessment of the Group’s competitors’ history of warranty
claims. The warranty obligation of the Group will be affected
not only by the product failure rates, but also by costs incurred
to repair or replace failed products. If the actual product failure
rates and cost of replacement or repairing of failed products
differ from the estimates, the Group will need to prospectively
revise the provision for warranty costs which would affect profit
or loss in future years.
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41 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and five new standards which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of financial assets

BBVBRELENETS  2HTE - HE - EELHEEZEITR

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes — Deferred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets

BBETHERE125R  frEH —BEHE | WEINEEEE 2 18RI

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements —
Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

BRGTTERE 1R HBEHEXZS - 25 EMEENAZEL
ZAERT A

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

BERMEHREEREI09 AL BEHE

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements

ERUBEREENE 115 REALH

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

ERUKREENE129  HEREMER B

HKFRS 18, Fair value measurement

ERYBEREERE18S 0 A FEHE

HKAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011)

BRGTHERIET  BUHKHEE (ZF——F)

HKAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures

BBGTHERF8 RERBELGRSELFE

Revised HKAS 19, Employee benefits

ST B BETTHERIE19%, » ESEF

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

BRMBMELEAENS  HTA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.
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